Investigation of the relationship between genetic and environmental risk factors associated with obesity and insulin resistance in South African patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD)

By

## **JAKOBUS PRETORIUS**

Thesis presented in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Medical Science

(MMedSc Pathology) at Stellenbosch University South Africa

Supervisor: Prof Maritha J Kotze Co-Supervisor: Dr Mariza Hoffmann

Division of Chemical Pathology Department Pathology Faculty of Health Sciences

October 2012

#### Declaration

I, the undersigned, hereby declare that the work contained in this thesis is my own original work and that I have not previously in its entirety or in part submitted it at any university for a degree.

Signature: .....

Date: .....

Copyright © 2012 Stellenbosch University

All rights reserved

#### SUMMARY

Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is the most prevalent chronic liver disease in the world. The disease spectrum of NAFLD extends from steatosis (types 1,2) to non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) with inflammation (types 3,4). The aims of the study were 1) to analytically validate high-throughput real time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) assays for three selected single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 (-308 G>A) and PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G), and 2) to perform genotype-phenotype association studies in relation to biochemical abnormalities, disease severity and age of onset.

A total of 119 patients with fatty liver identified on ultrasound, including 88 histologically confirmed NAFLD patients, and 166 control individuals were genotyped for the three selected SNPs. RT-PCR validated against direct sequencing as the gold standard was used for detection of genetic variation. All three SNPs were in Hardy Weinberg equilibrium in the study population, except for a deviation in genotype distribution detected for PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 in the NAFLD patient subgroup (p<0.001). After adjustment for age and gender, the risk-associated FTO rs9939609 A-allele was detected at a significantly higher frequency in the Caucasian compared with Coloured patients (p=0.005). The opposite was detected for the risk-associated TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 A-allele, which occurred at a significantly higher frequency in the Coloured compared with Caucasian NAFLD patients (p=0.034).

The onset of fatty liver disease symptoms was on average 5 years younger in the presence of each risk-associated TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 A-allele (p=0.028). When considered in the context of an inferred genotype risk score ranging from 0-6, disease onset occurred on average 3 years earlier (p=0.008) in the presence of each risk-associated FTO A-allele, TNF- $\alpha$  A-allele or PPAR $\gamma$  C-allele. After adjustment for age, gender and race, no differences in genotype distribution or allele frequencies were observed between histologically confirmed NAFLD (types 1,2) and NASH (types 3,4) patients, while the minor allele frequency for the TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 was significantly higher in the total NAFLD (types 1-4) (p=0.047) as well as NASH subgroup (NAFLD types 3,4) (p=0.030) compared with obese patients without a histologically confirmed NAFLD diagnosis. A significant correlation was furthermore observed between the number of TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 A-alleles and increasing CRP levels (p=0.029), with a favourable

reduced effect in the presence of low- to moderate alcohol intake. The average waist circumference of physically active NAFLD patients was 12% lower than in physically inactive patients (p=0.004).

In view of the results presented in this study, the inclusion of the selected SNPs, and in particular the pro-inflammatory TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 polymorphism, may be considered as part of a comprehensive cardiovascular risk evaluation of NAFLD patients. Ultimately, early detection of patients with fatty liver disease symptoms and effective intervention based on the underlying disease mechanism may prevent progression from NAFLD to NASH, shown to be an independent risk factor for cardiovascular diseases.

#### Opsomming

Nie-alkoholiese lewervervetting (NALV) is die mees algemene kroniese lewersiekte in die wêreld. Die siektespektrum van NALV strek van steatose (vervette lewer tipes 1,2) tot steatohepatitis met inflammasie (NASH tipes 3,4). Die doel van die studie was 1) om analities die hoë omset polimerase kettingreaksie (RT-PKR) metode te valideer vir die geselekteerde enkel nukleotied polimorfismes (ENPs) FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 (-308 G>A) en PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G), en 2) om genotipe-fenotipe assosiasie studies uit te voer ten opsigte van relevante biochemiese abnormaliteite, graad van die siekte en aanvangsouderdom.

'n Totaal van 119 pasiënte met vervette lewers is geïdentifiseer met behulp van ultraklank, insluited 88 histologies-bevestigde NALV pasiënte, en 166 kontrole individue. Hierdie pasiënte is gegenotipeer vir die 3 geselekteerde ENP's. RT-PKR gevalideer met direkte DNA volgorde bepaling as die goue standaard, is gebruik vir opsporing van genetiese variasie. Al die ENP's was in Hardy Weinberg ekwilibrium in die studie populasie, behalwe vir 'n afwyking in genotipe verspreiding waargeneem vir PPAR $\gamma$  in die NALV subgroep (p<0.001). Nadat aanpassings gemaak is vir ouderdom en geslag, is die risiko-geassosieerde FTO rs9939609 A-alleel waargeneem teen 'n betekenisvol hoër frekwensie in die Kaukasiese pasiënte in vergelyking met Kleurling pasiënte (p=0.005). Die teenoorgestelde is waargeneem vir die risiko-geassosieerde TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 A-alleel wat voorgekom het teen 'n betekenisvol hoër frekwensie in die Kleurling met Kleurling NALV pasiënte, in vergelyking met Kaukasiese NALV pasiënte (p=0.034).

Die aanvang van NALV was gemiddeld 5 jaar vroeër in die teenwoordigheid van elke risiko-geassosieerde TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 A-alleel (p=0.028). Met inagneming van 'n genotipe risiko telling tussen 0–6, het aanvang van siekte gemiddeld 3 jaar vroeër voorgekom (p=0.008) in die teenwoordigheid van elke toenemende risiko-geassosieerde FTO A-alleel, TNF- $\alpha$  A-alleel en PPAR $\gamma$  C-alleel. Nadat aanpassings gemaak is vir ouderdom, geslag en ras, is geen verskille waargeneem in genotipe verspreiding of alleel frekwensies tussen histologies bevestigde NALV (tipes 1,2) en NASH (tipes 3,4) pasiënte nie, terwyl die minor alleel telling vir die TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 betekenisvol hoër was in die totale NALV (tipes 1–4) (p=0.047) asook die NASH subgroep (NALV tipes 3,4) (p=0.03) in vergelyking met vetsugtige pasiënte sonder 'n histologies bevestigde diagnose. 'n Statisties beteknisvolle korrelasie is verder waargeneem tussen die aantal

TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 A-allele en toenemende CRP vlakke (p=0.029), met n gunstige verlaagde effek in die teenwoordigheid van lae alcohol gebruik. Die gemiddelde middellyf-omtrek van fisies aktiewe NALV pasiënte was 12% minder as fisies onaktiewe pasiente (p=0.004).

Na aanleiding van die resultate van hierdie studie behoort insluiting van geselekteerde ENP's, en in besonder die pro-inflammatoriese TNF-α rs1800629 polimorfisme, as deel van 'n omvattende kardiovaskulere risiko evaluasie oorweeg te word. Aan die einde van die dag mag vroeë identifikasie van NALV pasiente en effektieve intervensie gebasseer op die onderliggende siekte meganisme, vordering tot NASH verhoed wat getoon is om 'n onafhanklike risiko faktor vir kardiovaskulêre siekte te wees.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank and express my deepest gratitude and appreciation to the following institutions and individuals.

The non-alcoholic fatty liver disease patients and the control individuals for their participation in this project.

The University of Stellenbosch and the Department of Pathology for providing both the opportunity and infrastructure needed to complete the study. My supervisors, Prof Maritha J Kotze and Dr Mariza Hoffmann, for giving me the opportunity to be part of a research study, their continuous support during my study, enthusiasm for this project and the funding necessary to fulfil the study requirements.

Dr Corne Kruger for laying the groundwork for this project with his PhD study completed in 2008. Mrs Caroline Daniels for her contribution to the management of the NAFLD patient database.

I would also wish to thank Ms Johanna Grobbelaar for access to the Pathology Research Facility, Dr Yandi Yako and Mr Leslie Fisher for their continuous laboratory advice and support.

Special thanks to Professors Lize Van der Merwe and Martin Kidd, for their assistance with the statistical analysis and data plotting.

Many thanks to all my family for their encouragement, understanding and financial support throughout my studies.

"It always seems impossible until it's done - Nelson Mandela"

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Declaration	i
Summary	ii
Acknowledgements	vi
List of Tables	x
List of Figures	xii
List of Abbreviations and Symbols	xvi
Chapter I: Review of Literature	
1.1. Introduction	2

1.2. NAFLD and Insulin resistance	8
1.3. NAFLD and the Metabolic Syndrome	10
1.3.1. Clinical diagnosis of NAFLD	12
1.3.2. Genetic testing for NAFLD	13
1.4. Fat mass and obesity associated gene (FTO_MIM ID* 612938)	13
1.5. Tumor-necrosis factor alpha (TNF-α_MIM ID* 191160)	19
1.6. Peroxisome proliferator nuclear receptor gamma (PPARy_MIM ID* 601487)	24
1.7. Aims and Objectives	29

## Chapter II: Research Methodology

2.1. Study population	31
2.2. DNA Extraction	33
2.2.1.DNA extraction from Whole Blood using the QIAamp® DNA Blood	
Midi/Maxi kit supplied by QIAGEN (Spin protocol)	33

2.2.2. DNA extraction from Saliva samples using the $\textsc{Oragene}^{\$}\textsc{-DNA}$ saliva Kit	34
2.3. DNA Quantification	35
2.4. Polymerase Chain reaction Amplification	36
2.4.1. Oligonucleotide Primers	36
2.4.2. PCR Amplification Mixture and Thermal Cycling Conditions	38
2.5. Gel electrophoresis	39
2.6. DNA sequencing and Analysis	40
2.7. Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR) Amplification	41
2.7.1. Applied Biosystems <sup>®</sup> <i>Taq</i> Man <sup>®</sup> SNP Genotyping Assays	41
2.7.2. Applied Biosystems <sup>™</sup> 7900HT	41
2.7.3. Corbett Rotor-Gene <sup>™</sup> 6000/ QIAGEN Rotor-Gene Q	41
2.8. Statistical Analysis	42

## Chapter III: Results

3.1. Characteristics of the study population	44
3.2. Conventional Sequencing- Agarose gels and Electropherograms	47
3.3 RT-PCR genotyping with the ABI <sup>™</sup> 7900HT	52
3.4. RT-PCR genotyping with the Corbett Rotor-Gene <sup>™</sup> 6000/QIAGEN	
Rotor-Gene Q	57
3.5. Genotype distribution in the general control study population	65
3.6. Comparative analysis of Allelic and Genotype Distribution	68
3.7. Allelic effects and risk score assessment	71

Chapter IV: Discussion	79
4.1. Analytical validation of high-throughput RT-PCR	91
4.2. Comparison of genotype distribution and allele frequencies	
between study groups	93
4.3. Correlation of clinical and biochemical parameters of insulin	
Resistance and inflammation with genotype and environmental factors	
assessed in NAFLD patients	98
4.4. Impact of risk factors incorporated into a genotype risk score on age	
of onset in fatty liver disease patients in relation to NAFLD disease severity	106
4.5. Clinical Application	111
4.6. Gene Based Intervention Strategy	114
4.7. Potential modifiers of NAFLD	118

## Chapter V: Conclusion and Future Prospects

Appendix A: Confirmation Form for Approval of Project N04/02/033	167
Chapter VI: References	131
5.3. Future prospects	127
5.2. Study limitations	126
5.1. Ethical Considerations	125

## LIST OF TABLES

## Chapter I

Table 1.1. A summary of the disorders that have been associated	
with FTO gene variation	17
Table 1.2. A summary of disorders that have been associated with TNF- $\alpha$	
gene variation	22
Table 1.3. A summary of the disorders that have been associated	
With PPARy gene variation	26

## Chapter II

Table 2.1. Particulars of the primers used in the conventional PCR	
experiment and direct DNA sequencing	37
Table 2.2. Thermal Cycling Conditions for amplification of FTO	38
Table 2.3. Thermal Cycling Conditions for amplification of PPARy	39
<b>Table 2.4.</b> Thermal Cycling Conditions for amplification of TNF- $\alpha$	39

## Chapter III

Table 3.1 Single nucleotide polymorphisms studied and their	
metabolic associations	44
Table 3.2. Description of clinical characteristics in the general	
Caucasian control individuals, obese patients with fatty liver	
on ultrasound and histologically confirmed NAFLD patients,	
subdivided into types 1,2 and 3,4 (NASH)	45
Table 3.3.         Description of clinical characteristics in the general	
Caucasian control individuals, obese patients with fatty liver	
on ultrasound and histologically confirmed NAFLD patients,	

subdivided into types 1,2 and 3,4 (NASH)	46
Table 3.4.1.         Legend for figure 3.3.1 and 3.3.2, specifying genotypes of	
the samples based on Allelic discrimination data and Scatterplot analysis	60
Table 3.4.2.         Legend for figure 3.3.3 and 3.3.4, specifying genotypes of	
the samples based on Allelic discrimination data and Scatterplot analysis	62
Table 3.4.3.         Legend for figure 3.3.5 and 3.3.6, specifying genotypes of	
the samples based on Allelic discrimination data and Scatterplot analysis	64
Table 3.6.1. P-values of Hardy Weinberg Equilibrium testing for the	
FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A), TNF-α rs1800629 (-308 G>A) and	
PPARγ rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) single nucleotide polymorphisms in	
the study groups	68
Table 3.6.2. Genotype distribution and minor allele counts and frequencies	
in the Caucasian control individuals and patient subgroups genotyped	
for FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$ s1800629 (-308 G>A) and PPAR $\gamma$	
rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) single nucleotide polymorphisms	69
Table 3.6.3. P-values for comparing the genotype and minor allele frequencies	
for the FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A), TNF-α rs1800629 (-308 G>A)	
and PPAR $\gamma$ rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) single nucleotide polymorphisms	
between patient subgroups after adjusting for age, gender and ethnicity	70
Table 3.7.1. Inferred frequencies of allelic combinations for FTO (T>A)-	
TNF- $\alpha$ (G>A) and PPAR $\gamma$ (C>G) single nucleotide polymorphisms	72
Table 3.7.2. Counts and frequencies of calculated risk allele score of	
FTO rs9939609 (intron 1T>A), TNF-α rs1800629 (-308 G>A) and	
PPARγ rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) combined	73
Table 3.7.3. Unadjusted P-values for difference in environmental factors betwee	n

obese and NAFLD types 1,2 and 3,4 (NASH) as well as the association

between environmental and genetic risk factors in the combined group	74
Table 3.7.4. Description (median, interquartile range) and p-values for	
comparison of clinical and biochemical factors in obese patients with	
fatty liver on ultrasound alone and histologically confirmed NAFLD (types1,2)	
and NASH (NAFLD types 3,4) patients	77
Table 3.7.5. P-values for testing of association between clinical	
characteristics and patient groups for obese versus NAFLD (types 1,2)	
versus NASH (types 3,4) and genetic factors, after adjusting for	
age, gender, race, smoking, alcohol consumption and physical activity	
in the combined patient group	81
Table 3.7.6. P-values for testing of association of clinical and biochemical	
characteristics with environmental factors, (including BMI and WC as a	
reflection of diet) in obese, NAFLD (types 1,2) and NASH (NAFLD types 3,4)	
patients after adjusting for age, gender and race	82
Table 3.7.7. P-values for testing of interaction between FTO rs9939609	
A-allele and environmental factors on clinical characteristics in 199 obese,	
NAFLD (types 1,2) and NASH (NAFLD types 3,4) patients after adjusting for	
age, gender and race	83
<b>Table 3.7.8.</b> P-values for testing of interaction between TNF- $\alpha$ rs1800629	
(-308 G>A) and environmental factors on clinical characteristics in 199 obese,	
NAFLD (types 1,2) and NASH (NAFLD types 3,4) patients after adjusting for	
age, gender and race	84
Table 3.7.9. P-values for testing of interaction between PPARγ rs1801282	
(Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) and environmental factors on clinical characteristics in	
199 obese, NAFLD (types 1,2) and NASH (NAFLD types 3,4) patients after	
adjusting for age, gender and race	85

 Table 3.7.10. P-values for assessment of genetic association with age of

 onset of fatty liver disease symptoms in the combined patient group (n=119)

 of sets of factors including the presence or absence of alcohol consumption

 or smoking
 86

Chapter I

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Histological changes/stages of liver disease	7
Chapter III	
Figure 3.2.1. A 2.5% (w/v) agarose gel depicting the PCR amplicons	
synthesised with the FTO (rs9939609) primer set visualized with 0.0001%	
(v/v) Ethidium Bromide	47
Figure 3.2.2. Electropherogram depicting the forward (sense) sequence	
reaction of a PCR amplicon obtained with the FTO primer set	47
Figure 3.2.3. Electropherogram depicting the forward (sense) sequence	
reaction of a PCR amplicon obtained with the FTO primer set	48
Figure 3.2.4. Electropherogram depicting the forward (sense) sequence	
reaction of a PCR amplicon obtained with the FTO primer set	48
Figure 3.2.5. A 2.5% (w/v) agarose gel depicting the PCR amplicons	
synthesised with the TNF- $\alpha$ (rs1800629) primer set visualized with 0.0001%	
(v/v) Ethidium Bromide	49
Figure 3.2.6. Electropherogram depicting the forward (sense) sequence	
reaction of a PCR amplicon obtained with the TNF- $\alpha$ primer set	49
Figure 3.2.7. Electropherogram depicting the forward (sense) sequence	
reaction of a PCR amplicon obtained with the TNF- $\alpha$ primer set	49

Figure 3.2.8. Electropherogram depicting the forward (sense) sequence	
reaction of a PCR amplicon obtained with the TNF- $\alpha$ primer set	50
Figure 3.2.9. A 2.5% (w/v) agarose gel depicting the PCR amplicons	
synthesised with the PPAR $\gamma$ (rs1801282) primer set visualized with 0.0001%	
(v/v) Ethidium Bromide	50
Figure 3.2.10. Electropherogram depicting the forward (sense) sequence	
reaction of a PCR amplicon obtained with the PPARy primer set	50
Figure 3.1.11. PCR amplicon obtained with the PPARy primer set.	51
Figure 3.2.12. Electropherogram depicting the forward (sense) sequence	
reaction of a PCR amplicon obtained with the PPAR $\gamma$ primer set	51
<b>Figure 3.3.1.</b> Distinctive amplification attained using the ABI <sup><math>T</math></sup> TaqMan <sup>®</sup>	
assay	54
<b>Figure 3.3.2.</b> Typical allelic discrimination analysis using the ABI <sup><math>TM</math></sup> TaqMan <sup>®</sup>	
assay for FTO [Allele Y (C_30090620_10-T) vs. Allele X (C_30090620_10-A)]	54
<b>Figure 3.3.3</b> Distinctive amplification attained using the ABI <sup><math>^{+}</math></sup> TaqMan <sup>®</sup>	
assay for TNF-α	55
<b>Figure 3.3.4</b> Typical allelic discrimination analysis using the ABI <sup><math>m</math></sup> TaqMan <sup>®</sup>	
assay for TNF-α [Allele Y (C_7514879_10-G) vs. Allele X (C_7514879_10-A)]	55
<b>Figure 3.3.5</b> . Distinctive amplification attained using the ABI <sup><math>m</math></sup> TaqMan <sup>®</sup>	
assay for PPAR-γ	56
<b>Figure 3.3.6.</b> Typical allelic discrimination analysis using the ABI <sup><math>m</math></sup> TaqMan <sup>®</sup>	
assay for PPARγ [Allele Y (C_1129864_10-G) vs. Allele X (C_1129864_10-C)]	56
Figure 3.4.1. Allelic discrimination analysis of FTO (rs9939609, Intron 1 T>A)	
using the ABI <sup><math>m</math></sup> TaqMan <sup>®</sup> (C_30090620_10) genotyping assay	59
Figure 3.4.2. Genotypes grouped by scatterplot analysis	
(FAM™ fluorescence vs. VIC <sup>®</sup> fluorescence) of the ABI <sup>™</sup> TaqMan <sup>®</sup>	

(C_30090620_10) FTO assay	60
<b>Figure 3.4.3.</b> Allelic discrimination analysis of TNF- $\alpha$ (rs1800629, -308 G>A)	
using the ABI <sup><math>^{\text{M}}</math></sup> TaqMan <sup>®</sup> (C_7514879_10) genotyping assay	61
Figure 3.4.4. Genotypes grouped by scatterplot analysis	
(FAM <sup>™</sup> fluorescence vs. VIC <sup>®</sup> fluorescence) of the ABI <sup>™</sup> TaqMan <sup>®</sup>	
(C_7514879_10) TNF-α assay	62
Figure 3.4.5. Allelic discrimination analysis of PPARy	
(rs1801282, 34 G>C, P12A) using the ABI <sup>™</sup> TaqMan <sup>®</sup> (C_1129864_10)	
genotyping assay	63
Figure 3.4.6. Genotypes grouped by scatterplot analysis	
(FAM <sup>™</sup> fluorescence vs. VIC <sup>®</sup> fluorescence) of the ABI <sup>™</sup> TaqMan <sup>®</sup>	
(C_1129864_10) PPARγ assay	64
Figure 3.5.1. Genotype distribution of 166 samples obtained using	
the ABI <sup><math>m</math></sup> TaqMan <sup>®</sup> FTO assay. Among the 166 control samples,	
the risk-associated FTO A-allele was excluded in 63 (38%) individuals	
(not detected TT), one copy detected in 70 (42.2%) individuals	
(heterozygous TA) and two copies of the risk-associated allele detected	
in 33 (19.9%) individuals (homozygous AA).	65
Figure 3.5.2. Genotype distribution of 166 samples obtained using	
the ABI <sup><math>m</math></sup> TaqMan <sup>®</sup> TNF- $\alpha$ assay. Among the 166 control samples,	
the risk-associated TNF- $\alpha$ A-allele was excluded in 119 (71.7%) individuals	
(not detected GG), one copy detected in 43 (25.9%) individuals	
(heterozygous GA) and two copies of the risk-associated allele	
detected in 4 (2.4%) individuals (homozygous AA).	66
Figure 3.5.3. Genotype distribution of 166 samples obtained using the	
ABI <sup>™</sup> <i>Taq</i> Man <sup>®</sup> PPARγ assay. Among the 166 control samples,	

the risk-associated PPARγ C-allele was excluded in 5 (3.0%)	
individuals (not detected GG), one copy detected in	
39 (23.5%) individuals (heterozygous GC) and two copies of the	
risk-associated allele detected in 122 (73.5%) individuals (homozygous CC)	67
Figure 3.7.1. Frequency of the allelic combinations for FTO rs9939609	
(intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\gamma$ rs1800629 (-308 G>A) and PPAR $\gamma$ rs1801282	
(Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) in the obese,NAFLD (types 1,2) and NASH	
(types 3,4) patient groups	72
Figure 3.7.2. The frequencies of the calculated risk score (0-6) for FTO	
rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$ rs1800629 (-308 G>A) and PPAR $\gamma$	
rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) compared between the three patient	
groups classified according to disease severity from obese to NAFLD	
types 1,2 and 3,4 (NASH)	73
Figure 3.7.3. Box plot of age of onset of fatty liver disease symptoms in the	
patient study group (n=119) and a genotype risk score for FTO rs9939609	
(intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$ rs1800629 (-308 G>A) and PPAR $\gamma$ rs1801282	
(Pro12Ala, 34 C>G)	87
Figure 3.7.4. Modeled ages for all the combinations of alleles of FTO	
rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$ rs1800629 (-308 G>A) and PPAR $\gamma$	
rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) and gender	88

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS

3'	3-prime
5'	5-prime
<sup>32</sup> P	radioactive isotope of Phosphorus
α	alpha
β	beta
©	Copyright
°C	degrees Celsius
=	equal to
γ	gamma
>	greater than
≥	greater than or equal to
µg/l	microgram per litre
μΙ	micro litre
-	minus
%	percentage
+	plus
±	plus-minus
®	registered trademark
<	less than
≤	less than or equal to

Α

A	Adenine
A(Ala)	Alanine
ABI	Applied Biosystems
ALD	Alcoholic liver disease
ALP	Alkaline Phosphatase
ALT	Alanine Transaminase
АроС3	Apolipoprotein class III
Apo E	Apolipoprotein E (allele 2, E2; allele 4, E4)
APRI	Aspartate aminotransferase-to platelet ratio

ATP	Adenosine 5'-Triphosphate
AST	Aspartate Transaminase
В	
Вр	base pair
С	
C (Cys)	Cystein
С	Cytosine
CRP	C - reactive protein
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
D	
D	Dalton
D(Asp)	Aspartic acid
dATP	2'deoxy-adenosine-5'triphosphate
dCTP	2'deoxy-cytosine-5'triphosphate
ddATP	2',3'-dideoxy-adenosine-5'triphosphate
ddCTP	2',3'-dideoxy-cytosine-5'triphosphate
ddGTP	2',3'-dideoxy-guanosine-5'triphosphate
ddH2O	double distilled water
ddTTP	2',3'-dideoxy-thymidine-5'triphosphate
dGTP	2'-deoxy-guanosine-5'-triphosphate
dl	deciliter
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
dTTP	2'deoxy-thymidine-5'triphosphate
E	
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EtBr	Ethidium Bromide

## F

FLD	Fatty Liver Disease
FTO	Fat Mass and Obesity associated gene
FRET	Fluorescence resonance energy transfer

## G

G (Gly)	Glycine
g	gram
G	Guanine
GGT	Gamma-glutamyl transferase

## Н

	L Pa Calla a
H (HIS)	Histidine
H <sub>2</sub> O	Water
H <sub>3</sub> BO <sub>3</sub>	Boric Acid
HDL	High-density lipoprotein
HDL-C	High-density lipoprotein cholesterol
HFE (C282Y)	High Iron Fe(hemochromatosis), Cysteine position 282
HFE (H63D)	High Iron Fe(hemochromatosis), Histidine position 63
НН	Hereditary Haemochromatosis
HOMA-IR	Homeostasis Model Assessment for Insulin Resistance
HR	Hazard ratio

## I

IL-6	Interleukin-6
IR	Insulin resistance

## κ

k	kilo
kb	kilo-bases
KCNJII	Potassium inwardly-rectifying channel subfamily J
kD	kilo-Dalton

LDL

LDL-C

**L** |

Μ	
Μ	Molar
MCP-1	Monocyte chemotactic protein-1
mg	milligram
MGB	Minor Groove Binder
MgCl <sub>2</sub>	Magnesium Chloride
MIM	Mendelian Inheritance in Man
ml	milliliter
mm	millimeter
mM	milli-molar
mRNA	messenger Ribonucleic Acid

Litre

Low-density lipoprotein

Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol

## Ν

NaCl	Sodium chloride
NADH	Nicotinamide adeninde dinucleotide
NAFLD	Non-Alcoholic-Fatty-Liver-Disease
NASH	Non-Alcoholic- Steatohepatitis
NCBI	National Centre for Biotechnology Information
NFKB1	Nuclear factor NF-kappa-B1 subunit
ng	nanogram
ng/µl	nanogram per micro litre
NSAID	Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drug
NTC	Non-Template Control
NF-κβ	Nuclear Factor κβ

	•
L	
	_

p P	short arm of chromosome Phosphorous
PNPLA3	Patatin-like phospholipase domain containing protein 3
P (Pro)	Proline
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
pmol	picomole
PPARγ	Peroxisome Proliferator Receptor gamma
Q	
q	long arm of chromosome
QUICKI	Quantitative Insulin Sensitivity Check Index
R	
Refseq	Reference sequence
RFLP	Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid
rpm	revolutions per minute
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
RT-PCR	Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction
S	
SNP(s)	Single Nucleotide Polymorphism(s)
т	
T (Thr)	Threonine
Т	Thymine
T <sub>A</sub>	Annealing temperature
Taq	Thermus aquaticus Polymerase enzyme
TBE	Tris-Borate-EDTA buffer
TCF7L7	Transcription factor 7-like 2
ТЕ	Tris-EDTA buffer
T <sub>M</sub>	Melting Temperature
ТМ	Trademark

TNF-α	Tumor Necrosis Factor alpha
U	
U	Units
UV	Ultraviolet
V	
V	Volts
V	volume
VLDL	very low density lipoprotein
v/v	volume per volume
W	
W	Weight
WC	waist curcumference
w/v	weight per volume
X	
х	times
хg	times gravity

# **CHAPTER I**

**Review of Literature** 

#### 1.1. Introduction

Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is a clinical histo-pathological disease with histological features that resemble alcohol-induced liver disease, but manifests when fat is deposited (steatosis) in the liver without excessive alcohol consumption. The histological spectrum of NAFLD ranges from fat that accumulates in hepatocytes without inflammation (hepatic steatosis) or severe fibrosis to complex hepatic steatosis, with concomitant inflammation (steatohepatitis).

NAFLD is well known to progress to serious liver related cardiovascular diseases (carotid artery wall thickening, vasodilation), especially in type 2 diabetic individuals (Targher *et al.* 2007; Neuschwander-Tetri *et al.* 2003). Obesity, diabetes and insulin resistance (IR) are the main contributing risk factors for more advanced forms of liver diseases. According to Marchesini *et al.* (2003) 70-80% of individuals with NAFLD have insulin resistance, obesity and/or diabetes as confirmed by Ratziu *et al.* (2010).

NAFLD is the most common cause of liver disease in westernised countries, affecting almost 33% of the general population and up to 75% of specific sub-groups such as obese individuals. The clinical significance of NAFLD is emphasised by the fact that a considerable proportion of patients (20%-30%) progress to non-alcoholic steatohepatitis NASH (Petta *et al.* 2009). The pathogenesis of NAFLD has not been fully elucidated, as many risk factors contribute to the development or predisposition of NAFLD. The most extensively supported theory implicates insulin resistance (IR) as the key biological mechanism involved in the development of hepatic steatosis.

Other risk factors contributing to the pathogenesis of NAFLD are the metabolic syndrome (visceral obesity, hypertension, dyslipidaemia and elevated plasma glucose concentration), oxidative stress, cell injury, cytokines/adipokines, fibrogenesis, hepatic iron accumulation, environmental carcinogens and a genetic predisposition.

The clinical characteristics of NAFLD have recently been described for the first time in the South African population (Kruger *et al.* 2010). The study population included 111 patients with liver biopsy-confirmed NAFLD stage 1 and 2, of which 37% had NASH and 17% advanced fibrosis (stage 3 and 4). Insulin resistance was identified as a universal factor in these NAFLD patients studied in the Western Cape area of South Africa. Patients with NASH showed significantly higher mean serum cholesterol and triglyceride

levels compared with those with fatty liver only. The aspartate aminotransferase to platelet ratio index (APRI) was furthermore found to be significantly increased in NAFLD patients with advanced fibrosis compared to those with no/mild fibrosis (Kruger et al. 2011). Use of APRI in a new algorithm for detection of advanced fibrosis was therefore proposed, to ultimately replace invasive histopathologic diagnosis based on liver biopsy. Recently, a significant increase in alanine transaminase (ALT) levels was detected in a subgroup of South African patients with NASH who tested positive for the iron-related H63D (Histidine position 63) and C282Y (Cysteine position 282) mutations in the High Iron Fe haemochromatosis (HFE) gene (Fisher, 2011). This finding raised the possibility that assessment of APRI in conjunction with clinically useful genetic risk factors may facilitate the prevention of cumulative risk in NAFLD patients. Deleterious mutations in the HFE gene are associated with alterations in inflammatory responses, oxidative stress, impairment of glucose metabolism and in its most severe form and loss of iron homeostasis, the preventable genetic disorder hereditary haemochromatosis (HH). Since the implementation of a routine diagnostic service for HH more than 10 years ago, the use of genetic testing in conjunction with serum iron studies have largely replaced the need for liver biopsies to diagnose HH in the local population (Kotze et al. 2004, 2009). HFE genotyping combined with measurement of ferritin, glucose and serum iron studies also facilitates discrimination between NAFLD and HH, which is complicated in the presence of diabetes shown to be an independent risk factor for development of hepatic fibrosis in HH patients (Wood et al. 2012). Effective management of type II diabetes, found to be directly related to alterations in iron status, inflammation and oxidative stress in patients with HH or NAFLD, is important to reduce the risk of liver injury and fibrosis in both conditions. Increased iron load associated with the -308 TNF- $\alpha$ variant warrants further studies to determine possible interaction with the HFE gene (Fargion et al. 2001a; Krayenbuehl et al. 2006) in relation to insulin resistance and inflammation in patients with NASH.

The close association between the prevalence of insulin resistance and the occurrence of steatohepatitis in NAFLD patients may have a genetic basis (Tilg and Moschen, 2011). Aller *et al.* (2010) reported that more than 80% of NAFLD patients with a functional single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) at nucleotide position -308 in the promoter region of the tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ) gene exhibit inflammatory liver disease (NASH), whereas in the not detected (wild-type) group only 19.7% of

patients developed NASH. Weight-reduction can be considered an effective antiinflammatory strategy since a marked reduction of TNF- $\alpha$  expression in hepatic and adipose tissue were observed after extensive weight loss (Moschen *et al.* 2010).This could be the first step of implementing an intervention strategy based on the detection of clinically useful polymorphisms in the TNF- $\alpha$  gene associated with the development of NASH or other typical NASH associated factors, such as insulin resistance. mRNA expression levels of the TNF- $\alpha$  gene was found to correlate significantly with the presence of NASH in South African NAFLD patients (Kruger, 2008), which support the role of TNF- $\alpha$  in the disease process.

Insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes develop when there is an imbalance between conditions promoting excessive fatty acid synthesis (e.g. dietary, genetic, hormonal, and exercise) combined with deficient fatty acid oxidation (Wood, 2004). Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor  $\gamma$  (PPAR $\gamma$ ), an important transcription factor, is a critical regulator of adipogenesis, insulin sensitivity and lipid metabolism (Yen et al. 1997; Gurnell *et al.* 2003). The missense mutation at codon 12 of the PPAR $\gamma$  gene results in a reduction of PPARy activity. This risk associated allele occurs at a high frequency (~85% in Caucasians) in the general population with a modest effect translating into a large population-attributable risk (Lohmueller et al. 2003). PPARy is the molecular target for insulin sensitizing agents like the thiazolidinedione's, a class of anti-diabetic drugs improving insulin sensitivity (Gawrieh et al. 2012). In a meta-analysis study of more than 3000 individuals, Altshuler et al. (2000) concluded that the proline variant increases the risk of diabetes 1.25 fold and accounts for to the development of type 2 diabetes in up to 25% of the general population. The interaction between the PPARy variant and smoking indicated that both factors exhibited a synergistic effect on the development of NAFLD (Yang et al. 2012). The interaction between these two independent risk factors underlines the importance of genetic and environmental factors contributing to the development and progression of NAFLD (Day, 2006).

Enhanced oxidative stress is associated with reactive oxygenated species (ROS) induced lipid peroxidation causing liver cell necrosis, apoptosis and immunological dysfunction that could progress to hepatic fibrogenesis (Byrne, 2010). Voluminous fatty acids and not enough fatty acid oxidation seem to be critical to the development of insulin resistance and eventually type 2 diabetes. There is also broad agreement that

long-chain  $\omega$ -3 fatty acids in the diet are highly beneficial, by opposing the actions of insulin through various mechanisms that may directly suppress fatty acid synthesis and promote fatty acid oxidation (Clarke, 2001). Genetic variation involved in fatty acid metabolism (PPAR $\gamma$  gene) and inflammation (TNF- $\alpha$  gene) are important in this context. Information on gene-gene and gene-environment interactions is needed in a translational context to understand the health impact and implications of SNPs in metabolic associated disorders such as NAFLD.

The common form of obesity is a multifactorial trait thought to develop from an intricate interplay of genetic and environmental factors. Therefore, the occurrence of gene-gene and gene-environment interactions make it difficult to clearly elucidate the role of specific genetic variants in obesity related risk (Marti *et al.* 2004). Genome wide association study's (GWAS) for type 2 diabetes susceptibility discovered the fat mass and obesity-associated gene (FTO) (Frayling *et al.* 2007). Simultaneously other research studies reported that the FTO gene was strongly associated with obesity related traits (Dina *et al.* 2007; Scuteri *et al.* 2007). FTO is highly expressed in the hypothalamus, a region in the brain involved in the regulation of energy homeostasis. FTO risk variants appear to promote the development of obesity by increasing energy intake through its influence on appetite-regulating regions of the hypothalamus. Variation in the FTO gene (intron 1) is associated with obesity in both children and adults.

To the best of our knowledge FTO variation in individuals with NAFLD has never been genotyped before. Since obesity and type 2 diabetes are key contributors to the metabolic syndrome and possible parallel risk factors for the development of more advanced forms of liver disease, it is highly likely that genetic variation in FTO could be associated with the risk of developing NASH.

The underlying mechanism and pathogenesis of NAFLD remains elusive. At present, treatment is focused on managing underlying metabolic risk factors as there is no pharmacotherapy available for effective treatment of this condition. Lifestyle intervention to achieve weight loss and increase exercise is persistently associated with improved liver histology (Cheung and Sanyal, 2009). Family members of children with NAFLD are considered at high risk for NAFLD. Data provided by Schwimmer *et al.* (2009) suggest that familial factors are a major determinant for the development of NAFLD. Risk factors vary between populations depending on modifier genes and lifestyle related exposures.

Chapter I

#### **Review of Literature**

The influence of low-to-moderate alcohol consumption in patients with NAFLD remains a controversial subject. In a study performed by Cotrim *et al.* (2009), 132 patients undergoing liver biopsy during bariatric surgery were divided into three groups: 1) alcohol intake greater than 20 g/day and less than 40 g/day; 2) alcohol intake less than 20 g/day, and 3) no alcohol intake. The presence of insulin resistance was similar in the groups with moderate and no alcohol consumption (81.3 and 78.7%) but significantly less in the light consumption group (54%, P<0.05). According to Dunn *et al.* (2012) moderate alcohol consumption is associated with a decreased prevalence of steatohepatitis and a reduced risk of coronary heart disease (CHD) mortality with metabolic related risk factors in patients with NAFLD. Addressing the challenge of understanding the underlying mechanisms or disease processes provides an opportunity to translate new genetic knowledge into therapeutic intervention strategies.

Therefore examining the complex relations between genes and environment in the development and progression of NAFLD will give us a better understanding of potentially modifiable risk factors underlying the disease phenotype. Figure 1 shows the histological spectrum of NAFLD ranging from fat that accumulates in hepatocytes without inflammation (hepatic steatosis) or the development of complex hepatic steatosis to severe fibrosis (scarring), with concomitant inflammation (steatohepatitis).



Figure 1. Histological changes/stages of liver disease

A central feature in the pathogenesis of NAFLD, both histologically and metabolically, relate to the accumulation of triacylglycerol in the liver (Donnelly *et al.* 2005). Plasma non-esterified fatty acids that flow to the liver in the fasted state, delivers the bulk of fatty acids to the liver. Newly (*de novo*) synthesised fatty acids (lipogenesis) derived from acetyl-co-enzyme A deliver the remaining Free fatty acid (FFA) pool to the liver in the form of very low density lipoproteins (VLDLs). Hepatic steatosis is the clinical manifestation of excessive triglyceride accumulation in the liver. The overall distribution of hepatic steatosis in an urbanized American population revealed that 45% of Hispanics, followed by 33% European-Americans and 24% African-Americans developed hepatic steatosis (Browning *et al.* 2004).

The prevalence of hepatic steatosis in diabetic individuals as reported by Wlliamson *et al.* (2011) was 56.9%. This was considerably lower when compared to a large Italian population study of type 2 diabetic patients, in which 85.3% of patients presented hepatic steatosis (Targher *et al.* 2007).

## 1.2. NAFLD and Insulin Resistance

Insulin resistance (IR) is a patho-physiological condition, where the naturally produced hormone insulin becomes less effective at reducing blood glucose levels. The plasma glucose concentration is regulated by numerous hormones, insulin being the most important one. When glucose levels are high insulin is released into the blood stream to stimulate the following actions:

- Glucose uptake
- Inhibition of lipolysis
- Inhibition of fatty acid oxidation
- Inhibition of glycogen breakdown

The opposite apply when glucagon is released. Blood glucose levels rise and fall to meet the body's needs. The liver plays a central role in regulating blood glucose levels. Glucose is released by the liver from the breakdown of glycogen or from intermediates of carbohydrate, protein and fat metabolism. The liver receives glucose-rich blood from the digestive tract by means of the portal vein. Blood glucose levels beyond the normal range cause adverse health effects. Risk factors that contribute to insulin resistance are grouped as genetic risk factors for example PPARy mutation, Insulin receptor mutations, physiological factors (age, obesity, hypertension, and hypertriglyceridemia), pathology abnormalities (metabolic syndrome, liver pathologies, infections, haemochromatosis, and hypercortisolism) and environmental risk factors (diet and lifestyle). Insulin resistance plays a key role in the development of hepatic steatosis and potentially steatohepatitis (Cullan and Redlich, 1997; Willner *et al.* 2001; Chitturi *et al.* 2002; Williamson *et al.* 2011).

NASH is more prevalent in patients with metabolic disorders as opposed to other associations such as drug toxicity, lipodystrophy and inherited disorders (Chitturi *et al.* 2001). Peripheral insulin resistance is frequently observed in obese and type 2 diabetic patients with NAFLD, however it also has been reported in patients with NASH who are not obese or diabetic (Marchesini *et al.* 2001; Kim *et al.* 2004).

Insulin resistance is a significant predictor of NAFLD and metabolic associated disorders (hypertriglyceridemia and hyperuricemia). Regardless of the strong association, not all patients with NASH exhibit insulin resistance. This suggests that NASH could be a heterogeneous disorder with more than one attributed cause. The genetic origin for insulin resistance associated with NASH remains elusive.

Excessive abdominal fat accumulation both visceral and intrahepatic correlates with abnormalities in glucose and lipid metabolism. FFA levels and intrahepatic fat are associated with hepatic IR (Gastaldelli *et al.* 2007). The inability of insulin in non-diabetic NAFLD patients to suppress endogenous glucose production was demonstrated by Seppala-lindroos *et al.* (2002). This study revealed that the amount of insulin required for normalized glycaemic control correlated with liver fat content in NAFLD patients (Bugianesi *et al.* 2005; Kelley *et al.* 2003; Seppala-lindroos *et al.* 2002).

Alterations in the transcriptional activity of the transcription factor peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma co-activator  $1\alpha$  (PPARy- $1\alpha$ ) showed a strong association with the insulin resistance phenotype and the manifestation of NAFLD (Sookoian *et al.* 2010). A study conducted by Carulli *et al.* (2009) revealed that interleukin 6 (IL-6) polymorphisms could be used as markers for insulin resistance and inflammation. Despite recent advances in the understanding of metabolic and inflammatory pathways the complex interplay between genetic and environmental factors

involved in NAFLD is not yet fully understood. A study by Petersen *et al.* (2010) found that APOC3 (apolipoprotein class III) were associated with NAFLD and IR.

Treating NAFLD patients with rosiglitazone improved their insulin sensitivity and reduced the inflammation rate (Ryan *et al.* 2003). Thiazolidinedione anti-diabetic drug treatment significantly improved steatosis and necro-inflammation in patients with NASH and insulin resistance (Gastaldelli *et al.* 2009). Thiazolidinedione's activate PPAR<sub>γ</sub> by binding to its receptor; this causes up-regulation of PPAR<sub>γ</sub> transcription factors that decreases IR. This gives emphasis to the beneficial effects of glucose-sensitizing medications in NAFLD patients.

Patients exhibiting NAFLD with glucose intolerance were significantly more insulin resistant when compared to glucose intolerant patients without a fatty liver (Kelley *et al.* 2003; Facchini *et al.* 2002). Lipid metabolism is altered by the resistance to the action of insulin. This enhances peripheral lipolysis, triglyceride synthesis and hepatic uptake of free fatty acids (Sanyal *et al.* 2001). The accumulation of triglycerides in hepatocytes cause a preferential shift from carbohydrates to free fatty acid beta-oxidation, an occurrence observed in insulin resistant individuals. This may explain the increased FFA levels observed in NAFLD patients with type 2 diabetes as opposed to type 2 diabetics without NAFLD (Kelley *et al.* 2003).

Undoubted epidemiological, biochemical, and therapeutic evidence support the principle that the primary pathophysiological derangement in most patients with NAFLD is the molecular pathways leading to insulin resistance at a cellular level. Genetic studies are warranted to further investigate the role of gene-environment interactions in this context.

#### 1.3. NAFLD and the Metabolic Syndrome

The metabolic syndrome is a constellation of interconnected metabolic risk factors that contribute to the co-occurrence of both cardiovascular disease (CVD) and type-2 diabetes. Individuals with metabolic syndrome have a 2-3 fold increase risk of developing coronary heart disease (CHD; Kurl *et al.* 2006) with a considerable greater risk of developing diabetes (Sattar *et al.* 2003; Hanley *et al.* 2005a). Low grade inflammation and the occurrence of thrombosis are strongly associated with the metabolic syndrome (Grundy *et al.* 2005).

The international diabetes federation (IDF) consensus worldwide definition of the metabolic syndrome (Anderson *et al*, 2001; Bonora *et al*, 1998; Carr *et al*. 2004, Nakamura *et al*. 1994) define a person as having this condition when they have central obesity (waist circumference  $\geq$  94 cm for European men and  $\geq$  80 cm for European women, the values differ with respect to other ethnicities) with the addition of any two of the following factors:

- Raised triglyceride levels (≥1.7 mmol/L);
- Reduced high density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol levels (<1.03 mmo/L in males and <1.29 mmol/L in females);</li>
- Hypertension (systolic blood pressure ≥130 mmHg and/or diastolic blood pressure ≥ 85 mmHg;
- Elevated fasting plasma glucose levels (≥5.6 mmol/L).

The IDF consensus group has highlighted additional metabolic criteria that appear to be related to the metabolic syndrome. This could be included in research studies to augment the predictive power of additional factors in CVD and diabetes. The platinum standard definition of the IDF consensus group includes the following:

- Body fat distribution determined by adipose tissue biomarkers: leptin, adiponectin and Liver fat content;
- Atherogenic dyslipidemia determined by apolipoprotein B and small Low-density lipoprotein particles;
- Dysglycaemia determined by the oral glucose tolerant test (OGTT);
- Insulin resistance determined by fasting/pro-insulin, homeostasis model assessment HOMA-IR, insulin resistance by Berman minimal model, elevated free fatty acids;
- Vascular dysregulation (endothelial dysfunction and/or microalbuminuria);
- Pro-inflammatory state (elevated C-reactive protein, increased inflammatory cytokines; (eg.TNF-α) and decrease in adiponectin plasma levels);
- Prothrombotic state (fibrinolytic factors and/or clotting factors);
- Hormonal factors (pituitary-adrenal axis).

The pathogenesis of the metabolic syndrome with each of its components is complex and not fully understood; however central obesity and insulin resistance are the major causative factors of the disease. NAFLD is considered the hepatic manifestation of the metabolic syndrome (Wild *et al.* 2004; Dunstan *et al.* 2002).

In a study done by Marchesini *et al.* (2003) the prevalence of metabolic syndrome increased dramatically from 18% in normal-weight individuals to 67% in obese subjects as assessed by body mass index (BMI). Insulin resistance as assessed by the HOMA-IR model was significantly associated with metabolic syndrome (odds ratio 2.5, CI 95% and P<0.001 significance). The metabolic syndrome was significantly more prevalent in patients with NASH (88%) compared to those with a fatty liver alone (53%). Logistic regression analysis demonstrated that the presence of metabolic syndrome imposed a high risk of NASH development among NAFLD subjects (odds ratio 3.2, CI 95% and P<0.03 significance) (Marchesini *et al.* 2003).

The frequency of obesity as a component of the metabolic syndrome in patients with NASH has been reported in about 69% to 100% of patients (Bacon *et al.* 1994; Pinto *et al.* 1996; Sattar *et al.* 2003; Seppa-Lindroos *et al.* 2002; Targer *et al.* 2007). In addition the frequency of type 2 diabetes mellitus as a complication of obesity has been reported in 34% to 75% of patients with NASH (Hamaguchi *et al.* 2005; Mulcahy, 2003; Ong *et al.* 2005; Pinto *et al.* 1996). Insulin resistance unifies NAFLD and the metabolic syndrome by the clustering of metabolic related risk factors and alterations observed in insulin resistant pathways concomitant with metabolic syndrome. This may provide the molecular and biochemical basis for the link with NAFLD and insulin resistance. Insulin resistance contributes to steatosis by enhancing free fatty acid efflux from adipose tissue to the liver causing abnormalities of lipid storage (Lewis *et al.* 2002). Lipid peroxidation in insulin resistance subjects may activate inflammatory cytokines, promoting the progression of steatosis to nonalcoholic steatohepatitis translating into liver fibrosis (Angelico *et al.* 2005).

#### 1.3.1. Clinical diagnosis of NAFLD

Most patients exhibiting NAFLD are asymptomatic; however right upper abdominal discomfort and fatigue urge patients to seek medical attention (Bacon *et al.* 1994). The most common presentation of NAFLD is elevated liver enzymes (aminotransferases) detected by routine laboratory screening methods while serum ferritin is an independent predictor of histological severe fibrosis in patients with NAFLD (Kowdley *et al.* 2012). Liver markers that present as a consequence of liver injury are aspartate-

aminotransferases (AST) and alanine-aminotransferase (ALT) (Mulhall *et al.* 2002). It is important to note that normal serum aminotransferases values do not exclude the presence of abnormal liver histological features as illustrated by Mofrad *et al.* (2003). Other laboratory tests include cholestatic enzymes (Alkaline Phosphatases) and gamma glutamyl transferase (GGT), cholesterol, triglycerides and determination of insulin resistance using the homeostasis model assessment (HOMA) or the quantitative insulin sensitivity check index (QUICKI).

Features of metabolic syndrome with the exclusion of alcohol consumption form part of the initial diagnostic process of NAFLD. The definitive diagnosis of NAFLD is through liver biopsy, a technique not applicable for large epidemiological studies (Hanley *et al.* 2005b). Modern imaging systems that include ultrasound, magnetic resonance imaging, computerized tomography and spectroscopy are regularly used as a diagnostic tool to screen for NAFLD. However, these techniques can only accurately identify steatosis and cirrhosis while fibrosis and necro-inflammation may remain undetected by these instruments (Aubè *et al.* 2007; Friedrich *et al.* 2010).

A combination of different screening methods and laboratory tests could be used to develop a specific algorithm to identify patients with NAFLD/NASH and to potentially avoid the need of liver biopsies for definitive diagnoses. One example is the aspartate aminotransferase to platelet ratio index (APRI) that was evaluated and implemented as a marker for advanced fibrosis in South African NAFLD/NASH patients to avoid the need of liver biopsies (Kruger *et al.* 2011).

#### 1.3.2. Genetic testing for NAFLD

Excessive alcohol consumption may translate into alcoholic liver disease (ALD) in parallel with metabolic syndrome related NAFLD; both of which are recognised as the most common causes of liver disease worldwide. Since the majority of heavy drinkers with concomitant obesity/insulin resistance develop steatosis and only a minority progress to develop steatohepatitis, fibrosis and/or cirrhosis, subtle inter-individual genetic variation interacting with environmental factors could determine the disease phenotype and progression to NAFLD. Upon completion of the human genome project in 2003 new insights into the role of genetic contributing factors relating to inter-individual variability translated into better patient care, with particular focus on the mechanistic pathogenesis of complex diseases such as NAFLD (Anstee *et al.* 2011). Understanding

the pathogenesis and genetic modifiers of progressive NAFLD combined with biochemical and immunological markers of liver injury could provide a new model to approach risk management of NAFLD patients. Kotze *et al.* (2009) established such an approach termed pathology supported genetic testing (PSGT) for incorporation of low-penetrance functional SNPs that are not sufficient to explain the phenotype into a intervention plan for complex diseases such as CVD, HH and NAFLD.

This approach to risk management requires selection of candidate genes based on both disease association and mechanism. Since selection of only a limited number of known candidate genes could underscore the potential role of other genes that may influence disease susceptibility, it is important to view any genetic findings as one component of multiple factors that may contribute to obesity and insulin resistance in NAFLD, as the focus of the current study. For this reason functional SNPs in the FTO, TNF- $\alpha$  and PPAR $\gamma$  genes were selected for analyses based on existing knowledge reported in the scientific literature.

#### 1.4. Fat mass and obesity associated gene (FTO\_MIM ID\* 612938)

The FTO gene was first discovered by Peters *et al.* (1999) through exon trapping. It is widely expressed in a variety of human tissues, including the brain, pancreatic islets and the liver. Ubiquitous expression of FTO was found in all human embryo and adult tissues examined in a study by Boissel *et al.* (2009). The molecular mass of the 502 amino acid FTO protein is 58 kD. Bioinformatic analysis of FTO showed that FTO shared mutual sequence motifs with iron- and 2-oxoglutarate (2OG)-dependent oxygenases, highly expressed in the brain. FTO is localised to the nucleus, catalysing 2OG to produce succinate, formaldehyde and carbon dioxide, by-products of nucleic acid de-methylation (Gerken *et al.* 2007). FTO mRNA is mostly abundant in the brains of mice, particularly in the hypothalamic nuclei, the region that regulates feeding and fasting. This could explain the association between variation in the FTO gene and obesity.

#### **Molecular Genetics**

The T to A base change (rs9939609) in the first intron of the FTO gene is located on chromosome 16 q12.2. It causes an increase in gene transcription, especially in the region where the sequence is strongly conserved as demonstrated by in vitro primer extension studies (Frayling *et al.* 2007). The fat mass and obesity associated protein
coded by the FTO gene is also known as alpha-ketoglutarate-dependent dioxygenase FTO. The conserved amino acid sequence of the transcribed FTO protein is highly homologous with AlkB (alkylation) an enzyme that oxidatively de-methylates DNA (Gerken *et al.* 2007). Although there is a 50% chance of passing on the faulty gene in a family, variation in the FTO gene does not cause obesity in the absence of other genetic and environmental factors that may lead to cumulative risk.

Molecular genetic research led to the identification of numerous obesity and diabetic related genes involved in the predisposition of pancreatic B-cell function. FTO is one of the most common and extensively studied loci associated with both obesity and type 2 diabetes. Other genes include [Insulin receptor substrate-1(IRS1), Ectonucleotide pyrophosphate/phosphodiesterase-1 (ENPP1) and Gastric inhibitory polypeptide receptor (GIPR)] (Meyre, 2012). Genome wide association studies of type 2 diabetes confirmed FTO as a diabetes susceptibility locus (Frayling *et al.* 2007; Scott *et al.* 2007; Zeggini *et al.* 2007).

The strong association between the FTO intronic variant (rs9939609) and type 2 diabetes observed in 3757 type 2 diabetic patients in the UK (OR 1.09-1.23, p= 9 x  $10^{-6}$ ) was obliterated after the adjustment for BMI (OR 0.96-1.10, p=0.44) (Frayling *et al.* 2007). However, more recently Hertel *et al.* (2011) reported that the association of FTO with type 2 diabetes was independent of its effect on BMI. A meta-analysis of 20 686 non-diabetic individuals prospectively followed for more than 10 years revealed that 3 153 patients developed type 2 diabetes and that this incident risk was strongly associated with the FTO polymorphism (OR 1.10-1.22, p=  $3.2 \times 10^{-8}$ ). After adjustment of age, sex and further adjustment of BMI during the follow up, the association of rs9939609 with the incident risk of type 2 diabetes was attenuated. The FTO minor allele increases BMI by 0.26 kg/m<sup>2</sup> in South Asians and 0.39 kg/m<sup>2</sup> in white Europeans. The heterogeneity may be due to the fact that BMI (kg/m<sup>2</sup>) in Asians does not represent the same adiposity phenotype as in individuals of European decent (Li *et al.* 2012).

Spontaneous cortical activity in lean individuals is increased through insulin; however in obese individuals this effect is absent. Cerebrocortical insulin resistance prevents normal body weight regulation, because insulin is needed as an adiposity- and satiety signal (Tschritter *et al.* 2007; Shimaoka *et al.* 2010). The FTO genotypic effect on cerebrocortical insulin sensitivity is similar to the effect of increased weight; this implies

that variation in FTO contributes to the pathogenesis of obesity. The effect of the risk genotype on overall weight, detected in children from age 7 years upwards, has been estimated to be approximately increased by 3 kilograms (Freyling *et al.* 2007).

The expression of FTO mRNA in pancreatic beta- and alpha cells, liver cells, skeletal muscle cells and adipose tissue are modulated by type 2 diabetes status (pathogenesis), blood glucose levels, oxidation rate of glucose and treatment with the hypoglycaemic drug rosiglitazone (Bravard *et al.* 2011; Kirkpatrick *et al.* 2010). A significant increase in both FTO mRNA and protein levels were observed in muscle cells of type 2 diabetic patients when compared with lean control subjects. This confirms that the overexpression of FTO in myotubes and its role in oxidative metabolism, lipogenesis and oxidative stress, a constellation of metabolic defects is linked to type 2 diabetes. However gene expression studies have demonstrated that FTO expression in human islets cells are not associated with BMI (Kirkpatrick *et al.* 2010). Age may contribute to the heterogeneity of the association between FTO and BMI (kg/m<sup>2</sup>) independent of sex (Hardy *et al.* 2009; Speliotes *et al.* 2010).

FTO mRNA is linked to the expression of several other genes involved in gluconeogenesis in the liver. TNF, NFKB1 (mRNA in subcutaneous adipose tissue), KCNJ11 (mRNA in beta cells); all are involved in glucose regulation. Transcription-factor-7-like-2 (TCF7L2), a major contributing factor of type 2 diabetes risk, binds to the FTO promoter region and may cause overexpression of FTO (Zhou *et al.* 2012).

FTO acts as a transcriptional co-activator, enhancing transactivation of CCAAT/enhancer binding proteins translating to unmethylated and methylated inhibited promoters. This epigenetic regulatory process was demonstrated by Wu *et al.* (2010). The role of FTO in mechanisms of nucleic acid repair and epigenetic regulation support the notion that FTO may be a pleiotropic factor contributing to obesity and type 2 diabetes (Huang *et al.* 2011).

#### **Disease Association**

The FTO A-allele was shown to be significantly associated with higher BMI, higher body fat percentage, and higher waist circumference (Dina *et al.* 2007; Zhou *et al.* 2012). It also positively correlated with other symptoms of the metabolic syndrome, including hypertension, higher fasting insulin, glucose, triglycerides and lower HDL-cholesterol

levels. The risk of being overweight increased between 1.27 and 1.35 fold with each additional risk allele (Frayling *et al.* 2007). The association with type 2 diabetes has been replicated in several populations and its effect is mediated through increased BMI and adiposity (Li *et al.* 2012).

The occurrence of two copies of the risk-associated A-allele is the strongest common genetic predictor of obesity known to date. The A-allele is associated with an approximately 30% increase in the risk of developing obesity in the general population as a consequence of increased energy intake, especially fat intake, and impaired satiety responsiveness (Frayling *et al.* 2007). The average weight gain by an adult with the A-allele is 1.2 kg. The T allele is protective against overeating by promoting responsiveness to internal signals of satiety. Table 1.1 summarises examples of medical conditions associated with genetic variation in the FTO gene.

Associated Disorder	References
Alzheimer's disease	Keller et al. 2011
Breast and prostate cancer	Kaklamani <i>et al</i> . 2011; Lewis <i>et al</i> . 2010
Cerebrocortical insulin resistance	Tschritter <i>et al</i> . 2007
Endometrial cancer	Lurie <i>et al.</i> 2011
Osteoporosis phenotypes	Guo <i>et al.</i> 2011
Peripheral insulin resistance	Shimaoka <i>et al</i> . 2010
Structural brain atrophy	Ho <i>et al.</i> 2010
Type 2 diabetes	Meyre, 2012

**Table 1.1.** A summary of the disorders that have been associated with FTO gene variation

Obesity is related to personality addictive disorders such as alcohol dependence (Barry *et al.* 2009). Low to moderate alcohol consumption may protect obese individuals as well as diabetic or cardiovascular patients (O'Keefe *et al.* 2007). The protective mechanism is possibly through the induction of microsomal ethanol-oxidizing systems and both the inhibition or secretion of ghrelin, an amino acid produced in the fundus (stomach), responsible for food seeking behaviour (Badaoui *et al.* 2008). Sobczyk-Kopciol *et al.* 

(2010) reported an inverse association of the obesity predisposing FTO polymorphism (rs9939609) with alcohol consumption and the risk for alcohol dependence.

#### **Population genetics**

The frequencies of the FTO rs9939609 risk associated A allele for obesity in Western and Central Europeans is 46%, in Yorubans 51% and in Chinese individuals 16% (Ho *et al.* 2010). The minor allele (risk allele) frequency of FTO was lower in East-Asians (12-20%) compared to South-Asians (30-33%). Interestingly, the effect of the variant on obesity related risk factors and type 2 diabetes were similar in both groups (Li *et al.* 2012). In white Europeans approximately 66% carry at least one risk allele and 18% carry both risk alleles. Despite the differences in genetic background, the effect of FTO on obesity related traits in East and South Asians were similar to white Europeans.

#### **Combined effects**

Lifestyle factors modify the genetic risk of obesity associated with variation in the FTO gene, particularly in individuals who are both inactive and have a high calorie intake. Homozygous individuals (AA) were found to be on average two BMI (kg/m<sup>2</sup>) units heavier compared to physically active homozygous individuals with the same allele (Andreasen et al. 2008). In a study by Speakmen et al. (2008) adults with the AT and AA genotypes were found to consume between 500 and 1250 kilo Joules (kJ) more each day than those carrying the protective TT genotype (equivalent to between 125 and 280 kilo calories (kC) per day more intake). Results from several studies have shown that high physical activity could reduce the effect of FTO on the risk of obesity. A long term intervention diet study revealed that a diet rich in monosaturated and polyunsaturated fat (Mediterranean diet) especially in AA genotype subjects reduced body weight. This supports the notion of a conventional low-fat diet being beneficial for the A allele carriers Razquin et al. 2010). In a similar manner, diets with different macronutrient composition (i.e. fat, carbohydrate, and protein) and fibre content could also influence appetite and satiety and thereby influence the risk. Weight reduction is associated with improved plasma glucose and insulin levels in diabetic patients (Shai et al. 2008).

An interaction between FTO and the apolipoprotein E (ApoE) gene known to be strongly associated with Alzheimer's disease was reported by Keller *et al.* (2011). Those individuals who test positive for both the FTO AA genotype and the E4 allele of the ApoE gene had the highest risk for development of Alzheimer's disease. The finding that the

FTO AA-genotype increases the risk of dementia in particular Alzheimer's disease, independently of physical activity, BMI, diabetes and CVD is in line with its association with reduced brain volume and impaired verbal fluency in cognitively healthy individuals (Benedict *et al.* 2011; Ho *et al.* 2010).

Common SNPs such as FTO are influenced by other parameters including lifestyle choices, gender and ethnicity. Their combined effects play an important role in fat deposition, obesity prevalence and incidence. The FTO risk allele could be a predictive factor for the development of obesity and subsequently type 2 diabetes, and these risk factors combined may also contribute to the pathogenesis of NAFLD. To our knowledge the FTO rs9939609, intron 1 T>A has not been studied in a South African population and have not been investigated in patients with NAFLD.

# 1.5. Tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF-α\_MIM ID\*191160)

Tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ), a multifunctional pro-inflammatory cytokine secreted mainly by macrophages, plays a key role in immune function. Its effect on inflammation, apoptotic cell death, cellular proliferation, tumorgenesis, lipid metabolism, coagulation, insulin resistance and endothelial function makes it one of the most extensively studied genes to date.

TNF was originally identified in *Mus musculus* serum after a *Mycobacterium bovis* strain injection (Pennica *et al.* 1984; Shirai *et al* 1985.) It is also known as cachexin and was firstly recognised for its ability to lyse tumors. The biologically active form of TNF- $\alpha$  binds to either tumor necrosis factor receptor 1 (TNFR1) or tumor necrosis factor receptor 2 (TNFR2) initiating the immune response (Zhang, 2004).

# **Molecular genetics**

The TNF gene maps to chromosome 6p21.3 and contains 4 exons which span 3 kilobases. The last exon codes for more than 80% of the functional protein. TNF is mainly produced as a 212-amino acid transmembrane protein arranged in stable homotrimers (Tang *et al.* 1996). Proteolytic cleavage by the metalloprotease TNF alpha converting enzyme yields the soluble form of the homotrimeric cytokine (Black *et al.* 1997). The region spanning the TNF cluster in the human major histocompatibility complex has been implicated in the susceptibility to numerous diseases, including diabetes (Stechova *et al.* 2012). The nucleotide change (mutation) of guanine to adenine

at position -308, also known as rs1800629 at the TNF- $\alpha$  promoter region forms the three common genotypes: not detected (GG), heterozygous (GA) and homozygotes (AA).

TNF is employed against a variety of pathogens (defence against infection), each relating to a specific pattern of risk or benefit. This could favour the diversity of genetic and environmental elements controlling or influencing TNF production. The relationship between genetic variation of TNF- $\alpha$  and anthropometric variables associated with insulin resistance and diabetes were demonstrated as early as 1999 by Zinman *et al.* (1999).

TNF- $\alpha$  is an important cytokine regulating factor in insulin pathways, stimulating the release of free fatty acids from adipocytes. Several studies have implicated TNF- $\alpha$  gene variation, in the development of NASH. The levels of TNF- $\alpha$  was reported higher in steatohepatitis subjects when compared to healthy controls. Functional SNPs are associated with an increased risk of genetic susceptibility to NAFLD. A frequency of 0.31 was reported in carriers of the -238 TNF- $\alpha$  polymorphism compared to 0.15 in the control group. Patients positive for both the -238 and -308 TNF- $\alpha$  polymorphisms exhibited higher insulin resistance, a higher prevalence of impaired glucose tolerance, and a lower number of associated risk factors for steatosis (Wang *et al.* 2011).

The synthesis of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as  $TNF-\alpha$  is an early and important marker of liver injury, triggering the production of many immune-modulatory cytokines resulting in the recruitment of inflammatory cells to initiate fibrogenesis. The depletion of critical important cytokines impairs the liver's ability to regenerate itself, emphasizing the importance of cytokines in liver regeneration (Cressman *et al.* 1996).

Chronic low grade inflammation has been implicated in both obese and diabetic patients. Enhanced TNF- $\alpha$  expression observed in adipose tissue of obese individuals reduced synergistically with weight loss (Tilg and Moschen, 2010). Fatty acids and TNF- $\alpha$ molecules stimulate the inhibitory phosphorylation of serine in the insulin receptor. This demonstrated the role of TNF- $\alpha$  in the pathogenesis of diabetes and/ or obesity. TNF- $\alpha$ antibody administration is beneficial in metabolic inflammation and has been demonstrated to improve steatosis (Barbuio *et al.* 2007). TNF- $\alpha$  expression in NASH/NAFLD patients significantly correlated with the degree of fibrosis (Manco *et al.* 2007; Wong *et al.* 2006). Ligands of the peroxisome proliferator receptor gamma (PPAR<sub> $\gamma$ </sub>), pioglitazone, are able to suppress TNF- $\alpha$  function which positively affect fatty liver disease (Musso *et al.* 2012).

It is clear from the aforementioned that NAFLD/NASH has a heritable component, emphasizing that genetic components may predispose individuals to these traits. NAFLD is a syndrome overlapping with obesity related traits and insulin resistance; it seems likely that treating or managing these diseases could influence the genetic aspect of the syndrome.

#### Disease association

Overproduction of TNF-alpha has been associated with a variety of human diseases, including obesity, insulin resistance, hypertension, osteoporosis and cancer. The risk of acute kidney allograft rejection was 2.5 times higher among the A-allele carriers compared to the GG carriers in patients having transplant surgery (Pawlik *et al.* 2005). A meta-analysis of 2500 participants indicated that carriers of the A-allele were 1.46 times higher at risk of developing asthma compared to individuals without the risk allele (Aoki *et al.* 2006). The association between rs1800629 and the risk of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease was statistically significant in the Asian population (Zhang *et al.* 2011). It was proposed that TNF- $\alpha$  could be a modifying gene for diabetes; especially in type 2 diabetic patients from families with a history of both type 1 and type 2 diabetes. The -308 G>A TNF- $\alpha$  variant was associated with an insulin deficient phenotype in type 2 diabetic patients (Li *et al.* 2003).

Circulating TNF- $\alpha$  molecules derived from adipose tissue induces the activation of serine kinases, which stimulates the transcription of inflammatory genes. These genes transcribe for an inflammatory protein within tissues, including the liver and muscles, enhancing inflammation and insulin resistance (Kelly *et al.* 2011).

The significance of the TNF-alpha -308 A-allele in metabolic syndrome was demonstrated in a meta-analysis, indicating a 23% increased risk of developing obesity compared with controls as well as significantly higher systolic arterial blood pressure and plasma insulin levels (Sookoian *et al.* 2005). TNF promotes the inflammatory response, which in turn causes many of the clinical problems associated with autoimmune disorders commonly treated by using TNF inhibitors (e.g. infliximab/Remicade, adalimumab/Humira, etanercept/Enbrel) (Serio, 2003; Utz *et al.* 2003). Relevant

#### **Review of Literature**

autoimmune disorders include rheumatoid arthritis (Guis *et al.* 2007), ankylosing spondylitis (Zhu and Yang, 2008), Crohn's disease (Han *et al.* 2010), psoriasis (Li *et al.* 2007) and refractory asthma (Aoki *et al.* 2006). Furthermore depressive symptoms improved in individuals with major depression when TNF- $\alpha$  levels were reduced (Cerri *et al.* 2010). According to Tilg and Moschen, (2011) more than 80% of individuals with the heterozygous rs1800629 TNF- $\alpha$  genotype (GA) exhibited inflammatory liver disease (NASH), compared to only 19.7% without the risk associated A-allele. The GA genotype group demonstrated more liver fibrosis, elevated TNF- $\alpha$  serum levels and a higher rate of insulin resistance, leading to the conclusion that variation of TNF- $\alpha$  may predispose individuals to develop NASH. Table 1.2 summarises examples of medical conditions associated with genetic variation in the TNF- $\alpha$  gene.

Associated disorder	Reference
Allograft rejection	Pawlik <i>et al.</i> 2005
Asthma	Aoki <i>et al</i> . 2006
Ankylosing spondylitis	Zhu and Yang, 2008
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	Zhang <i>et al</i> . 2011
Crohn's disease	Ferreira <i>et al</i> . 2005; Han <i>et al.</i> 2010
Graves' disease	Li <i>et al</i> . 2008
Heart disease	Antonicelli <i>et al</i> . 2005
Hepatocellular carcinoma	Jeng <i>et al</i> . 2007
Leprosy	Vejbaesya <i>et al</i> . 2007
Lymphoma	Bel <i>et al</i> . 2007
Major depression	Cerri <i>et al</i> . 2010
Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis	Tilg and Moschen, 2011
Psoriasis	Li <i>et al</i> . 2007
Rheumatoid arthritis	Guis <i>et al.</i> 2007

**Table 1.2.** A summary of disorders that have been associated with TNF- $\alpha$  gene variation

#### Population genetics

The frequency of the -308 TNF $\alpha$  (G>A) SNP varies between different ethnic groups. For instance, the minor allele frequency in Chinese individuals is 9%, French and Scandinavian 16%, Germans 18% and up to 24% in Australians (Feng *et al.* 2011). The overall frequency of the -308 polymorphism in a NAFLD population group studied by Wang *et al.* (2012) was 14.2% and in the control group 15.6%. The genotype distribution of the TNF- $\alpha$  -308 polymorphism in 244 South African women with cervical cancer was 71% (GG), 26% (GA) and 3% (AA) respectively (Govan *et al.* 2006). A study conducted by Stanczuk *et al.* (2003) in Zimbabwe reported that 72% (GG) of cervical cancer patients tested negative for TNF- $\alpha$  -308, 27% (GA) were heterozygous and 1% homozygous (AA) for the risk-associated allele .

## **Combined effects**

Macrophages infiltrating adipose tissue, promote the production of cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$ , interleukin 6 (IL-6) and monocyte chemo-attractant protein-1 (MCP-1). These cytokines contribute to the development of inflammation-induced insulin resistance and eventually type 2 diabetes (Gonzalez *et al.* 2005; Heilbronn and Campbell, 2008). Exercise improves both insulin sensitivity and inflammation status in obese individuals compared with lean individuals (Kelly *et al.* 2011). The combined advantage of managing both dietary carbohydrate intake (Low-glycaemic index food) and lifestyle factors (exercise) were demonstrated in obese individuals, suggesting potential reversal of the effects of obesity on inflammation and insulin resistance. Furthermore, lifestyle and diet intervention decreased circulating TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6 and MCP-1 cytokines, collectively controlling hyperglycaemia in patients (Hartman *et al.* 2010).

Co-existence of the TNF-alpha -308 G>A and IL-6 -174G>C gene variations (A-C allelic combination) is a strong predictor for conversion of insulin resistance to type II diabetes. When considered separately, only the TNF-alpha -308 A-allele predicted the progression to type II diabetes, but the combined effect is much stronger due to gene-gene interaction (Haddy *et al.* 2005).

In NASH patients elevated hepatocyte apoptosis significantly correlated with disease severity, suggesting that apoptotic cells could be a powerful predictor of NASH (Zhang *et al.* 2010). TNF- $\alpha$  is not only involved in the pathogenesis of NAFLD, it also correlates to

other components of metabolic syndrome. Its effect on metabolic syndrome is marked through changes in lipid metabolism and insulin levels.  $TNF-\alpha$  is a marker of systemic inflammation during cardiovascular events and a risk factor of metabolic syndrome which forms part of a constellation of risk factors contributing to the pathogenesis of NAFLD in South African patients (Kruger, 2008).

### **1.6.** Peroxisome proliferator nuclear receptor gamma (PPARy\_MIM ID\* 601487)

Peroxisome proliferator nuclear receptors, such as peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPAR<sub> $\gamma$ </sub>), induce the proliferation of peroxisomes. These organelles contribute to the oxidation of fatty acids and control the expression of multiple targeted genes. PPARs serve as unique lipid sensors, activated by both fatty acids and metabolic by-products redirecting the metabolism. Although PPAR<sub> $\gamma$ </sub> is expressed throughout the body it is mainly expressed in liver and adipose tissue where it's involved in adipocyte differentiation (Gouda *et al.* 2010).

## **Molecular genetics**

Somatic cell hybridization and linkage analysis mapped the PPAR $\gamma$  gene to chromosome position 3p25. The gene contains 9 exons and spans 100 kb producing 2 protein isoforms, PPARG1 and PPARG2 with alternative mRNA splicing of the gene (Fajas *et al.* 1997; Greene *et al.* 1995). The unique ligand binding domain of PPAR $\gamma$  mark its mode for receptor interaction that translates into distinct pharmacological properties (e.g. Rosiglitazone and Thiazolidinedione anti-diabetic drugs). Modulators of PPAR $\gamma$  are selective for PPAR $\gamma$  insulin signalling and adipogenic signalling pathways. The C to G missense mutation at nucleotide position 34 of the PPAR $\gamma$  gene results in the substitution of an alanine for a proline at amino acid position 12 (CCG-Pro to GCG-Ala). The proline variant is associated with a reduction in PPAR $\gamma$  activity and differential lipid response to dietary fat intake (Gouda *et al.* 2010).

Type 2 diabetes develops after years of increased insulin resistance and eventual loss and failure of pancreatic beta-cells. The genetic constitution of an individual may determine who is likely to develop insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes or who, regardless of their diet or lack of exercise, may be resistant to the development of diabetes. PPAR<sub>Y</sub> has been identified as a key factor in this process due to its critical role in regulation of adipogenesis, insulin sensitivity and lipid metabolism (Gouda *et al.*  2010). The association between the Pro12Ala variant (rs1801282) and diabetes has been a major focus of several meta-analysis studies (Altshulder *et al.* 2000; Gouda *et al.* 2010; Ludovico *et al.* 2007; Vardarli, 2007). Insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes associated with this SNP often co-exist with CVD, obesity, dyslipidaemia, non-alcoholic hepatic steatosis and metabolic syndrome.

#### **Disease association**

PPAR<sub>Y</sub> represents an attractive NAFLD candidate gene, because both hepatic lipid metabolism and insulin resistance are contributors to the pathogenic phenomena of NAFLD (Gawrieh *et al.* 2012). Moreover, numerous PPAR<sub>Y</sub> agonists have been used in therapeutic intervention trials for individuals with NASH, emphasizing the role of PPAR<sub>Y</sub> in liver related diseases (Sanyal *et al.* 2010).

A major contributor to end stage renal disease in developed countries is diabetic nephropathy and PPARy has been linked to the risk of developing this condition (Liu et al, 2010). Enhanced oxidative stress, especially in hyperglycaemic conditions contributes to the development and progression of diabetic nephropathy (Forbes et al. 2008). A significant association between carriers of the Pro12 variant and diabetic nephropathy were made, with a possible synergistic interaction between smoking and the PPARy Pro12 genotype (Liu et al. 2010). Experimental studies of PPARy agonists showed a beneficial effect of PPARy variants on ulcerative colitis. The Pro12Ala SNP influences PPARy activity, especially in immunocytes and epithelial cells, as a result of this susceptibility to inflammatory bowel disease is altered (Zhang et al. 2012). Another study indicated a significant association between the Pro12Ala mutation and Crohn's disease (Aoyagi et al. 2010). Cellular and immune dysfunction in combination with environmental factors influence the transcription of PPARy therefore influencing the epithelial cells found in patients with ulcerative colitis. Genetic variation in PPARy alters the susceptibility to hepatic steatosis, lobular inflammation and fibrosis in patients with histologically advanced NAFLD (Gawrieh et al. 2012).

The clinical outcome of patients may be affected by the genetic background of the individual. To determine whether low-penetrance mutations like the Pro12Ala could predispose to NAFLD all known contributing factors need to be considered in

conjunction with clinical co-factors. Table 1.3 summarises examples of medical conditions associated with genetic variation in the PPARγ gene.

**Table 1.3.** A summary of the disorders that have been associated with PPAR $\gamma$  gene variation

Associated Disorder	Reference
Crohns disease	Aoyagi et al. 2010
Diabetes	Gawrieh <i>et al.</i> 2012
Diabetic nephropathy	Lui <i>et al</i> . 2010
Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease	Gawrieh <i>et al.</i> 2012
Polycystic ovary syndrome	Christopoulos et al. 2010
Ulcerative colitis	Zhang <i>et al</i> . 2012

# **Combined effects**

As previously mentioned, PPAR $\gamma$  controls the expression of several genes involved in adipocyte differentiation, lipid storage and insulin sensitivity. PPAR $\gamma$  is also activated by fatty acids, thus the effect of fatty acids on glucose metabolism might be mediated through the action of PPAR $\gamma$  and therefore could modify its association with fatty acids glucose levels and insulin resistance (Yionen *et al.* 2008).

Diets rich in polyunsaturated fatty acids (eicosapentaenoic acid) may up regulate the expression of PPAR $\gamma$  to a greater extent compared to diets high in saturated fatty acids, thereby mediating an individual's physiological response to lipids. An intervention study suggested that fish oil supplementation could affect insulin concentrations and serum triacylglycerol levels especially in PPAR $\gamma$  genotypic individuals (Lindi *et al.* 2003).

Carriers of the Ala12 variant eating a westernised diet have a lower risk of developing insulin resistance and diabetes than Pro/Pro homozygotes on the same diet (Hara *et al.* 2002). In the presence of this protective allele, intake of a significantly greater amount of polyunsaturated and monounsaturated fats than saturated fats exert a beneficial effect on weight loss. The possible mechanisms by which fatty acids beneficially mediate

#### Review of Literature

glucose metabolism include lowering of triacylglycerol, free fatty acids levels and intramuscular lipids (Pighin *et al.* 2003).

Variation in PPARγ is considered to be an important modifier of insulin resistance in Caucasian women with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS), a common endocrinopathy in women of reproductive age. PCOS is characterized by hyperandrogenism and chronic anovulation and is associated with hyperinsulinemia, cardiovascular risk and endothelial dysfunction (Chrisopoulos *et al.* 2010). Insulin sensitizing agents such as the thiazolidinediones, an agonist for the PPAR receptors, improved ovarian androgen biosynthesis and ovulatory function (Orio *et al.* 2003). Identification of the Pro12Ala polymorphism in women with PCOS is associated with an increased body mass index (BMI) and attenuation of insulin resistance. Non-diabetic Pro/Ala heterozygous Caucasian patients were found to be more insulin sensitive than Pro/Pro homozygotes with PCOS, as evidenced by a lower homeostasis model assessment index and lower levels of insulin at both the fasting and 2 hour time points during the oral glucose tolerance test (Hara *et al.* 2002).

One of the first studies to explore a gene-diet interaction with PPARy was a study conducted by Luan *et al.* (2001). Data from the study suggested that when the dietary polyunsaturated fat to saturated fat ratio is low, the mean BMI in Ala carriers is greater than in Pro homozygotes and when the ratio is high the opposite is true. PPARy ligands (fatty acids) might be more effective stimulators of adipogenesis especially in Pro12 individuals.

The need to include environmental data when assessing low penetrance mutations such as the Pro12Ala SNP was illustrated by Robitaille *et al.* (2003). They found the PPARγ Ala12 variant to be associated with a higher BMI, waist circumference, fat mass and a greater accumulation of visceral and sub-cutaneous adipose tissue. However, when dietary fat and saturated fat was also taken into account, they found that these dietary variables were closely associated with components of the metabolic syndrome in Pro/Pro homozygotes, but not in Ala carriers. Pro12 individuals are considered to be hyper-responders, and are more sensitive and susceptible to environmental stimuli such as fat intake. This observation suggests a protective role in individuals that carry the Ala12 allele, emphasizing that not every one responds to a high saturated fat diet in the same way (inter-individual variability). The PPARγ polymorphism modulates dietary fat intake and components of metabolic syndrome contributes to the pathogenesis of NAFLD.

## Population genetics

According to Paracchini *et al.* (2005) the frequency of PPARγ 34 C>G minor allele ranged from 2% to 18% in the general population The 12Ala allele frequency in Caucasian control samples were 12.7% (median) and in East Asians 4.5% (median) (Gouda *et al.* 2010). It is important to denote the specific transcript variant used with its unique reference sequence to analyse and interpret the Pro12Ala results obtained. According to NCBI (National Centre for Biotechnology Information) the rs1801282 (Pro12Ala) variant accounts for an amino acid change at position 12. The protein coding missense mutation is situated in an exon (ENSP287820). However, depending on the specific transcript uploaded and used from NCBI, the risk variant (Pro12Ala) is situated in a synonymous coding region.

The progressive increase in the prevalence of insulin resistance and its related clinical manifestations (type 2 diabetes, obesity etc.) have led to the identification of NAFLD and its more severe and progressive subtype, NASH, as an emerging disease involving a high percentage of individuals maintaining a western type of lifestyle. Recent studies are focused on new molecular mediators that may be implicated in the progression of the disease, which may identify new molecular targets that could potentially become the object of therapeutic interventions. However, further research needs to identify the different pathways that lead to inert disease (simple fatty liver) or to progressive disease (NASH) and validating the current evidence to establish the most appropriate pharmacological and non-pharmacological therapeutic approach in treating individuals with liver related diseases.

## 1.7. Aims and Objectives of this study

The long-term objective of the study is to develop a pathology supported gene-based intervention program for improved clinical management of patients with NAFLD/NASH. The specific aims were:

- Analytical validation of high-throughput real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) assays (for selected SNPs in the FTO, TNF-a and PPARg genes) against direct sequencing as the gold standard
- Comparison of genotype distribution and allele frequencies between NAFLD
   patient subgroups and controls
- Correlation of clinical and biochemical parameters of insulin resistance with genotype and environmental factors assessed in NAFLD patients
- Determination of the potential impact of risk factors incorporated into a genotype risk score on age of onset in fatty liver disease patients in relation to NAFLD disease severity

Ultimately, these findings will be incorporated into a comprehensive genetic screening assay for patients at increased risk of metabolic associated disorders (e.g. insulin resistance, CVD) and liver disease to be performed in conjunction with a medical and lifestyle assessment to facilitate the prevention of cumulative risk.

# CHAPTER II

Research

Methodology

## 2.1. Study Population

Study participants were recruited at the Gastroenterology Unit of the Department of Internal Medicine, (Tygerberg Academic Hospital University of Stellenbosch) and from clinicians working at other academic or private hospitals. Participants who fulfilled the criteria for fatty liver disease were grouped as steatosis (fatty liver types 1,2) and steatohepatitis with inflammation (NASH types 3,4).

#### Inclusion criteria

- Voluntary written informed consenting NAFLD patients.
- Histologically and ultrasound confirmed features of NAFLD.

## **Exclusion criteria**

• Females with a daily intake of alcohol above 20g and males with a daily alcohol intake above 30g.

- Patients with a secondary attributable cause for fatty liver disease;
  - Nutritional (rapid weight loss, starvation, intestinal bypass surgery)
  - Drugs (Glucocorticoids, Estrogens etc.)
  - Toxins
  - Metabolic (Weber-Christian disease, Wolman's disease, Acute fatty liver of pregnancy, Reye's disease)

• Any other histological or blood results suggestive of liver disease;

- Increased bilirubin
- Hypoalbuminemia
- Elevated liver enzymes
- Hepatitis

A questionnaire was used to indicate alcohol consumption and other personal information (including lifestyle, medications and dietary elements, family history, and clinical characteristics). Liver function tests including ALT and AST were used to diagnose underlying liver disease. Insulin resistance was determined for each patient by

#### Research Methodology

using the homeostasis model assessment (HOMA) of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) (fasting insulin  $[\mu U/ml] \times$  [fasting glucose {mmol/l}/22.5]). In addition lipid status was assessed by measuring the total cholesterol, LDL cholesterol, HDL cholesterol and triglycerides using standard methods.

DNA samples of 119 patients with fatty liver on ultrasound, of which 88 had histologically-confirmed NAFLD (47 Coloured, 35 Caucasian, 5 Black and 1 Indian), were obtained as an extension of the parent study performed by Kruger *et al.* (2010). For the purpose of analytical validation of the SNP assays the 31 patients with fatty liver on ultrasound only were grouped with the histologically confirmed patients into the "NAFLD group". For the purpose of genotype-phenotype correlations the 31 patients with fatty liver on ultrasound only was excluded from the NAFLD patients (types 1-4) for comparative analysis and was grouped as "obese". Within this group 23 patients were Coloured, 6 patients Caucasian and 2 patients Black. Hereafter we refer to the 31 patients with fatty liver on ultrasound (not histologically confirmed) as the obese patient group. Reasons for not confirming fatty liver on histology include insufficient clinical indication for liver biopsy and exclusion of NAFLD after liver biopsy.

A specialized data extraction tool was used to retrieve information from an online genetic database (<u>http://gknowmix.org</u>) whereby Caucasian control individuals (n=166) for this study was selected. Any familial related individuals in the database were excluded using their family index number. Individuals with a medical history of insulin resistance, diabetes or NAFLD were also excluded from the control group.

#### Ethical Approval

Ethical approval for the research project on NAFLD individuals has been granted in 2004 by the University of Stellenbosch, under project number N04/02/033 and thereafter annually approved until December 2012. In addition, ethical approval has been granted for the inclusion of control samples recruited as part of project N09/08/224 focused on individuals with and without features of the metabolic syndrome.

# 2.2. DNA Extraction

2.2.1. DNA extraction from Whole Blood using the QIAamp<sup>®</sup> DNA Blood Midi/Maxi kit supplied by QIAGEN (Spin protocol)

The QIAamp DNA whole blood protocol was used to extract and purify DNA from 2 ml of whole blood that has been treated with EDTA.

QIAGEN protease stock solution (200  $\mu$ I) was added with 2 ml of whole blood into the bottom of a 15 ml centrifuge tube and mixed briefly by vigorous shaking (vortexing) to increase the overall efficacy of the reaction. The protease enzyme will conduct proteolysis (protein catabolism) in the blood sample, lysing the cells to release their DNA from the nucleus into the solution. Buffer AL (2.4 ml) was added to the 15 ml centrifuge tube and mixed thoroughly by inverting the tube 15 times, followed by additional vigorous shaking of 1 min to ensure adequate lysis of the sample and to yield a homogenous solution. The homogenous solution was then air incubated on a dry block at 70  $^{\circ}$ C for 10 min to ensure for a maximum DNA yield after lysis.

Upon removal from the dry block 2 ml of ethanol (96%-100%) was added to the homogenised sample in the 15 ml centrifuge tube and mixed by inverting the tube 10 times, followed by additional vigorous shaking (vortexing). In order to ensure efficient binding of the lysate to the QIAamp<sup>®</sup> Midi spin column, it is essential to mix the sample thoroughly after the addition of ethanol.

One half (~3 ml) of the solution volume was carefully transferred on to the QIAamp<sup>®</sup> Midi spin column and placed back in to the 15 ml centrifuge tube and centrifuged at 1850 x g (3000 rpm) for 3 min. When centrifugation was completed the filtrate was discarded and the remainder (~3 ml) of the solution were transferred on to the QIAamp<sup>®</sup> Midi spin column and centrifuged at 1850 x g (3000 rpm) for 3 min. The QIAamp<sup>®</sup> Midi spin column was removed after centrifugation and the remaining filtrate discarded. Complete removal of the filtrate is necessary to prevent the nozzle of the QIAamp<sup>®</sup> Midi spin column from being submerged in the filtrate, which could reduce the washing efficacy.

Each column was properly sealed to avoid cross-contamination during centrifugation. The column was placed back into the 15 ml centrifuge tube and 2 ml of the wash buffer AW1 was added on to the column membrane and centrifuged at 4500 x g (5000 rpm) for 1 min. Thereafter wash buffer AW2 (2 ml) was added on to the QIAamp<sup>®</sup> Midi spin column and centrifuged at 4500 x g (5000 rpm) for 15 min. The increased centrifugation time is essential to remove all traces of Buffer AW2 from the column before elution, as

#### Research Methodology

the residual ethanol in the elute may cause inhibition of PCR reactions leading to falsenegative results.

The QIAamp<sup>®</sup> Midi spin column was then placed in a clean 15 ml centrifuge collection tube and the collection tube containing the filtrate was discarded. Nuclease free water (300  $\mu$ l), equilibrated to room temperature (15-25 °C) was added directly onto the membrane of the column and incubated at room temperature for 5 min and centrifuged at 4500 x g (5000 rpm) for 2 min. To obtain maximum concentration, the eluted (300  $\mu$ l) sample was reloaded onto the membrane of the QIAamp<sup>®</sup> Midi spin column and incubated at room temperature (15-25 °C) for 5 min followed by centrifugation at 4500 x g (5000 rpm) for 2 min. The DNA solution was placed on a shaker at room temperature overnight to ensure proper homogenization of the sample. Thereafter it was stored at 4 °C for frequent use and the remaining DNA solution stored in aliquots at – 20°C for long term use.

# 2.2.2. DNA extraction from Saliva samples using the Oragene<sup>®</sup>-DNA/ saliva Kit

The following step-by-step protocol was used to purify DNA from 500 µl of Oragene<sup>®</sup>-DNA/saliva sample.

The Oragene<sup>®</sup>-DNA/saliva sample was mixed thoroughly by inverting the vial several times followed by gentle shaking for a few seconds. This was to ensure that the viscous saliva sample was properly mixed with the Oragene<sup>®</sup>-DNA solution. The sample was incubated at 50  $^{\circ}$ C in a water bath for a minimum of 1 hour to ensure that the DNA was adequately released and the nucleases permanently inactivated. The mixed Oragene<sup>®</sup>-DNA/saliva sample (500 µl) was transferred to a 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tube. A volume of 20 µl of Oragene<sup>®</sup>-DNA purifier (OG-L2P) was added to the microcentrifuge tube and mixed by vortexing for 10 seconds.

The sample was incubated on ice for 10 min to allow for the precipitation of impurities and inhibitors. After incubation the vial was centrifuged at room temperature (15-25°C) for 5 min at 13 000 rpm (15000 x g), resulting in separation of the DNA containing supernatant from the precipitated impurities.

Glycogen was added to the supernatant to make the pellet more easily visible. The supernatant was carefully transferred with a pipet tip into a fresh microcentrifuge tube

and the pellet containing the impurities was discarded. An equal amount (500  $\mu$ l) of 95-100% ethanol at room temperature (15-25°C) was added to the supernatant and mixed gently by inverting the tube 10 times. Thereafter, it was incubated for 10 min at room temperature (15-25°C) to allow the DNA to fully precipitate.

The tube was loaded into a microcentrifuge in a known orientation (ex. hinge of the tube pointing away from the centre of the rotor in order to visualize the tiny pellet at the tip of the tube below the hinge) and centrifuged at room temperature for 2 min at 13000 rpm (15000 x g). The supernatant was carefully removed with a pipet tip and discarded without disturbing the DNA pellet. A volume of 250  $\mu$ I ethanol (70%) was added onto the DNA pellet and incubated at room temperature (15-25°C) for 1 min. Upon removal of the 70% ethanol, 100  $\mu$ I of DNA buffer (Nuclease Free Water) was added to reconstitute the DNA pellet, followed by vortexing for at least 5 seconds. The freshly extracted DNA from the Oragene<sup>®</sup>-DNA/saliva sample was incubated overnight on a shaker at room temperature (15-25°C) to ensure homogenization and stored at 4°C for frequent use.

# 2.3. DNA Quantification

A NanoDrop<sup>®</sup> ND-1000 spectrophotometer (NanoDrop<sup>®</sup>, Techonologies, USA) with the v3.5.2 software package was used to determine the concentration and purity of the DNA samples.

The instrument was turned on followed by selection of the Nucleic Acid analysis option, thereafter cleaning of the pedestal and loading of a Nuclease Free Water sample onto the pedestal to initialize the instrument. A volume of 2  $\mu$ I RNase Free water was placed on the pedestal to blank (containing all the components of your solution except what is to be tested for i.e. DNA) the instrument before making any measurements. Upon completion of the blanking process, all the samples were measured and stored. The pedestal was cleaned between each measurement with 70% ethanol followed by double distilled water. The ratio absorbance reading at 230 nm, 260 nm and 280 nm was used to assess the purity of DNA. Purity values for all samples were within the acceptable range (260/280 absorbance ratio: 1.6-1.9; 260/230 absorbance ratio : >1.9) indicating the absence of contaminants such as proteins, salts or phenols in the sample. Nuclease free water was used in the dilution of all the DNA samples to obtain a final concentration of 10 ng/ $\mu$ l, as required for Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction instruments.

## 2.4. Polymerase Chain Reaction Amplification

### 2.4.1. Oligonucleotide Primers

Oligonucleotide primers were specifically designed to detect genetic variation in the FTO (rs9939609, intron 1 T>A), PPAR $\gamma$  (rs1801282, 34 C>G, P12A) and TNF- $\alpha$  (rs1800629, - 308 G>A) genes using the LightCycler<sup>®</sup> Probe Design Software 2.0 (Version 1.0. R.36) package. The genomic reference sequences for FTO (NG\_012969.1) PPAR $\gamma$  (NG\_011749.1) and TNF- $\alpha$  (NG\_007462.1) were obtained from the national centre for biotechnology information (NCBI, www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov) database. The primers used in the conventional polymerase chain reaction (PCR) method and direct DNA sequencing reactions are summarized in table 2.1.

Research Methodology

**Table 2.1.** Particulars of the primers used in the conventional PCR experiment and direct DNA sequencing.

Gene	*SNP	Primer	Nucleotide Sequence (5' to 3')	G/C Content (%)	T <sub>M</sub> ( <sup>°</sup> C)	Τ <sub>Α</sub> ( <sup>°</sup> C)	SNP Position	Amplicon Size (bp)
ETO	ro0020600	Forward	CTGGCTCTTGAATGAAATAGGA	40.9	52.4	52.0	Intron 1	275
FTO rs9939609 –	Reverse	CTTAAAGTTAATGGCTTCAGGG	40.9	51.5	55.9	T> <u>A</u>	210	
	ro1901292	Forward	CTCCTAATAGGACAGTGCCA	50.0	53.5	55	P12A	724
PPARY 151801282	Reverse	GCTGAGAGTACTTCAAGAGG	50.0	52.1	- 55	34 <u>C</u> >G	734	
	ro1900620	Forward	CCAGCATTATGAGTCTCCG	52.6	52.7	56	-308	740
1117-0 151600029	Reverse	GCTTCTCTCCCTCTTAGC	55.6	51.8	- 50	G> <u>A</u>	742	

\*Single nucleotide polymorphism

# 2.4.2. PCR Amplification Mixture and Thermal Cycling Conditions.

Polymerase chain reaction amplification of the various amplicons under investigation was performed with the Promega Go*Taq*<sup>®</sup> Flexi DNA polymerase PCR kit. Applied Biosystems<sup>®</sup> thermal cyclers (2700, 2720 and 9700) were used to amplify the specific region of interest in 25 µl reactions. The reaction mixture consisted of 100 ng/µl template DNA, 5 x Colourless Go *Taq*<sup>®</sup> flexi buffer (Promega), 0.2 mM dNTP mix (dATP, dTTP, dGTP, dCTP) from Fermentas, 1.5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub> (Promega), 0.24 µM of each primer (Forward and Reverse) (WhiteHead Scientific) and 1.25 U Go *Taq*<sup>®</sup> DNA Polymerase (Promega). The Promega PCR reagent mixture was used for all the primer sets under investigation.

The specific PCR conditions (initial denaturation, denaturation, annealing, extension and final extension) used to amplify each gene (FTO, PPAR $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$ ) are summarised in tables 2.2- 2.4.

Steps	Cycles	Temperature (°C)	Time (min)
Initial denaturation	1	95	02:00
Denaturation		95	00:30
Annealing	30	53.9	00:30
Extension		72	00:30
Final Extension	1	72	05:00

 Table 2.2. Thermal Cycling Conditions for amplification of FTO.

**Research Methodology** 

Table 2.3. Thermal	Cycling Cond	ditions for amplification	on of PPARy.
--------------------	--------------	---------------------------	--------------

Steps	Cycles	Temperature (°C)	Time (min)
Initial denaturation	1	95	02:00
Denaturation		95	00:30
Annealing	35	55	00:30
Extension		72	00:30
Final Extension	1	72	05:00

**Table 2.4.** Thermal Cycling Conditions for amplification of TNF-α.

Steps	Cycles	Temperature (°C)	Time (min)
Initial denaturation	1	95	02:00
Denaturation		95	00:30
Annealing	40	56	00:30
Extension		72	00:30
Final Extension	1	72	05:00

# 2.5. Gel Electrophoresis

PCR products were electrophoresed on a 2.5% (w/v) horizontal agarose gel to determine successful amplification. The gel mixture consisted of 2.5g Seakem<sup>®</sup> LE agarose, 100 ml Tris-borate/EDTA (1xTBE) (90 mM Tris-HCI (pH 8.0), 90 mM boric acid (H<sub>3</sub>BO<sub>3</sub>), 1 mM EDTA (Ethylenediaminetetraacetic Acid) at a pH of 8.0 and 70  $\mu$ l of 0.01% (v/v) Ethidium Bromide (EtBr) that was added to the electrophoretic buffer (1x TBE). The PCR product (5  $\mu$ l) and Ficoll Orange G loading buffer (5  $\mu$ l) [consisting of 0.02% (w/v) ficoll, 10 mM EDTA at pH 7.0] was thoroughly mixed on Para-film and loaded into the wells of the

agarose gel. A 100bp molecular size marker from Promega, Wisconsin USA verified amplification of the correct fragment size. Electrophoresis of the PCR products was conducted at 80 V for one hour in 1 x TBE buffer solution. Visualization of the PCR products was accomplished using an ultraviolet light trans-illuminator (GibcoBRL Life Technologies, California, USA).

### 2.6. DNA Sequencing Analysis

PCR products obtained for FTO (T>A), PPAR $\gamma$  (C>G) and TNF- $\alpha$  (G>A) were sent to the Central DNA Sequencing facility of Stellenbosch University for automated sequencing as well as post-PCR clean up. FinchTV Version 1.4.0 (developed by Geospiza Research Team) was used to analyze the ABI<sup>TM</sup> files received from the DNA sequencing facility to ultimately generate electropherograms. The application of the software was to view the nucleotide sequences of each gene (FTO, PPAR $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ ) and compare it directly to the reference sequence as obtained from the NCBI (National Centre for Biotechnology Information) database for detection of SNPs.

The automated sequencing technique consists of a reaction mixture which includes a DNA template, nucleotides (dNTPs and ddNTPs), an enzyme and a single primer (forward or reverse). Four distinct colours of fluorescence are used to differentiate between the four ddNTP (ddATP, ddCTP, ddGTP and ddTTP) molecules. The sequential addition of the bases to the 3'-end of the primer sustain the elongation process (5'-3' direction) until the incorporation of a ddNTP. The extension reaction requires a hydroxyl group (OH<sup>-</sup>) on the third carbon of the molecule, but ddNTP molecules carry a hydrogen atom instead therefore the extension reaction is terminated.

Upon completion of the sequencing reaction (either forward or reverse primer) that is almost identical to PCR (both forward and reverse primers), gel electrophoreses follow. The automated sequencer will detect the colour of the last base (fluorescently labelled) through excitation of a laser beam at a specific wavelength (colour dependant). Based on the wavelength of light detected by the spectrograph, the light will be separated by a specialized charge coupled camera. All the data captured by the sequencer, are represented in sequentially determined colour peaks in the form of an analysable electropherogram.

# 2.7. Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR) Amplification

# 2.7.1. Applied Biosystems<sup>®</sup> *Taq*Man<sup>®</sup> SNP Genotyping Assays

The ABI<sup>™</sup> *Taq*Man<sup>®</sup> SNP Genotyping 5' nuclease technology Assays are standardized assays that use two allele-specific *Taq*Man<sup>®</sup> Minor Groove Binder (MGB) probes (VIC<sup>®</sup> and FAM<sup>™</sup> dye-labelled) and a specific PCR primer pair to detect the single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) of interest. The specific probes and primers uniquely align with the template DNA, to provide unmatched specificity. The pre-designed assays in this study were used for end-point genotyping by allelic discrimination analysis for SNPs. Two different real-time PCR instruments were used i.e. the ABI<sup>™</sup> 7900 HT fast real-time PCR machine and the Corbett Rotor-Gene<sup>™</sup> 6000. The assay employed in this study were FTO intron 1 T>A (rs9939609, C\_30090620\_10), PPARγ Pro12Ala, 34 C>G (rs1801282, C\_1129864\_10) and TNF- $\alpha$  -308 G>A (rs1800629, C\_7514879\_10). As required by real-time PCR instruments, the 40x *Taq*Man<sup>®</sup> SNP genotyping assay mixture was diluted to 20x in sterile SABAX water (double distilled water).

# 2.7.2. Applied Biosystems<sup>®</sup> 7900HT

The ABI<sup>™</sup> 7900HT fast real-time PCR system with ABI<sup>™</sup> *Taq*Man<sup>®</sup> SNP genotyping assays was used to genotype large sample quantities obtained during the course of this study. The reaction volume (10 µl) consisted of; 10ng/µl template specific DNA (2.0 µl), 5 µl of universal *Taq*Man<sup>®</sup> genotyping master mix (P/N 4371355), 20x *Taq*Man<sup>®</sup> SNP genotyping assay (0.5 µl) and 2.5 µl SABAX (nuclease-free) water. The amplification run was carried out with a three step thermal cycling program starting with an initial hold step at 95°C for 10 minutes, followed by 45 cycles of denaturation at 92°C for 15 seconds and annealing/extension at 60°C for 1 minute and finally followed by an end-point genotyping allelic discrimination scan.

# 2.7.3. Corbett Rotor-Gene<sup>™</sup> 6000/ QIAGEN Rotor-Gene Q

The Rotor-Gene<sup>™</sup> 6000 series Multiplexing System, 5-Plex HRM model (Corbett Research, Australia) was used with the compatible ABI<sup>™</sup> *Taq*Man<sup>®</sup> SNP genotyping assays (C\_30090620\_10,C\_1129864\_10 and C\_7514879\_10) for mutation detection. Allelic discrimination and scatter plot analysis data of the fluorescence in each channel was obtained during the RT-PCR experiment. A total volume of 10µl per individual

#### Research Methodology

reaction used for allelic discrimination consisted of: 5µl *Taq*Man<sup>®</sup> universal genotyping PCR master mix (P/N 4371355), 10ng/µl template specific DNA (2.0 µl), 20x *Taq*Man<sup>®</sup> SNP genotyping assay (0.5 µl) and 2.5 µl nuclease-free water. The specific thermal cycling program used for amplification was as follows: 45 cycle repeat of the initial hold step for 10 minutes at 95°C, denaturation for 15 seconds at 92°C, followed by an annealing and final extension step for 1 minute at 60°C set to acquire (VIC<sup>®</sup>/ yellow and FAM<sup>™</sup>/ green dye) at the end of each cycling step.

#### 2.8. Statistical Analysis

Population frequencies of the selected SNPs in the FTO, TNF $\alpha$  and PPARy genes studied were estimated from allele counts. Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium was assessed using the exact test. We calculated a risk score for each individual by counting their risk alleles (FTO T>A, TNF-α G>A, PPARγ C>G i.e. A-A-C). We also inferred frequencies of 3-SNP allelic combinations, using the R haplo stats package. Prior to inclusion of the genotyping results in the statistical model used for genotype-phenotype association studies, potential confounders were identified in the data set and adjusted for in order to test for both single independent and combined allelic effects incorporated into the genotype risk score. For descriptive purposes, cross tabulation and frequency tables were used to denote occurrences of various qualitative attributes (such as gender, ethnicity, diagnostic groups, etc.) whereas the median and interguartile range were used to describe quantitative phenotypes (insulin, HOMA-IR, etc.). Log regression models were used to compare pairs of groups, while linear regression models were used to compare quantitative characteristics between diagnostic and genotypic groups and scores. These models were adjusted for possible confounders by including the confounders as factors. Log transformations were used when the distributions of quantitative traits were not symmetric. All p-values and effect sizes were derived from these models. All statistical analyses were done by a qualified biostatistician using functions from R software and R packages genetics and R haplo stats, freely available from http://www.r-project.org.

# **CHAPTER III**

**Results** 

### 3.1. Characteristics of the study population

Functional SNPs in the FTO (rs9939609, intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$  (rs1800629, -308 G>A) and PPAR $\gamma$  (rs1801282, Pro12Ala C>G) genes (Table 3.1) were evaluated in 119 patients and 166 control individuals to evaluate the relationship between genetic and environmental risk factors as may be reflected by biochemical abnormalities implicated in the development or severity of NAFLD. The clinical and biochemical characteristics of the study population are summarised in tables 3.2 and 3.3, respectively. Based on the assessment of clinical usefulness performed as part of the literature review, the SNPs selected for analysis were considered suitable for genotype-phenotype association studies in view of their role in inflammation, obesity, insulin resistance and type II diabetes. The risk-associated alleles as described in this context are underlined in table 3.1.

**Table 3.1.** Single nucleotide polymorphisms studied and their metabolic associations.The risk-associated alleles as previously described in relation to insulin resistance areunderlined.

Risk Area	Gene	Genetic Variation
Obesity and metabolic syndrome features	FTO	rs9939609, Intron 1 T> <u>A</u>
Inflammation and insulin resistance	TNF-α	rs1800629, -308 G> <u>A</u>
Insulin resistance	PPARγ	rs1801282, 34 <u>C</u> >G, P12A

DNA samples of the 166 Caucasian control individuals were used to perform analytical validation of the high-throughput RT-PCR genotyping method, against direct sequencing as the gold standard (Sections 3.2-3.5). Genotyping of the patient study group (n=119) was subsequently performed using the standardized RT-PCR assays for the three selected SNPs. The patients with a fatty liver (without liver biopsies) were grouped separately (n=31) from the 88 histologically confirmed NAFLD patients for comparative studies and included 23 Coloured, 6 Caucasian and 2 Black patients. Within the histologically confirmed NAFLD patients were Coloured, 35 Caucasian, 5 Black and 1 Indian.

Results

**Table 3.2.** Description of clinical characteristics in the general Caucasian control individuals, obese patients with fatty liver on ultrasound and histologically confirmed NAFLD patients, subdivided into types 1,2 and 3,4 (NASH) [median; (inter quartile range)].

	General Caucasian Controls	Obese patients	All NAFLD Patients (types 1-4)	Caucasian NAFLD (types1-4) Patients	Coloured NAFLD (types 1-4) Patients	NAFLD (types 1,2)	NASH (types 3,4)
Ν	166	31	88	35	47	45	43
Male, number	56 (34%)	7 (23%)	28 (32%)	18 (51%)	8 (17%)	16 (36%)	12 (28%)
Female, number	110 (66%)	24 (77%)	60 (68%)	17 (49%)	39 (83%)	29 (64%)	31 (72%)
Age (years)	48 (±12)	47 (±12)	53 (±11)	53 (±9)	54 (±11)	53 (±9)	53 (±12)
BMI (kg/m²)	26 (23-29)	37 (33-43)	33 (30-38)	31 (30-34)	34 (31-39)	33 (31-38)	33 (30-38)
BMI class, number							
Underweight (<18.4kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	3 (2%)	0	0	0	0	0	0
Normal (18.5-24.9 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	64 (39%)	0	4 (5%)	1 (3%)	3 (6%)	2 (4%)	2 (5%)
Overweight (25-30 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	61 (37%)	0	17 (19%)	9 (26%)	7 (15%)	8 (18%)	9 (21%)
Obese (>30 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	35 (21%)	31 (100%)	67 (76%)	25 (71%)	37 (79%)	35 (78%)	32 (74%)
Waist circumference (cm)	91 (81-99)	111 (102-126)	105 (100-114)	109 (103-113)	104 (98-115)	106 (99-112)	104 (100-115)
Alcohol consumption, yes	n/a	1 (3%)	13 (15%)	11 (32%)	1 (2%)	6 (14%)	7 (16%)
Physical activity, yes	115 (70%)	2 (7%)	13 (15%)	8 (24%)	3 (6%)	6 (14%)	7 (17%)
Smoking, yes	8 (5%)	3 (10%)	21 (24%)	9 (26%)	12 (26%)	13 (29%)	8 (19%)
Heart Disease, yes	n/a	2 (6%)	7 (8%)	5 (14%)	1 (2%)	3 (7%)	4 (9%)
Family history, yes							
Diabetes	30 (18%)	18 (75%)	49 (62%)	14 (52%)	33 (72%)	22 (56%)	27 (68)%
Hypertension	n/a	13 (54%)	43 (55%)	10 (37%)	31 (69%)	24 (62%)	19 (49)%
Cardiovascular disease	n/a	7 (30%)	38 (49%)	15 (58%)	22 (48%)	21 (55%)	17 (42)%

n/a, not available

Results

**Table 3.3** Description of biochemical characteristics in the general Caucasian control individuals, obese patients with fatty liver on ultrasound and histologically confirmed NAFLD patients, subdivided into types 1,2 and 3,4 (NASH) [median, (inter quartile range)].

	General <u>Caucasian</u> Controls	Obese Patients	All NAFLD Patients (types 1-4)	<u>Caucasian</u> NAFLD (types1-4)	Coloured NAFLD (types 1-4)	NAFLD (types 1,2)	NASH (types 3,4)
n	166	31	88	35	47	45	43
ALT (units/L)		35 (29-51)	47 (32-68)	57 (45-91)	38 (30-56)	38 (28-62)	51 (38-70)
AST (units/L)		32 (26-51)	34 (27-68)	42 (29-38)	31 (32-50)	33 (24-47)	35 (29-61)
AST/ALT ratio		0.79 (0.68-0.95)	0.77 (0.65-0.94)	0.71 (0.63-0.84)	0.78 (0.65-0.99)	0.79 (0.66-0.98)	0.71 (0.64-0.91)
C-Reactive Protein (mg/l)		6.8 (5.3-11.5)	7.8 (3.4-10.7)	7.8 (3.4-10.5)	6.6 (3.4-10.7)	8.2 (3.8-12)	6.6 (3.3-11)
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)	5.0 (4.7-5.2)	5.6 (5.3-7.1)	6.6 (5.3-8.7)	6.4 (5.3-7.4)	8.0 (5.6-9.2)	5.8 (5.1-8.2)	7.8 (5.9-9)
Insulin concentration (mmol/l)		23 (12-31)	20 (10-28)	19 (10-26)	22 (13-30)	19 (9.8-25)	21 (12-33)
HOMA-IR		0.3 (0.2-1.3)	1.1 (0.7-1.5)	1.1 (0.7-1.4)	1.2 (0.8-1.7)	1.0 (0.6-1.4)	1.3 (0.8-2)
HbA1c (%)	5.3 (5.0-5.6)	7.1 (6.0-8.6)	7.1 (6.0-8.9)	6.3 (5.4-8.4)	7.5 (6.5-9.0)	6.5 (5.6-7.4)	7.9 (6.5-9)
HDL Cholesterol (mmol/l)	1.4 (1.2-1.6)	1.3 (1.0-1.6)	1.2 (1.1-1.4)	1.2 (1.0-1.3)	1.3 (1.1-1.5)	1.2 (1.1-1.4)	1.2 (1.1-2)
LDL Cholesterol (mmol/l)	3.5 (2.9-4.3)	3.6 (3.1-4.0)	3.5 (2.7-4.1)	3.8 (2.5-4.2)	3.4 (2.8-4.1)	3.5 (2.7-4.1)	3.4 (3-4.1)
Total Cholesterol (mmol/l)	5.4 (4.8-6.4)	5.3 (4.8-6.3)	5.6 (4.8-6.5)	5.7 (4.8-6.2)	5.6 (4.7-6.6)	5.6 (4.7-6.2)	5.7 (5-6.6)
Triglycerides (mmol/l)	0.9 (0.7-1.3)	1.4 (1.1-2.1)	1.8 (1.3-2.8)	2.0 (1.4-3.0)	1.8 (1.4-2.5)	1.6 (1.3-2.4)	1.9 (1.4-3)
Tf Saturation (%)	30 (23-37)	17 (13-21)	19 (12-26)	23 (16-27)	19 (12-25)	15 (11-26)	20 (15-27)

Results

### 3.2. Conventional Sequencing- Agarose Gels and Electropherograms

The specific amplicons obtained for the FTO (T>A), TNF- $\alpha$  (G>A) and PPAR $\gamma$  (G>C) mutations using conventional primers visualized with ethidium Bromide in a 2.5 % agarose gel are presented in figures 3.2.1, 3.2.5, 3.2.9 respectively. The sequencing results of each genotype in relation to the risk-associated allele when not detected (ND), heterozygous (HET) or homozygous (HOM) are presented in electropherograms for one of the control samples in figures 3.1.2 (FTO-ND), 3.2.3 (FTO-HET), 3.2.4 (FTO-HOM), 3.2.6 (TNF $\alpha$ -ND), 3.2.7 (TNF $\alpha$ -HET), 3.2.8 (TNF $\alpha$ -HOM), 3.2.10 (PPAR $\gamma$ -ND), 3.2.11 (PPAR $\gamma$ -HET) and 3.2.12 (PPAR $\gamma$ -HOM). Forward (sense) and reverse (anti-sense) sequencing were carried out for each genotype to emphasize the analytical validity. Only the forward sequence is shown as the reverse sequence continually substantiated the result obtained.



**Figure 3.2.1.** A 2.5% (w/v) agarose gel depicting the PCR amplicons synthesised with the FTO (rs9939609) primer set visualized with 0.0001% (v/v) Ethidium Bromide. Lane 1 contains a 100-bp DNA ladder. Lanes 2 to 4 contains amplicons of 275bp and lane 5 contains the NTC (non-template control) PCR reaction product.



**Figure 3.2.2.** Electropherogram depicting the forward (sense) sequence reaction of a PCR amplicon obtained with the FTO primer set. The red arrow indicates the FTO (intron 1 T>A) nucleotide (126) mutation position. The "T" highlighted position resembles the TT genotype where the risk-associated allele was not detected.



**Figure 3.2.3.** Electropherogram depicting the forward (sense) sequence reaction of a PCR amplicon obtained with the FTO primer set. The red arrow indicates the FTO (intron 1 T>A) nucleotide (126) mutation position. The "W" highlighted position resembles a heterozygous TA genotype.



**Figure 3.2.4.** Electropherogram depicting the forward (sense) sequence reaction of a PCR amplicon obtained with the FTO primer set. The red arrow indicates the FTO (intron 1 T>A) nucleotide (126) mutation position. The "A" highlighted position resembles a risk-associated homozygous AA genotype.

Chapter III





**Figure 3.2.5.** A 2.5% (w/v) agarose gel depicting the PCR amplicons synthesised with the TNF- $\alpha$  (rs1800629) primer set visualized with 0.0001% (v/v) Ethidium Bromide. Lane 1 contains a 100-bp DNA ladder. Lanes 2 to 7 contains amplicons of 742bp and lane 8 contains the NTC (non-template control) PCR reaction product.



**Figure 3.2.6.** Electropherogram depicting the forward (sense) sequence reaction of a PCR amplicon obtained with the TNF- $\alpha$  primer set. The red arrow indicates the TNF- $\alpha$  (-308 G>A) nucleotide (348) mutation position. The "G" highlighted position resembles the GG genotype where the risk-associated allele was not detected.



**Figure 3.2.7.** Electropherogram depicting the forward (sense) sequence reaction of a PCR amplicon obtained with the TNF- $\alpha$  primer set. The red arrow indicates the TNF- $\alpha$  (-308 G>A) nucleotide (345) mutation position. The "R" highlighted position resembles a heterozygous GA genotype.



**Figure 3.2.8.** Electropherogram depicting the forward (sense) sequence reaction of a PCR amplicon obtained with the TNF- $\alpha$  primer set. The red arrow indicates the TNF- $\alpha$  (-308 G>A) nucleotide (346) mutation position. The "A" highlighted position resembles a risk-associated homozygous AA genotype.



**Figure 3.2.9.** A 2.5% (w/v) agarose gel depicting the PCR amplicons synthesised with the PPARγ (rs1801282) primer set visualized with 0.0001% (v/v) Ethidium Bromide. Lane 1 contains a 100-bp DNA ladder. Lanes 2 to 4 contains amplicons of 734bp and lane 5 contains the NTC (non-template control) PCR reaction product.



**Figure 3.2.10.** Electropherogram depicting the forward (sense) sequence reaction of a PCR amplicon obtained with the PPARy primer set. The red arrow indicates the PPARy




(34 C>G, P12A) nucleotide (217) mutation position. The "G" highlighted position resembles the GG genotype where the risk-associated allele was not detected.



**Figure 3.2.11**. PCR amplicon obtained with the PPARy primer set. The red arrow indicates the PPARy (34 C>G, P12A) nucleotide (217) mutation position. The "S" highlighted position resembles a heterozygous CG genotype.



**Figure 3.2.12.** Electropherogram depicting the forward (sense) sequence reaction of a PCR amplicon obtained with the PPARγ primer set. The red arrow indicates the PPARγ (34 C>G, P12A) nucleotide (220) mutation position. The "C" highlighted position resembles a risk associated homozygous CC genotype.

## 3.3. RT-PCR Genotyping with the ABI<sup>™</sup> 7900HT.

In this investigation the ABI<sup>™</sup> 7900HT Real-Time PCR instrument was used with ABI<sup>™</sup> *Taq*Man<sup>®</sup> SNP Genotyping assays to determine the specific genotypes of the various patient and control samples screened in this study. The ABI<sup>™</sup> SDS version 2.3 software package (Foster City, California, USA) was used as the user interface of the instrument. Analytical validation of the assays were achieved using positive control samples with known genotypes determined by conventional PCR and DNA sequencing prior to the RT-PCR run and 12 non-template controls (NTC, consisting of nuclease-free water as a replacement for DNA) in each 96 well plate reaction run.

Genotyping was achieved in three distinct stages. The first was an amplification run during which amplicons were exponentially synthesized and the fluorescence data plotted as a graph ( $\Delta$ Rn-unit of fluorescence vs. cycles) using the standard curve (AQ) setting of the instrument. The second stage was a post-amplification scan determining the allelic discrimination using the SDS software package. The software presents the results on an allelic discrimination scatterplot by contrasting the fluorescence data obtained from the VIC<sup>®</sup> and FAM<sup>TM</sup> reporter dyes. Upon signal normalization and multi component analysis the data obtained from a single well is plotted as a single data-point on the scatterplot. The allelic discrimination analysis displays the results as an allele Y (assay identification and allele) on the y-axis and allele X (assay identification of the genotyping results obtained concluded the final stage of the process.

All three assays (FTO rs9939609 intron 1 T>A, TNF-α rs1800629 -308 G>A and PPARγ rs1801282 34 C>G P12A) employed on the ABI<sup>™</sup> 7900HT were successful in the mutation screening, yielding clear amplification of the polymorphic target sequence and precise genotyping of each individual sample. Internal control samples loaded on each plate verified the DNA sequence data obtained and clear NTC clustering per plate corresponds to the absence of contamination during the analytical procedure, ensuring the credibility of the results generated during the study. Due to the bulk of genotyping results generated from this study only one sample batch of each assay is illustrated in this section to exemplify the results obtained through the ABI<sup>™</sup> 7900HT RT-PCR genotyping system.

The investigation of FTO (intron 1 T>A) yielded the amplification graph presented in figure 3.3.1. The graph signifies successful amplification and fluorescence acquired by the ABI<sup>T</sup> TaqMan<sup>®</sup> SNP genotyping assay. The allelic discrimination scatterplot of FTO is depicted in figure 3.3.2 grouping the genotypes of each sample screened with black dots representing NTCs, blue dots matching the risk associated not detected, green dots equivalent to heterozygotes and red dots indicating the homozygotes.

The investigation of TNF- $\alpha$  (-308 G>A) yielded the amplification graph presented in figure 3.3.3. The graph signifies successful amplification and fluorescence acquired by the ABI<sup>TM</sup> *Taq*Man<sup>®</sup> SNP genotyping assay. The allelic discrimination scatterplot of TNF- $\alpha$  is depicted in figure 3.3.4 grouping the genotypes of each sample screened with black dots representing NTCs, blue dots matching absence of the risk allele, green dots equivalent to heterozygotes and red dots signifying the less prevalent homozygotes.

The investigation of PPAR $\gamma$  (P12A, 34 C>G) yielded the amplification graph presented in figure 3.3.5. The graph signifies successful amplification and fluorescence acquired by the ABI<sup>TM</sup> *Taq*Man<sup>®</sup> SNP Genotyping assay. The allelic discrimination scatterplot of PPAR $\gamma$  is depicted in figure 3.3.6 grouping the genotypes of each sample screened with black dots representing NTCs, green dots equivalent to heterozygotes and red dots indicating the homozygotes.

Chapter III





**Figure 3.3.1.** Distinctive amplification attained using the ABI<sup>T</sup> *Taq*Man<sup>®</sup> assay for FTO ( $\Delta$ Rn vs numeral cycles). (Abbreviation:  $\Delta$ Rn = unit of fluorescence)



**Figure 3.3.2.** Typical allelic discrimination analysis using the ABI<sup>™</sup> *Taq*Man<sup>®</sup> assay for FTO [Allele Y (C\_30090620\_10-T) vs Allele X (C\_30090620\_10-A)]. Black = NTC (Non template control), Blue = Not detected TT, Green = Heterozygous TA, Red = Homozygous AA.

Chapter III









**Figure 3.3.4** Typical allelic discrimination analysis using the ABI<sup>TT</sup> TaqMan<sup>®</sup> assay for TNF- $\alpha$  [Allele Y (C\_7514879\_10-G) vs. Allele X (C\_7514879\_10-A)]. Black = NTC (Non template control), Blue = Not detected GG, Green = Heterozygous GA, Red = Homozygous AA.

Chapter III





**Figure 3.3.5**. Distinctive amplification attained using the ABI<sup>TM</sup> TaqMan<sup>®</sup> assay for PPAR- $\gamma$  ( $\Delta$ Rn vs numeral cycles). (Abbreviation:  $\Delta$ Rn = unit of fluorescence)

**Figure 3.3.6.** Typical allelic discrimination analysis using the ABI<sup>T</sup> TaqMan<sup>®</sup> assay for PPARγ [Allele Y (C\_1129864\_10-G) vs Allele X (C\_1129864\_10-C)]. Black = NTC (Negative template control), Green=Heterozygous CG, Red = Homozygous CC, Blue= Not detected GG (absent)

1.7

#### 3.4 RT-PCR genotyping with the Corbett Rotor-Gene<sup>™</sup> 6000/ QIAGEN Rotor-Gene Q

In this study, the Corbett Rotor-Gene<sup>™</sup> 6000 series multiplexing system (5-Plex HRM model) with the ABI<sup>™</sup> *Taq*Man<sup>®</sup> SNP genotyping assays were employed using allelic discrimination and scatterplot analysis for amplification and genotyping of the patient and control samples. Allelic discrimination analysis was accomplished using the real time kinetic data from multiple (2 or more) channels simultaneously to genotype the samples. The ABI<sup>™</sup> *Taq*Man<sup>®</sup> SNP genotyping assays consisted of unlabelled primers specifically designed to amplify the target sequence and dual labelled *Taq*Man<sup>®</sup> MGB (Minor Groove Binding) probes, VIC<sup>®</sup> and FAM<sup>™</sup> used for allelic discrimination detection.

The dual labelled probes have unique fluorophores acting as fluorescent dyes (VIC<sup>®</sup> and FAM<sup>™</sup>) which are allele specific to ultimately differentiate between the different alleles of each SNP under investigation. The yellow channel sensor was encaged for detection of the VIC<sup>®</sup> fluorescence probe with excitation wavelength of 530 nm and emission wavelength of 555 nm and the green sensor channel was employed for the detection of the FAM<sup>™</sup> fluorescence probe with excitation wavelength 470 nm and emission wavelength 510 nm by the Rotor-Gene<sup>™</sup> fluorometer.

A scatterplot analysis was performed using multiple channels (green and yellow) to genotype the patient and control samples. The genotypes were determined on the basis of regions defined on the scatterplot and the relative expression of the two channels after normalization to accentuate the differences in expression between the samples.

All three assays (FTO intron 1 T>A, TNF-α -308 G>A and PPARγ 34 C>G, P12A) employed on the Corbett Rotor-Gene<sup>™</sup> 6000 series were successful in the mutation screening process, yielding clear amplification of the polymorphic target sequence and precise genotyping of each individual sample. Internal control samples were included in each run to verify the DNA sequence data obtained. To quantify the data generated during each run a threshold was set to exclude small changes of fluorescence, due to probe degradation or other effects (NTCs) which do not show true amplification but rather a steady line. No amplification was acquired with the non-template controls correspond to the absence of contamination during the analytical procedure, ensuring the credibility of the results generated during the study.

Due to the bulk of genotyping results generated from this study only one sample batch of each assay is illustrated in this section to exemplify the results obtained through the Corbett Rotor-Gene<sup>™</sup> 6000 series multiplexing system. Analytical validation and verification of the genotyping results obtained during the investigation concluded the final phase of the process.

The allelic discrimination analysis for the FTO (intron 1 T>A, rs9939609) assay is presented in figure 3.4.1 with the legend and genotypes illustrated by table 3.4.1. The lines without intermitted circles represent the (T) allele, which is detected by FAM<sup>TM</sup>-labelled probes, while the lines with the intermitted circles signifies the homozygote (A) allele detected by the VIC<sup>®</sup>-labelled probes. Amplification of both alleles simultaneously indicative of significant fluorescence of both dyes represents the heterozygous (T/A) genotype. A threshold level (>0.1) was established as a discriminatory parameter during analysis to indicate the presence of allele specific fluorescence above the threshold setting.



**Figure 3.4.1.** Allelic discrimination analysis of FTO (rs9939609, Intron 1 T>A) using the ABI<sup>™</sup> *Taq*Man<sup>®</sup> (C\_30090620\_10) genotyping assay. (Normalized fluorescence vs. number of cycles)

In addition to allelic discrimination analysis, scatterplot analysis was also performed to further validate the results of the study. Scatterplot analysis was applied using two channels simultaneously. Genotype acquisition is based on specific regions found on the scatterplot as well as relative expression of amplification of the green (FAM<sup>TM</sup>) and yellow (VIC<sup>®</sup>) channels respectively. Upon normalization the different fold increases of each channel and log transformation accentuated the differences in expression of each individual sample.

The scatterplot analysis for the FTO (Intron 1 T>A) assay is presented in figure 3.4.2 with the legend and genotypes depicted in table 3.4.1. Genotype determinations were based on the dual VIC<sup>®</sup> and FAM<sup>T</sup> Minor Groove Binding (MGB) probes.



**Figure 3.4.2.** Genotypes grouped by scatterplot analysis (FAM<sup>TM</sup> fluorescence vs. VIC<sup>®</sup> fluorescence) of the ABI<sup>TM</sup> *Taq*Man<sup>®</sup> (C\_30090620\_10) FTO assay. The legend is presented in table 3.4.1

**Table 3.4.1**. Legend for figure 3.3.1 and 3.3.2, specifyinggenotypes of the samples based on Allelic discrimination dataand Scatterplot analysis.

No.	Colour	Name	Genotype	FAM <sup>™</sup>	VIC®
1		sample	Heterozygous	Reaction	Reaction
2		sample	Heterozygous	Reaction	Reaction
3		sample	Heterozygous	Reaction	Reaction
4		sample	Mutant	No Reaction	Reaction
5		sample	Heterozygous	Reaction	Reaction
6		sample	Not detected	Reaction	No Reaction
7		sample	Not detected	Reaction	No Reaction
8		sample	Not detected	Reaction	No Reaction
9		sample	Not detected	Reaction	No Reaction
10		sample	Mutant	No Reaction	Reaction
11		sample	Heterozygous	Reaction	Reaction
12		sample	Heterozygous	Reaction	Reaction
13		sample	Not detected	Reaction	No Reaction
14		sample	Heterozygous	Reaction	Reaction
15		sample	Not detected	Reaction	No Reaction
16		sample	Mutant	No Reaction	Reaction
17		sample	Not detected	Reaction	No Reaction
18		sample	Not detected	Reaction	No Reaction
19		sample	Not detected	Reaction	No Reaction
20		blank	None	No Reaction	No Reaction

The allelic discrimination analysis for the TNF- $\alpha$  (rs1800629, -308 G>A) assay is presented in figure 3.4.3 with the legend and genotypes illustrated by table 3.4.2. The lines without intermitted circles represent the (G) allele, which is detected by FAM<sup>TM</sup>-labelled probes, while the lines with the intermitted circles signifies the homozygote (A) allele detected by the VIC<sup>®</sup>-labelled probes. Amplification of both alleles simultaneously indicative of significant fluorescence of both dyes represents the heterozygous (G/A) genotype. A threshold level (>0.1) was established as a discriminatory parameter during analysis to indicate the presence of allele specific fluorescence above the threshold setting.



**Figure 3.4.3.** Allelic discrimination analysis of TNF- $\alpha$  (rs1800629, -308 G>A) using the ABI<sup>TM</sup> *Taq*Man<sup>®</sup> (C\_7514879\_10) genotyping assay. (Normalized fluorescence vs. number of cycles)

The scatterplot analysis for the TNF- $\alpha$  (rs1800629, -308 G>A) assay is presented in figure 3.4.4 with the legend and genotypes depicted in table 3.4.2. Genotype determinations were based on the dual VIC<sup>®</sup> and FAM<sup>TM</sup> Minor Groove Binding (MGB) probes.



## VIC®

**Figure 3.4.4.** Genotypes grouped by scatterplot analysis (FAM<sup>TM</sup> fluorescence vs. VIC<sup>®</sup> fluorescence) of the ABI<sup>TM</sup> TaqMan<sup>®</sup> (C\_7514879\_10) TNF- $\alpha$  assay. The legend is presented in table 3.4.2.

 Table 3.4.2.
 Legend for figure 3.3.3 and 3.3.4, specifying genotypes of the samples based on Allelic discrimination data and Scatterplot analysis.

No.	Colour	Name	Genotype	FAM <sup>™</sup>	VIC®
1		sample	Heterozygous	Reaction	Reaction
2		sample	Heterozygous	Reaction	Reaction
3		sample	Not detected	Reaction	No Reaction
4		sample	Heterozygous	Reaction	Reaction
5		sample	Not detected	Reaction	No Reaction
6		sample	Heterozygous	Reaction	Reaction
7		sample	Not detected	Reaction	No Reaction
8		sample	Not detected	Reaction	No Reaction
9		sample	Not detected	Reaction	No Reaction
10		sample	Not detected	Reaction	No Reaction
11		sample	Heterozygous	Reaction	Reaction
12		sample	Heterozygous	Reaction	Reaction
13		sample	Heterozygous	Reaction	Reaction
14		sample	Heterozygous	Reaction	Reaction
15		sample	Not detected	Reaction	No Reaction
16		sample	Not detected	Reaction	No Reaction
17		sample	Not detected	Reaction	No Reaction
18		sample	Not detected	Reaction	No Reaction
19		sample	Not detected	Reaction	No Reaction
20		blank	None	No Reaction	No Reaction

The allelic discrimination analysis for the PPAR $\gamma$  (rs1801282, 34 C>G, P12A) assay is presented in figure 3.4.5 with the legend and genotypes illustrated by table 3.4.3. The lines without intermitted circles represent the (C) allele, which is detected by FAM<sup>TM</sup>-labelled probes, while the lines with the intermitted circles signifies the homozygous (G) allele detected by the VIC<sup>®</sup>-labeled probes. Amplification of both alleles simultaneously indicates significant fluorescence of both dyes and represents the heterozygous (C/G) genotype. A threshold level (>0.05) was established as a discriminatory parameter during analysis to indicate the presence of allele specific fluorescence above the threshold setting.



**Figure 3.4.5.** Allelic discrimination analysis of PPARγ (rs1801282, 34 C>G, P12A) using the ABI<sup>™</sup> *Taq*Man<sup>®</sup> (C\_1129864\_10) genotyping assay. (Normalized fluorescence vs. number of cycles)

The scatterplot analysis for the PPAR $\gamma$  (rs1801282, 34 C>G, P12A assay is presented in figure 3.4.6 with the legend and genotypes depicted in table 3.4.3. Genotype determinations were based on the dual VIC<sup>®</sup> and FAM<sup>™</sup> Minor Groove Binding (MGB) probes.



VIC®

**Figure 3.4.6.** Genotypes grouped by scatterplot analysis (FAM<sup>TM</sup> fluorescence vs. VIC<sup>®</sup> fluorescence) of the ABI<sup>TM</sup> TaqMan<sup>®</sup> (C\_1129864\_10) PPAR $\gamma$  assay. The legend is presented in table 3.4.3

**Table 3.4.3**. Legend for figure 3.3.5 and 3.3.6, specifying genotypes of the samples based on Allelic discrimination data and Scatterplot analysis.

No.	Сс	olour	Name	Genotype	FAM <sup>™</sup>	VIC®
1			sample	Heterozygous	Reaction	Reaction
2			sample	Mutant	No Reaction	Reaction
3			sample	Mutant	No Reaction	Reaction
4			sample	Mutant	No Reaction	Reaction
5			sample	Not Reaction	Reaction	No Reaction
6			sample	Mutant	No Reaction	Reaction
7			sample	Mutant	No Reaction	Reaction
8			sample	Mutant	No Reaction	Reaction
9			sample	Mutant	No Reaction	Reaction
10			sample	Mutant	No Reaction	Reaction
11			sample	Heterozygous	Reaction	Reaction
12			sample	Mutant	No Reaction	Reaction
13			sample	Mutant	No Reaction	Reaction
14			sample	Mutant	No Reaction	Reaction
15			sample	Mutant	No Reaction	Reaction
16			sample	Mutant	No Reaction	Reaction
17			sample	Heterozygous	Reaction	Reaction
18			sample	Mutant	No Reaction	Reaction
19			sample	Heterozygous	Reaction	Reaction
20			blank	None	No Reaction	No Reaction

#### 3.5 Genotype distribution in the general control study population

The genotype distribution observed for FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A) among the 166 control samples achieved through application of RT-PCR is summarized in figure 3.5.1.



**Figure 3.5.1.** Genotype distribution of 166 samples obtained using the ABI<sup>T</sup> TaqMan<sup>®</sup> FTO assay. Among the 166 control samples, the risk-associated FTO A-allele was excluded in 63 (38%) individuals (not detected TT), one copy detected in 70 (42.2%) individuals (heterozygous TA) and two copies of the risk-associated allele detected in 33 (19.9%) individuals (homozygous AA).

The genotype distribution observed for TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 (-308 G>A) among the 166 control samples achieved through application of RT-PCR is summarized in figure 3.5.2.



**Figure 3.5.2.** Genotype distribution of 166 samples obtained using the ABI<sup>T</sup> *Taq*Man<sup>®</sup> TNF- $\alpha$  assay. Among the 166 control samples, the risk-associated TNF- $\alpha$  A-allele was excluded in 119 (71.7%) individuals (not detected GG), one copy detected in 43 (25.9%) individuals (heterozygous GA) and two copies of the risk-associated allele detected in 4 (2.4%) individuals (homozygous AA).

The genotype distribution observed for PPARγ rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) among the 166 control samples achieved through application of RT-PCR is summarized in figure 3.5.3.



**Figure 3.5.3.** Genotype distribution of 166 samples obtained using the ABI<sup>T</sup> TaqMan<sup>®</sup> PPAR $\gamma$  assay. Among the 166 control samples, the risk-associated PPAR $\gamma$  C-allele was excluded in 5 (3.0%) individuals (not detected GG), one copy detected in 39 (23.5%) individuals (heterozygous GC) and two copies of the risk-associated allele detected in 122 (73.5%) individuals (homozygous CC).

### 3.6. Comparative analysis of Allelic and Genotype Distribution

Following the optimisation of the RT-PCR assays for the FTO rs9939609, TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 and PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 SNPs, a total of 119 patients (31 with fatty liver on ultrasound and 88 histologically confirmed NAFLD) were genotyped using the ABI<sup>TM</sup> 7900HT and Corbett Rotor-Gene<sup>TM</sup>. Among the 166 general Caucasian control individuals all three SNPs were in Hardy Weinberg equilibrium (p>0.05). However, in the NAFLD patient group subdivided into Coloured (p=0.005) and Caucasian (p=0.043) patients, significant deviation was observed for PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 (table 3.6.1) in these groups and the total group of 88 histologically confirmed NAFLD patients (p<0.001). This is ascribed to over-representation of the PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 GG genotype, a finding unrelated to the specific allelic risk implication.

**Table 3.6.1.** P-values of Hardy Weinberg Equilibrium testing for the FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 (-308 G>A) and PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) single nucleotide polymorphisms in the study groups.

Mutations	General Caucasian Controls	All NAFLD patients (types 1-4)	Obese	Caucasian NAFLD (types 1-4) patients	Coloured NAFLD (types 1-4) patients
Ν	166	88	31	35	47
FTO rs9939609	0.109	0.077	0.718	0.095	0.495
TNF-α rs1800629	1,000	0.633	1,000	1,000	1,000
PPARγ rs1801282	0.360	<0.001	1,000	0.043	0.005

In table 3.6.2 the FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 (-308 G>A) and PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) minor allele frequencies and genotype distributions are compared between Coloured and Caucasian NAFLD patients single and combined, and Caucasian control samples. P-values are given in table 3.6.3. A control group for the coloured population was not available for this study.

Since the allelic distribution of most SNPs vary considerably between ethnic groups, and due to possible age and gender effects, statistical comparisons between study groups were made within the same ethnic group or after adjustment for ethnicity, age and gender.

**Table 3.6.2.** Genotype distribution and minor allele counts and frequencies in the Caucasian control individuals and patient subgroups genotyped for the FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$  s1800629 (-308 G>A) and PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) single nucleotide polymorphisms.

SNP	General <u>Caucasian</u> Controls	Obese	All NAFLD Patients (types 1-4)	<u>Caucasian</u> NAFLD Patients (types 1-4)	Coloured NAFLD Patients (types 1-4)	NAFLD (types 1,2)	NASH (types 3,4)
FTO							
Typed	166	31	88	35	47	45	43
T/T	63 (0.38)	10 (0.32)	29 (0.33)	7 (0.20)	21 (0.45)	17 (0.38)	12 (0.28)
T/A	70 (0.42)	14 (0.45)	50 (0.57)	23 (0.66)	23 (0.49)	23 (0.51)	27 (0.63)
A/A	33 (0.20)	7 (0.23)	9 (0.10)	5 (0.14)	3 (0.06)	5 (0.11)	4 (0.09)
Α	136 (0.41)	28 (0.45)	68 (0.39)	33 (0.47)	29 (0.31)	33 (0.37)	35 (0.41)
TNF-α							
Typed	166	31	88	35	47	45	43
G/G	119 (0.72)	25 (0.81)	67 (0.76)	29 (0.83)	33 (0.70)	34 (0.76)	33 (0.77)
G/A	43 (0.26)	6 (0.19)	19(0.22)	6 (0.17)	13 (0.28)	11 (0.24)	8 (0.19)
A/A	4 (0.02)	0 (0.00)	2 (0.02)	0 (0.00)	1 (0.02)	0 (0)	2 (0.05)
Α	51 (0.15)	6 (0.10)	23 (0.13)	6 (0.09)	15 (0.16)	11 (0.12)	12 (0.14)
ΡΡΑRγ							
Typed	166	31	88	35	47	45	43
C/C	122 (0.73)	30 (0.97)	78 (0.89)	29 (0.83)	43 (0.91)	38 (0.84)	40 (0.93)
C/G	39 (0.23)	1 (0.03)	6 (0.07)	4 (0.11)	2 (0.04)	4 (0.09)	2 (0.05)
G/G	5 (0.03)	0 (0.00)	4 (0.05)	2 (0.06)	2 (0.04)	3 (0.07)	1 (0.02)
G	49 (0.15)	1 (0.02)	14 (0.08)	8 (0.11)	6 (0.06)	10 (0.11)	4 (0.05)

The differences in minor alleles of the three selected SNPs between the general Caucasian controls (21% obese) compared with NAFLD Caucasian patients (71% obese) (shown in table 3.6.2 shaded areas), were not statistically significant. The observed frequency of the risk-associated TNF- $\alpha$  A-allele (9%) was lower in the 35 NAFLD patients (AA genotype not detected) than the 166 controls (15%) but the difference did not reach statistical significance (p=0.981). When a sub-analysis was done comparing the frequency of the risk associated TNF- $\alpha$  A allele Caucasian NAFLD patients (n=35) with only those Caucasian controls (n=67) with normal BMI (<25 kg/m2), this difference was also not significant (p=0.129). Further investigation was focused on genotype-phenotype comparisons between patient subgroups (table 3.6.3) as the identification of genetic risk factors that could help to identify patients at high risk of progression from fatty liver disease to the more severe NASH (NAFLD types 3,4) subtype, represents the most important aspect of this study.

**Table 3.6.3** P-values for comparing the genotype and minor allele frequencies for the FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 (-308 G>A) and PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) single nucleotide polymorphisms between patient subgroups after adjusting for age, gender and ethnicity (unless comparison is within an ethnic group).

Typed	NAFLD (types 1-4) patients vs. Obese	NAFLD (types1- 4) Coloured patients vs. NAFLD (types 1- 4) Caucasian patients	Obese vs. NASH (types 3,4) patients	NAFLD (types 1,2) patients vs. NASH (types 3,4) patients
FTO				
Genotype	0.377	0.018	0.401	0.694
Allele (A)	0.307	0.005	0.513	0.690
TNF-α				
Genotype	0.123	0.102	0.073	0.179
Allele (Å)	0.047	0.034	0.030	0.300
PPARγ				
Genotype	0.387	0.431	0.513	0.352
Allele (C)	0.263	0.288	0.528	0.152

After adjustment for age and gender, both the genotype distribution (p=0.018) and allele frequencies (p=0.005) of FTO rs9939609 was found to differ significantly between the Coloured and Caucasian NAFLD patients (table 3.6.3). The risk-associated FTO

rs9939609 A-allele was detected at a significantly higher frequency in the Caucasian than Coloured patients, while the opposite was detected for the risk-associated TNF-α rs1800629 A-allele that occurred at a significantly higher frequency in the Coloured compared with Caucasian NAFLD patients (p=0.034). No difference in genotype or allelic distribution was observed for PPARγ rs1801282, despite the deviation in Hardy Weinberg equilibrium found in NAFLD patients only (not controls). After adjustment for age, gender and race, no differences in genotype distribution or allele frequencies were observed between histologically confirmed NAFLD (types 1,2) and NASH (types 3,4) patients, while the minor allele count for the TNF-α rs1800629 was significantly higher in NAFLD patients (types 1-4) (p=0.047) and NASH (NAFLD types 3,4) (p=0.03) compared with obese patients without a histologically confirmed diagnosis. This finding was in accordance with the expectation of increased disease severity ranging in our study population from obese to NAFLD (types 1,2) to NASH (NAFLD types 3,4).

#### 3.7. Allelic effects and risk score assessment

According to the literature review performed (chapter 1) the minor A-alleles of FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T><u>A</u>) and TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 (-308 G><u>A</u>), and the common C-allele of PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 <u>C</u>>G), are the risk associated alleles (underlined) for obesity and/or insulin resistance. The inferred frequencies for seven allelic combinations (the eighth, <u>A-A</u>-G was not detected) are summarised in table 3.7.1 and depicted in figure 3.7.1. The allelic combination <u>A-A-C</u> was significantly more frequent in NAFLD types 1,2 patients than in types 3,4 (NASH) patients, while T-<u>A-C</u> was the risk combination for NASH types 3,4 compared to the reference combinations T-G-G, after adjustment for age, gender and race. However, the allelic combinations <u>A-A-C</u> and T-<u>A-C</u> had the same effects within the obese, NAFLD types 1,2 and NASH types 3,4 groups after adjustment for age, gender, race, smoking, alcohol consumption and physical activity.

**Table 3.7.1.** Inferred frequencies of allelic combinations for the FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$  s1800629 (-308 G>A) and PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) single nucleotide polymorphisms.

Allele combination	Obese	NAFLD (types 1,2)	NASH (types 3,4)
Typed	31	45	43
<u>A-A-C</u>	0.05	0.11	0.02
<u>A</u> -G- <u>C</u>	0.38	0.21	0.37
<u>A</u> -G-G	0.02	0.05	0.02
T- <u>A</u> - <u>C</u>	0.05	0.02	0.11
T- <u>A</u> -G	0.00	0.00	0.01
T-G- <u>C</u>	0.50	0.55	0.45
T-G-G	0.00	0.06	0.02



**Figure 3.7.1.** Frequencies of the allelic combinations for FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 (-308 G>A) and PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) in the obese, NAFLD (types 1,2) and NASH (types 3,4) patient groups.

A risk score was calculated for each individual by counting the risk associated FTO rs9939609 A-alleles, the TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 A-alleles, and the PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 C-alleles. A minimum risk score of 0 and a maximum of 6 could therefore be obtained for each individual. The frequencies of the risk score of the three patient groups subdivided into obese, NAFLD (types 1,2) and NASH (NAFLD types 3,4) are summarised in table 3.7.2 and depicted in figure 3.7.2. No patient had all three risk homozygotes, which

would correspond to the highest risk score of 6. A similar risk score was observed in the obese (most individuals had a risk score of 3, 42%), NAFLD types 1, 2 (most had a score of 2, 36%) and NASH types 3, 4 (most had a score of 3, 53%) groups (table 3.7.2). No significant association with an increasing risk score was detected between the obese patients, NAFLD types 1,2 and NASH types 3,4 groups after adjusting for age, gender, race, smoking, alcohol consumption and physical activity (p=0.454).

Table 3.7.2. Counts and frequencies of calculated risk allele score of FTO rs9939609
(intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$ rs1800629 (-308 G>A) and PPARy rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34
C>G) combined.

Risk Score	Obese	NAFLD (types 1,2)	NASH (types 3,4)
0	0 (0%)	1 (2%)	0 (0%)
1	0 (0%)	3 (7%)	1 (2%)
2	9 (29%)	16 (36%)	9 (21%)
3	13 (42%)	13 (29%)	23 (53%)
4	7 (23%)	10 (22%)	9 (21%)
5	2 (6%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)
6	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)



**Figure 3.7.2**. The frequencies of the calculated risk score (0-6) for FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 (-308 G>A) and PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) compared between the three patient groups classified according to disease

severity from obese to NAFLD types 1, 2 and 3, 4 (NASH).

In table 3.7.3 age, gender, race and environmental factors including smoking, drinking and physical activity were compared between the three patients groups and also compared in relation to genetic variation in the FTO (rs9939609, intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$  (rs1800629, -308 G>A) and PPAR $\gamma$  (rs1801282, 34 C>G) genes. Unadjusted p-values are shown in table 3.7.3, to assess the need for adjustment of possible confounding factors when genotype-phenotype association studies are performed.

**Table 3.7.3.** Unadjusted P-values for difference in environmental factors between obese and NAFLD types 1,2 and 3,4 (NASH), as well as the association between environmental and genetic risk factors in the combined group.

Characteristic	Patient	FTO	TNFα	PPARγ	<b>Risk Score</b>	Combination
	groups					
Age	0.036	0.288	0.028	0.185	0.008	0.057
Gender	0.477	0.848	0.288	0.756	0.505	0.822
Race	0.306	0.056	0.163	0.687	0.788	0.003
Drinker	0.226	0.274	0.617	0.158	0.526	0.020
Smoker	0.145	0.616	0.542	0.001	0.022	0.009
Physical activity	0.501	0.582	0.797	0.063	0.683	0.093

Two important age effects were noted. Histologically confirmed NAFLD patients were, on average, 6 years older at entry into the study (also documented as the age of disease diagnosis) than the obese patient group (p=0.036). Age of onset of fatty liver disease was on average 5 years younger in the presence of each risk-associated TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 A-allele (p=0.028) among the 119 patients included in this study. This age effect was not observed on further assessment of the histologically confirmed NAFLD group only, after exclusion of the obese group (p=0.230). When considered in the context of FTO rs9939609 and PPARy rs1801282 as part of the risk score (table 3.7.2), a 3 year earlier onset of fatty liver disease symptoms was observed with each of the three risk-associated (p=0.008) alleles detected. No gender effect was observed (table 3.7.3), while the race difference could be ascribed to a frequency of 8.8% for the allelic

combination T-A-C in Coloureds, while absent in Caucasians. Among alcohol users, none had the A-A-C allelic combination (risk-associated genotype in the context of insulin resistance according to the literature review), while it was detected in 6.3% of non-users (p=0.020). The allelic combinations T-G-G (11.1% vs. 2.5%) and A-G-G (9.8% versus none) were much more prevalent in smokers compared to non-smokers (p=0.009). The effect of smoking was mainly ascribed to the PPARγ rs1801282 C allele detected at a frequency of 79% (38/48) in smokers, compared with 97% (184/188) in non-smokers (p=0.001). All 4 patients with the PPARγ rs1801282 GG genotype, were smokers, whereas all the non-smokers were either heterozygous or homozygous for the risk-associated C-allele. Of smokers, 17% (4) had the PPARγ rs1801282 GG genotype. While none of the non-smokers had it. These findings have no obvious clinical implication, but confirm the need to adjust for multiple variables when genotype-phenotype correlations are assessed in the study population. No potential confounding effect for physical activity was detected.

In table 3.7.4 clinical and biochemical factors were summarized for obese patients with fatty liver on ultrasound alone and histologically confirmed NAFLD (types 1,2) and NASH (NAFLD types 3,4) patients. A significant joint effect of age, gender and race was detected for BMI (kg/m<sup>2</sup>) (p=<0.009), HbA1c levels (p=0.010) and HDL-cholesterol (p=0.004) in the combined patient group. BMI was found to be significantly higher in both Coloured NAFLD patients (on average 4 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and Black NAFLD patients (on average 8 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) compared to the Caucasian NAFLD patients (p=0.009) after adjusting for age, gender and race. Race also significantly affected HbA1c levels, which were found to be increased by 1.32%, on average, in Coloured NAFLD patients compared with Caucasian NAFLD patients (p=0.010). HDL-cholesterol was significantly affected by gender (p=0.004); on average female patients had a 0.22 mmol/l higher HDL-cholesterol level compared to male patients.

The test of difference between the obese, NAFLD (types 1,2) and NASH (NAFLD types 3,4) after adjustment for age gender and race did not show a difference in BMI and waist circumference between the histologically confirmed NAFLD (types 1,2) and NASH (NAFLD types 3,4) patients. However, both NAFLD patient subgroups had a lower BMI (on average 4.4 kg/m<sup>2</sup> for NASH and 4.2 kg/m<sup>2</sup> for NAFLD types 1.2) (p=0.015) and

waist circumference (on average 10 cm for NASH and 12 cm for NAFLD types 1.2) (p=0.002) compared to the obese patient group (table 3.7.4).

Significantly higher levels of ALT (on average 23.4 units/L higher) (p=0.031), glucose (2.7 mmol/l) (p=0.005), HbA1c (1.54%) (p=0.003), HOMA-IR (1.13 units) (p<0.001) and triglyceride (1.33 mmol/l) (p=0.017) were observed in the NASH patient subgroup (NAFLD types 3,4) compared with the obese patient subgroup, after adjustment for age, gender and race (table 3.7.4).

**Table 3.7.4.** Description (median, interquartile range) and p-values for comparison of clinical and biochemical factors in obese patients with fatty liver on ultrasound alone and histologically confirmed NAFLD (types 1,2) and NASH (NAFLD types 3,4) patients.

Characteristic	Obese	NAFLD (types 1,2)	NASH (types 3,4)	Joint effect of age, gender and race	P-values for difference between groups, adjusted for age, gender and race
Ν	31	45	43		
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	37 (33-43)	33 (31-38)	33 (30-38)	0.009	0.015
Waist circumference (cm)	111 (102-126)	106 (99-112)	104 (100-115)	0.345	0.002
ALT (units/L)	35 (29-51)	38 (28-62)	51 (38-70)	0.066	0.031
AST (units/L)	32 (26-51)	33 (23.5-47)	35 (29-60.5)	0.068	0.078
AST/ALT ratio	0.79 (0.68-0.95)	0.79 (0.66-0.98)	0.71 (0.64-0.91)	0.477	0.420
C-Reactive Protein (mg/l)	6.8 (5.3-11.5)	8.2 (3.8-11.5)	6.6 (3.3-10.7)	0.183	0.424
Glucose (mmol/l)	5.6 (5.3-7.1)	5.8 (5.1-8.2)	7.8 (5.9-9.2)	0.155	0.005
HbA <sub>1</sub> c (%)	7.1 (6.0-8.6)	6.5 (5.6-7.4)	7.9 (6.5-9.4)	0.010	0.003
HOMA-IR	0.3 (0.2-1.3)	1.0 (0.6-1.4)	1.3 (0.8-2.1)	0.583	<0.001
Insulin (mmol/l);	23 (12-31)	18.8 (9.8-24.7)	21.3 (12.0-33.2)	0.690	0.949
Tf Saturation (%)	17 (13-21)	15 (11-26)	20 (15-27)	0.592	0.224
Total Cholesterol (mmol/l)	5.3 (4.8-6.3)	5.6 (4.7-6.2)	5.7 (4.8-6.6)	0.315	0.270
LDL Cholesterol (mmol/l)	3.6 (3.1-4.0)	3.5 (2.7-4.1)	3.4 (2.8-4.1)	0.241	0.949
HDL Cholesterol (mmol/l)	1.3 (1.0-1.6)	1.2 (1.1-1.4)	1.2 (1.1-1.5)	0.004	0.421
Triglycerides (mmol/l)	1.4 (1.1-2.1)	1.6 (1.3-2.4)	1.9 (1.4-3.1)	0.478	0.017

Chapter III Results

Table 3.7.5 shows the P-values for difference in clinical characteristics between patient groups [obese versus NAFLD (types1,2) versus NASH (types 3,4) (first column)] and association with genetic factors, adjusted for age, gender, race, smoking, alcohol consumption and physical activity in the combined patient group. When the results presented in table 3.7.4 (last column) were re-assessed in the patient groups in relation to BMI and waist circumference after adjustment for smoking, alcohol consumption and physical activity (in addition to previous adjustment age, gender and race but excluding possible genetic effects), only the difference in waist circumference between the patient subgroups remained significant. This finding was not caused due to the effect of any of these environmental factors, but resulted from reduced statistical power mainly due to the fact that information on these variables were not provided for four patients. Waist circumference was on average 11.3 cm smaller in NAFLD (types 1,2) and 8.9 cm smaller in NASH (NAFLD types 3,4) than obese patients.

Table 3.7.6 shows P-values for association between clinical and biochemical characteristics and also environmental factors in the 119 obese, NAFLD (types 1,2) and NASH (types 3,4) patients after adjusting for age, gender and race. The average waist circumference of physically inactive patients was 12% increased compared to the active patients (p=0.004). Patients who reported low-moderate alcohol intake (below the cut-off level for diagnosis of NAFLD) had on average 70% reduced CRP levels compared with patients who abstain from alcohol drinking (p=0.038).

Tables 3.7.7, 3.7.8 and 3.7.9 contains p-values for tests of interaction between environmental factors (BMI and waist circumference considered a reflection of the diet, physical activity, smoking and alcohol consumption) and genetic factors [FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A) (table 3.7.7), TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 (-308 G>A) (table 3.7.8) and PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) (table 3.7.9)] on clinical and biochemical characteristics in the total group of 119 obese, NAFLD (types 1,2) and NASH (types 3,4) patients, after adjusting for age, gender and race. The nature of the detected significant interactions is described next with the interaction between smoking and each of the FTO rs9939609 and TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 alleles on BMI as follows: the allelic effects in non-smokers were not significant, while in smokers each risk-associated FTO rs9939609 A-allele and TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 A-allele detected reduced BMI (kg/m<sup>2</sup>) by 13% and 27%, respectively,

compared with patients with two copies of the major SNP alleles (p=0.010). The interaction between smoking and FTO rs9939609 in relation to transferrin saturation was that the rate of change was not significant in smokers (lower for each risk allele) nor in non-smokers (higher), but the difference between the effects was significant (p=0.039). In patients who reported low-moderate alcohol intake, each risk-associated FTO A-allele increased LDL-cholesterol by 54%, compared to having inherited no A-allele (p=0.002), while there was no allelic effect in those who did not report drinking.

Significant interactions were detected between TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 and BMI or waist circumference on CRP levels; a significant 6% increase in CRP levels was detected for each extra kg/m<sup>2</sup> in BMI in the absence of the risk-associated A-allele (GG genotype), while CRP levels are reduced by 11% (GA genotype) or 26% (AA genotype), respectively for each additional kg/m<sup>2</sup> in BMI, compared to patients with the GG genotype (p=0.005). For each extra cm in waist circumference, CRP levels were 10% (GA genotype) or 21% (AA genotype) reduced compared to patients with the GG genotype, for whom waist circumference did not show a significant effect (p=0.003).

From the data presented (p-values) in table 3.7.9, triglyceride levels of patients homozygous for the PPARy rs1801282 risk-associated C allele decreased by 3% with each added unit of BMI (1 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and increased by 6% with each added BMI unit in GG homozygote patients (p=0.013). There was no effect in PPARy rs1801282 CG heterozygotes. No allelic effect for PPARy rs1801282 was detected in smokers nor non-smoking on LDL-cholesterol levels, only the difference between those effects was significant (p=0.046). The same was observed for PPARy rs1801282 in relation to the effect of alcohol consumption on AST levels; neither drinking nor abstaining was associated with a significant effect and only the difference between those effects was significant (p=0.048). Abstaining from alcohol was not associated with a significant allelic effect of PPARy rs1801282 on insulin, while alcohol drinkers showed an increase of 175% with each G-allele (decrease of 175% with each C-allele). Since this estimate was based on data from 1 drinker (AST 67) and three non-drinkers (average AST 29) the results should be interpreted with caution.

79

**Table 3.7.5** P-values for testing of association between clinical characteristics and patient groups for obese versus NAFLD (types1,2) versus NASH (types 3,4) (first column) and genetic factors, after adjusting for age, gender, race, smoking, alcohol consumption and physical activity in the combined patient group.

Clinical characteristics	Groups	FTO	TNFα	PPARγ	Risk score	Combination
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	0.139	0.659	0.346	0.020	0.060	0.027
Waist circumference (cm)	0.006	0.381	0.043	0.175	0.021	0.063
ALT (units/L)	0.042	0.246	0.823	0.993	0.360	0.378
AST (units/L)	0.065	0.136	0.495	0.776	0.130	0.015
AST/ALT ratio	0.610	0.870	0.536	0.683	0.529	0.977
C-Reactive Protein (mg/l)	0.913	0.717	0.029	0.598	0.296	0.257
Glucose, fasting (mmol/l)	0.008	0.468	0.744	0.599	0.676	0.970
HOMA-IR	<0.001	0.348	0.196	0.121	0.476	0.183
HbA1c (%)	0.007	0.486	0.857	0.786	0.659	0.398
Insulin concentration (mmol/l)	0.930	0.635	0.731	0.165	0.387	0.406
Tf Saturation (%)	0.284	0.769	0.960	0.072	0.326	0.191
Total Cholesterol (mmol/l)	0.339	0.930	0.627	0.345	0.519	0.889
LDL Cholesterol (mmol/l)	0.879	0.591	0.392	0.457	0.659	0.232
HDL Cholesterol (mmol/l)	0.384	0.897	0.812	0.695	0.878	0.437
Triglycerides (mmol/l)	0.052	0.617	0.670	0.553	0.399	0.844

**Table 3.7.6.** P-values for testing of association of clinical and biochemical characteristics with environmental factors, (including BMI and WC as a reflection of the diet) in obese, NAFLD (types 1,2) and NASH (NAFLD types 3,4) patients after adjusting for age, gender and race.

Clinical characteristics	BMI	Waist	Physical activity	Smoking	Drinking
Body mass index (BMI) (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	-	-	0.065	0.098	0.089
Waist circumference (WC) (cm)	-	-	0.004	0.765	0.203
ALT (units/L)	0.003	0.083	0.172	0.511	0.332
AST (units/L)	0.003	0.102	0.074	0.856	0.512
AST/ALT ratio	0.469	0.499	0.824	0.152	0.464
C-Reactive Protein (mg/l)	0.625	0.952	0.675	0.283	0.038
Glucose, fasting (mmol/l)	0.014	0.147	0.248	0.013	0.452
HOMA-IR	0.631	0.540	0.754	0.462	0.078
HbA1c (%)	0.006	0.215	0.339	0.171	0.829
Insulin concentration (mmol/l)	0.263	0.136	0.875	0.759	0.349
Tf Saturation (%)	0.001	0.043	0.958	0.124	0.862
Total Cholesterol (mmol/l)	0.032	0.180	0.723	0.842	0.385
LDL Cholesterol (mmol/l)	0.107	0.287	0.411	0.785	0.516
HDL Cholesterol (mmol/l)	0.325	0.711	0.968	0.166	0.708
Triglycerides (mmol/l)	0.009	0.110	0.999	0.581	0.917

**Table 3.7.7**. P-values for testing of interaction between the FTO rs9939609 A-allele and environmental factors on clinical characteristics in 119 obese, NAFLD (types 1,2) and NASH (NAFLD types 3,4) patients after adjusting for age, gender and race.

Clinical characteristics		Waist			
	BMI	circumference	Physical activity	Smoking	Drinking
BMI (kg/m²)	-	-	0.550	0.010	0.302
Waist circumference (cm)	-	-	0.753	0.051	0.368
ALT (units/L)	0.147	0.407	0.749	0.593	0.715
AST (units/L)	0.569	0.985	0.578	0.435	0.561
AST/ALT ratio	0.096	0.108	0.808	0.838	0.827
C-Reactive Protein (mg/l)	0.476	0.278	0.506	0.460	0.897
Glucose, fasting (mmol/l)	0.298	0.549	0.847	0.075	0.307
HOMA-IR	0.938	0.766	0.380	0.808	0.448
HbA1c (%)	0.840	0.440	0.362	0.728	0.405
Insulin concentration (mmol/l)	0.938	0.594	0.548	0.444	0.274
Tf Saturation (%)	0.239	0.877	0.218	0.039	0.950
Total Cholesterol (mmol/l)	0.332	0.764	0.570	0.922	0.063
LDL Cholesterol (mmol/l)	0.243	0.690	0.704	0.487	0.002
HDL Cholesterol (mmol/l)	0.112	0.080	0.897	0.841	0.053
Triglycerides (mmol/l)	0.689	0.745	0.497	0.750	0.539

**Table 3.7.8**. P-values for testing of interaction between TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 (-308 G>A) and environmental factors on clinical characteristics in 119 obese, NAFLD (types 1,2) and NASH (NAFLD types 3,4) patients after adjusting for age, gender and race.

Clinical characteristics	BMI	Waist circumference	Physical activity	Smoking	Drinking
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	-	-	0.293	0.010	0.280
Waist circumference (cm)	-	-	0.630	0.051	0.208
ALT (units/L)	0.924	0.645	0.650	0.427	0.402
AST (units/L)	0.910	0.682	0.247	0.630	0.484
AST/ALT ratio	1.000	0.824	0.379	0.487	0.665
C-Reactive Protein (mg/l)	0.003	0.005	n/a	0.778	0.359
Glucose, fasting (mmol/l)	0.266	0.213	0.932	0.848	0.252
HOMA-IR	0.574	0.112	0.151	0.137	0.526
HbA1c (%)	0.242	0.106	0.312	0.731	0.854
Insulin concentration (mmol/l)	0.855	0.310	*n/a	0.476	0.947
Tf Saturation (%)	0.267	0.163	*n/a	0.197	0.545
Total Cholesterol (mmol/l)	0.732	0.889	0.603	0.158	0.737
LDL Cholesterol (mmol/l)	0.855	0.430	0.754	0.198	0.096
HDL Cholesterol (mmol/l)	0.139	0.167	0.143	0.655	0.330
Triglycerides (mmol/l)	0.712	0.348	0.611	0.272	0.543

n/a, not available

**Table 3.7.9**. P-values for the interaction between PPARγ rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) and environmental factors on clinical characteristics in 119 obese, NAFLD (types 1,2) and NASH (NAFLD types 3,4) patients after adjusting for age, gender and race.

Clinical characteristics		Waist			
	BMI	circumference	Physical activity	Smoking	Drinking
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	-	-	0.713	0.704	0.548
Waist circumference (cm)	-	-	0.742	0.425	0.215
ALT (units/L)	0.726	0.766	0.672	0.803	0.100
AST (units/L)	0.745	0.675	0.337	0.846	0.048
AST/ALT ratio	0.285	0.196	0.514	0.463	0.972
C-Reactive Protein (mg/l)	0.795	0.819	0.645	*n/a	n/a
Glucose, fasting (mmol/l)	0.955	0.996	0.729	0.821	0.640
HOMA-IR	0.544	0.208	0.743	0.672	0.236
HbA1c (%)	0.191	0.827	0.555	0.123	0.960
Insulin concentration (mmol/l)	0.676	0.289	0.876	0.782	0.032
Tf Saturation (%)	0.286	0.951	0.425	0.396	0.838
Total Cholesterol (mmol/l)	0.377	0.899	0.076	0.346	0.090
LDL Cholesterol (mmol/l)	0.860	0.715	0.119	0.046	0.117
HDL Cholesterol (mmol/l)	0.093	0.287	0.279	0.245	0.315
Triglycerides (mmol/l)	0.013	0.374	0.167	0.829	0.109

n/a, not available

Age of onset of fatty liver disease was on average 5 years younger in the presence of each risk-associated TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 A-allele (p=0.028) and 3 years younger when incorporated as part of the genotype risk score tested in the total group of 119 patients included in this study. Extended statistical analysis to verify these age effects in relation to alcohol intake and smoking was subsequently undertaken. Single effects were assessed after adjusting for multiple variables, as well as combined effects to determine the impact of cumulative risk.

**Table 3.7.10.** P-values for assessment of genetic association with age of onset of fatty liver disease symptoms in the combined patient group (n=119) according to sets of factors including the presence or absence of alcohol consumption or smoking.

Variables tested	Adjusted for	P-value
Alcohol	Race, gender	0.095
TNFa rs1800629	Race, gender, alcohol	0.015
Genotype risk score	Race, gender, alcohol	0.020
TNF $\alpha$ , race, gender, alcohol*	-	0.008
Risk score, race, gender, alcohol*	-	0.009
Race, gender, alcohol*	-	0.059
Alcohol, risk score	Race, gender	0.639
Smoker	Race, gender	0.882
TNFa rs1800629	Race, gender, smoker	0.766
Genotype risk score	Race, gender, smoker	0.418
TNF $\alpha$ , race, gender, smoker *	-	0.477
Risk score, race, gender, smoker*	-	0.412
Race, gender, smoker*	-	0.363
Smoker, risk score	Race, gender	0.595

\*combined effects of multiple variables were tested to determine cumulative risk

Further analysis showed that each TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 risk-associated A-allele subtracts on average 5 years from age in the patient study group, after adjusting for race, gender and alcohol consumption (5.5 years, p=0.015). When these factors were combined to assess cumulative risk, the association becomes even more significant (p=0.008). For each extra risk allele incorporated in the genotype risk score (0-6) for FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 (-308 G>A) and PPARy rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G), 2.6 years are subtracted (figure 3.7.3) after adjusting for race, gender and alcohol consumption (p=0.020). Alcohol intake or smoking had no effect on age of onset of fatty liver disease symptoms with or without adjusting for confounders.



**Figure 3.7.3**.Box plots of age of onset of fatty liver disease symptoms in the patient study group (n=119) and a genotype risk score for FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T><u>A</u>), TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 (-308 G><u>A</u>) and PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 <u>C</u>>G). The risk-associated alleles as previously described in the literature in relation to obesity and/or insulin resistance are underlined.

The association between age of onset of fatty liver disease symptoms and allelic combination for FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 (-308 G>A) and PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) in NAFLD types1,2, NAFLD types 3,4 (NASH) and obese patients was significant (p=0.039) after adjustment for gender. The modelled effect of allelic combination on age of diagnoses is illustrated in figure 3.7.4.
Chapter III





Figure 3.7.4. Modelled ages for onset of fatty liver disease symptoms or NAFLD diagnosis for all the allelic combinations of FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 (-308 G>A) and PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) for males and females.

Gender had an independently significant effect in the joint model of gender and allelic combinations (p=0.023). After the adjustment for allelic combination, females were 5.2 years younger at onset compared to male patients.

There was no independent significant association between age of diagnosis and PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) (p=0.113) even when adjusted for gender (p=0.127). However the combination of age and gender was significant (p=0.033) and with each risk associated PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 C-allele age of onset is reduced by 3.7 years. The largest effect on earlier age of onset of fatty liver disease symptoms was exerted by TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 (-308 G>A), while FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A) was not associated with earlier age of onset of disease symptoms or diagnosis.

Chapter IV

Discussion

# **CHAPTER IV**

Discussion

Functional SNPs in the FTO (rs9939609, intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$  (rs1800629, -308 G>A) and PPARy (rs1801282, Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) genes were studied in 166 control individuals and 119 NAFLD patients subdivided into obese patients with fatty liver identified on ultrasound alone (n=31) and histologically confirmed NAFLD patients (n=88). An important objective of the study was to identify genetic determinants of disease progression from fatty liver disease to NASH, with a particular focus on the role of insulin resistance and inflammation in the disease process. Insulin resistance has previously been identified as a central feature of NAFLD in the South African population, while obesity was excluded as an independent determinant of disease severity at the clinical level by Kruger et al. (2010). This parent study provided a clinically wellcharacterised study population for possible confirmation of these findings at the DNA level. Functional SNPs in the FTO (rs9939609, intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$  (rs1800629, -308) G>A) and PPARy (rs1801282, Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) genes were selected for evaluation in this context, in view of their proven role in inflammation, obesity, insulin resistance and/or type II diabetes (Frayling et al. 2007 Gouda et al. 2010; Namvaran et al. 2011; Prakash et al. 2012; Sobati et al. 2012; Zhou et al. 2012a).

The genetic data provided in this study indeed confirmed the central role of insulin resistance in the disease process, while obesity was excluded as an independent risk factor for development of NAFLD and/or progression to NASH. The genetic contribution of the TNF- $\alpha$  SNP (rs1800629, -308 G>A) was shown to be of particular importance in relation to NAFLD. Due to the invasiveness of histopathologic diagnosis based on liver biopsy the identification of predictive genetic risk factors represents an important area of research to facilitate the prevention of cumulative risk that may lead the development of CVD or hepatic fibrosis. Kruger *et al.* (2011) have demonstrated the clinical usefulness of APRI as a non-invasive marker for liver fibrosis to avoid liver biopsy in South African patients with NAFLD. However, the undefined nature of hereditary factors impacting on disease development and severity in the ethnically diverse South African population warrants genetic studies to identify the underlying disease mechanism(s) in clinically well characterised NAFLD patients.

A critical step for implementation of genetic tests is to understand where the additional information provided by this technology fits into the context of the current clinico-pathological prognostication of NAFLD. This study was therefore modelled on a

pathology supported genetic testing (PSGT) approach recently described in the context of CVD, to identify patient subgroups requiring different treatment strategies (Kotze and van Rensburg, 2012). Genetic testing for CVD risk factors provides a prototype for complex conditions that frequently share disease mechanisms due in part to overlap between genetic risk factors. NAFLD is the hepatic manifestation of the metabolic syndrome and is an established CVD risk factor (Neuschwander-Tetri et al. 2003; Targher et al. 2007). An important consideration was therefore to extend the CVD multigene test developed in South Africa (Kotze et al. 2003, Kotze and Thiart 2003) by adding a genetic component related to obesity, insulin resistance and inflammation for CVD risk evaluation in patients with symptoms of fatty liver disease. Functional SNPs in the FTO (rs9939609, intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$  (rs1800629, -308 G>A) and PPARy (rs1801282, Pro12Ala C>G) genes were selected for this purpose as discussed below in relation to the specific aims defined for this study: 1) to perform analytical validation of high-throughput RT-PCR assays for the selected SNPs against direct sequencing as the gold standard; 2) compare the genotype distribution and allele frequencies between NAFLD patient subgroups and controls; 3) correlate clinical and biochemical parameters of insulin resistance with genotype and environmental factors assessed in NAFLD patients; and 4) determine the potential impact of risk factors incorporated into a genotype risk score on age of onset in fatty liver disease patients in relation to NAFLD disease severity.

#### 4.1. Analytical validation of high-throughput RT-PCR

DNA samples of the 166 Caucasian control individuals were used to perform analytical validation of the high-throughput real time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) genotyping method, against direct sequencing as the gold standard. Analytical validation of the RT-PCR screening method used was accomplished by comparing pre-sequenced positive control samples and including them as internal control samples during each run to corroborate the results generated during the screening process.

Methods currently available to genotype an individual's DNA include conventional or real time PCR using DNA fragment analysis or allele specific oligonucleotide probes, conventional DNA sequencing, next generation DNA sequencing, nucleic acid hybridization (microarrays/beads), restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) analysis, terminal or amplified (t-FLP or AFLP) and multiplex ligation-dependent probe

#### Chapter IV Discussion

amplification. PCR amplification using fluorescence resonance energy transfer probes was applied successfully in this study to genotype DNA samples of the study population for FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 (-308 G>A) and PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282, (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G). The probes used amplified the specific mutation sites of interest and the results obtained were corroborated by direct DNA sequencing. Comparison of PCR-based mutation screening methods against direct sequencing as the gold standard has proven to be a dependable approach for analytical validation of new genotyping assays. In this study conventional PCR amplification was used in conjunction with DNA sequencing to first identify positive and negative controls for the FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 (-308 G>A) and PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 G>C) SNPs used as internal controls in this study. High-throughput RT-PCR provided a rapid method for simultaneous analysis of large numbers of DNA samples in this study.

The principle of RT-PCR is nearly identical to that of conventional PCR except that the reaction mixtures differ. The "real time" reaction mixture used included a fluorescence resonance energy transfer probe that binds to the PCR product in a specific head to tail manner. The fluorescence data were collected after each amplification cycle. This allowed for optimisation of individual samples when compared to positive and negative controls resulting in an increased specificity and sensitivity of the individual assays performed in the study population.

The exponential phase of amplification (starting DNA and amplification product) is the most useful type of quantification and this forms the basis of RT-PCR. The two common methods for detecting RT-PCR products are the intercalating of fluorescent dyes with double stranded DNA; and specific DNA probes that are labelled with a reporter dye (fluorescent) detected after hybridization of the probe with its complimentary DNA. RT-PCR using *Taq*Man<sup>®</sup> assay in its simplest form is DNA binding to a dye such as SYBR Green that intercalates with the double stranded DNA. Fluorescence of the dye is detected after excitation; however this binding process of SYBR Green is non-specific. Therefore, in order to detect a specific amplicon an oligonucleotide probe labelled with a specific reporter molecule was added in the reaction of SYBR Green. When the probe binds to its target sequence a signal was generated that is directly proportional to the number of molecules. To detect the fluorescence as it proceeds specific thermal cycler such as the Applied Biosystems<sup>®</sup> 7900HT (Brown, 2003) was used.

Chapter IV Discussion

The availability of high quality DNA extracted from blood or saliva was essential to successfully genotype (allelic discrimination) the individuals included in this study. The quality or quantity of many samples from the original database of NAFLD patients was not sufficient and therefore only 88 histologically confirmed NAFLD patients could be included in this study. Even though peripheral blood is the preferred source of DNA the extraction procedure required to obtain a sample is invasive. A study done by Abraham et al. (2012) investigated the feasibility of using saliva extracted DNA in comparison to blood-extracted DNA. Their findings suggested that the total DNA yield in saliva were lower (mean 24µg) compared to blood (mean 210 µg) after adjusting for the volume difference. Protein contamination and the rate of DNA fragmentation measured higher in saliva compared to blood. However, when genotyping using TagMan<sup>®</sup> assays as we did during the allelic discrimination phase of this project, genotype call rates and concordance were the same for all the samples assessed. Saliva sample collection is less invasive for the patient and more convenient for the clinician and this could positively affect participant recruitment for genetic studies and be a viable alternative DNA source for high throughput genotyping techniques. Within this study an optimal quantity and quality of DNA was obtained, irrespective of the extraction protocol used (blood or saliva).

# 4.2. Comparison of genotype distribution and allele frequencies between study groups

Following the optimisation of the RT-PCR assays for the FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 (-308 G>A) and PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) SNPs in 166 Caucasian control individuals, a total of 119 patients were genotyped using the ABI<sup>TM</sup> 7900HT and Corbett Rotor-Gene<sup>TM</sup>. Thirty-one patients with a fatty liver detected on ultrasound alone were grouped separately for comparative studies from the 88 histologically confirmed NAFLD patients, including 47 Coloured, 35 Caucasian, 5 Black and 1 Indian patient. Within the non-histologically confirmed obese patient group 23 patients were Coloured, 6 Caucasian and 2 Black. Since genotype distribution and allele frequencies of most SNPs vary considerably between ethnic groups, statistical comparisons were made within the same ethnic group or after adjustment for ethnicity.

The prevalence of NAFLD/NASH varies greatly among different population groups and

raised the question whether this could partly be ascribed to differences in allele frequencies of disease-associated SNPs across ethnic groups. The incidence of nonalcoholic hypertransaminasemia in Japanese individuals was 31 cases per 1000 personyears (Suzuki et al. 2005) and 29 cases per 100 000 person years in Europeans (Hamaguchi et al. 2005). The prevalence of NAFLD in Korean liver transplant donors was 51% (Lee et al. 2007) and 20% in American donors (Marcos et al. 2000). The prevalence of steatohepatitis and fibrosis in lean autopsied Canadian individuals was 3% and 7%, respectively (Wanless and Lentz, 1990). Autopsied cases from Greece revealed steatosis in 31% and NASH in 40% of traffic accident deaths, after exclusion of other liver diseases (Zois et al. 2010). There is convincing evidence substantiating that genetic factors account for considerable variability in the natural history of NAFLD. A family clustering study conducted by Wilner et al. (2001) has shown that one fifth of patients with NASH have a similarly affected first-degree relative. In a study by Struben et al. (2000), coexistence of NASH and cryptogenic cirrhosis was observed in seven out of eight families studied. To fully elucidate an accurate global incidence rate for NAFLD further research is needed. A variety of diagnostic tools have been used to assess the prevalence of NAFLD in the general population, liver biopsies being the gold standard method for NASH diagnosis and staging.

For this study a control group for the coloured population was not available for study. All three SNPs tested in the 166 South African Caucasian control individuals were in Hardy Weinberg equilibrium, while in the NAFLD patient group subdivided into Coloured (p=0.005) and Caucasian (p=0.043) patients a significant deviation was observed for PPARy rs1801282. This was caused by over-representation of the PPARy rs1801282 GG genotype, an observation that is unrelated to increased or decreased disease risk related to the G- or C-allele. PPARy rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) groupings were found to be in Hardy Weinberg equilibrium in the 31 obese patients, but since this group includes both Caucasian and Coloured individuals this finding may not be reliable. Hardy Weinberg equilibrium is a mathematical statement that describes genetic balance (allele and genotype frequencies) within a population. The genetic characteristics tend to remain constant unless outside forces (mutations, immigration, disease state etc.) act to change it.

Comparison of the FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A), TNF-a rs1800629 (-308 G>A) and

# PPAR $\gamma$ rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) minor allele frequencies and genotype distribution between the different study groups did not show significant differences between the general Caucasian controls (21% obese) and Caucasian NAFLD patients (71% obese). Although the risk-associated TNF- $\alpha$ A-allele detected in 9% of the 35 NAFLD patients appeared to be lower than the 15% detected in the 166 controls this difference did not reach statistical significance (p=0.981), as was also confirmed in a sub-analysis of 67 Caucasian controls with normal BMI (<25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>).

The allele frequencies and genotype distribution of FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A), (38%) TT, 42% TA, 20% AA) in the Caucasian controls were found to be similar to a study of 4291 Caucasian individuals conducted by Lurie et al. (2011), (36% TT, 47% TA, 17% AA). A significant difference in genotype distribution (p=0.018) and allele frequencies (p=0.005) for the FTO rs9939609 T>A SNP was identified in NAFLD Coloured patients compared with NAFLD Caucasian patients. The minor A-allele was detected at a lower frequency in the South African Coloured NAFLD patients compared to the Caucasian NAFLD patients. The number of Black NAFLD patients included in the study was too small to determine allele frequencies with accuracy. Lombard et al. (2012) reported the genotype distribution of FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A) in Black South African adolescents from the Birth to Twenty cohort to be 20% TT, 53% TA and 27% AA, with a minor allele frequency of 47%. These authors identified a stronger association between FTO rs17817449 and obesity in the Black population studied, compared with FTO rs9939609 analysed in our study. The minor A-allele of FTO rs9939609 was detected at a similar frequency in the NAFLD (types 3,4) group (41%) compared to the NASH (NAFLD types 1,2) patient group (37%), with the lowest overall frequency in the Coloured NAFLD patient group.

The FTO rs9939609 A-allele was reported as the risk allele (Li *et al.* 2012) and is considered a predictive factor for the development of obesity and subsequently type II diabetes. Failure to confirm the role of this SNP on disease development or progression in the context of obesity in our study population corresponds with earlier findings in NAFLD patients at the clinical level (Kruger *et al.* 2010). This may partly be ascribed to the fact that the non-histologically confirmed obese patients with fatty liver detected on ultrasound only was preselected as being obese. To our knowledge, the FTO rs9939609 has not previously been studied in South African NAFLD patients, and the allele

frequencies and genotype distribution are also reported for the first time in patients with fatty liver disease.

In the case of TNF- $\alpha$  rs180629 (G>A) the allele frequencies and genotype distribution (72% GG, 26% GA, 2% AA) in the general Caucasian control samples were found to be similar to those previously reported (72% GG, 27% GA, 1% AA) by Paskulin *et al.* (2011). In a study performed by Joffe *et al.* (2011) in the South African Caucasian population comparison of genotype distribution (p=0.345) between normal-weight (55% GG, 43% GA, 2% AA) and obese (58% GG, 40% GA, 1% AA) individuals or allele frequencies (p=0.453) did not reveal any statistically significant differences for TNF- $\alpha$  rs180629. After adjustment for age, gender and race the minor allele count for the TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 A-allele was significantly higher in NAFLD patients (types 1-4) (p=0.047) and NASH (NAFLD types 3,4) (p=0.03) compared with obese patients without a histologically confirmed diagnosis (see table 3.6.3). This finding is in accordance with the expectation of increased disease severity ranging in our study population from obese to NAFLD (types 1,2) to NASH (NAFLD types 3,4) and may be related to an increased risk of inflammation known to be associated with NASH (Argo *et al.* 2011).

The risk-associated A-allele of TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 was present at a significantly higher frequency in Coloured NAFLD patients (16%) compared with Caucasian NAFLD patients (9%) (p=0.034). This finding may be related to different disease patterns of NAFLD seen among ethnic groups. In a diet intervention study performed in the South African Black population the frequency of the TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 A-allele ranged between 14% to 20% in normal weight and obese individuals, respectively (Joffe et al. 2011). The A-allele frequency in Chinese individuals was reported to be 9%, French and Scandinavian 16%, Germans 18% and in Australians 24% (Feng et al. 2011). The overall frequency of the -308 TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 G>A polymorphism as reported by Wang *et al.* (2012) within a NAFLD population group were similar or slightly lower (14.2%) compared to the control group (15.6%). This trend was also observed in our study, as 26% of the Caucasian control samples tested positive for the TNF-a rs1800629 polymorphism and 22% of the NAFLD types 1-4 patient group. The genotype distribution of TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 were very similar in the Caucasian control samples and NAFLD Caucasian patient samples. A similar TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 genotype distribution in 244 South African women with cervical cancer (71% GG, 26% GA and 3% AA) was also reported by Govan et al. (2006).

Homozygosity of for the TNF- $\alpha$  AA genotype is relatively rare in the general population ranging from 1% as reported by Stanczuk *et al.* (2003) in Zimbabwean individuals to 5% in several other population groups.

The allele frequencies and genotype distribution (73% CC, 23% CG, 3% GG) of PPARγ rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) in the Caucasian control samples were comparable to those observed by Mook-Kanamori *et al.* (2009) (77% CC, 21% CG, 2% GG). Although the difference was not statistically significant, the risk-associated C-allele of PPARγ rs1801282 was found to be more prevalent in the NASH (types 3,4) patient group (95%) compared to the NAFLD (types 1,2) patient group (89%) as would be expected in relation to disease severity. The PPARγ rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) C-allele occurred at a higher frequency in the Coloured NAFLD patients (91%) compared to the Caucasian NAFLD patients (83%), but after adjustment for age this difference did not reach statistical significance.

The PPARγ rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, -34 C>G) SNP is located in exon 2 of the PPARγ gene, consisting of 9 exons. The SNP arises from a C to G substitution at nucleotide position 34 of the NM\_015869.4 PPARG transcript-

(http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/gene/?term=NM\_015869.4%20). However, the position of the variant may change depending on the specified transcript. For example, one of the PPARγ splice variants relates to a SNP that is located in an intronic region, while in others the SNP site is allocated to an exonic region (Pro40Ala). Therefore, it is very important to specify the splice variant from which the sequence surrounding the Pro12Ala was obtained and to provide the correct SNP identity number (whether rs1801282 or rs1805192) when designing the genotype assay for functional PPARγ rs1801282.

There is controversy regarding the role of PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) in type 2 diabetes, obesity and insulin resistance. This is mostly ascribed to the fact that in different population groups this SNP acts in the background of other polymorphisms that may vary in frequency between ethnic groups and/or exerts its effect in combination with different environmental exposures to precipitate certain phenotypes. For example, 12Ala (GG genotype) has been associated with decreased BMI, lower insulin, higher insulin sensitivity, and higher HDL-cholesterol (Huguenin and Rosa, 2010). In contrast, Passaro *et al.* (2011) associated the variant with increased BMI (kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and body fat mass.

Chapter IV Discussion

Gouda *et al.* (2010) showed that in women the 12Ala variant was associated with type 2 diabetes. Oh *et al.* (2000), on the other hand, did not find any link between Pro12Ala rs1801282 C>G and either diabetes or obesity. The frequency of the Pro12Ala polymorphism varies between cohorts from different European countries (Helwig *et al.* 2007). The association between insulin resistance and PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 may be dependent on age as reported by Li *et al.* (2003). Hasstedt *et al.* (2001) suggested that the variant acts in a recessive manner affecting phenotypes commonly associated with insulin resistance syndrome, and this may explain the inconsistent associations reported in previous studies.

The risk-associated PPARy rs1801282 C-allele contributes to insulin resistance (Namvaran et al. 2011; Sanghera et al. 2010) and as NAFLD is considered the hepatic manifestation of the metabolic syndrome, individuals homozygote for C-allele may be at a higher risk for developing NAFLD or to progress to NASH. The role of PPARy in the development of NAFLD is still not conclusive but point to the direction that NAFLD patients are more insulin resistant and have a higher risk allele frequency compared to the general population. Since the PPARy CC genotype is associated with an increased risk of type II diabetes it is feasible that evolutionary pressure due to environmental hardship could have influenced the survival advantage and spread of this genotype in previous generations. Pirie et al. (2010) conducted a study of genetic variation of PPARy in South African subjects of Zulu descent presenting with type 2 diabetes, but the allelic distribution did not differ between subjects with or without type 2 diabetes. We also did not find any statistically significant differences in genotype distribution or allele frequencies between the study groups, despite the fact that the PPARy rs1801282 allelic distribution deviated from Hardy Weinberg equilibrium only in South African NAFLD patients.

# 4.3. Correlation of clinical and biochemical parameters of insulin resistance and inflammation with genotype and environmental factors assessed in NAFLD patients

Subtle genetic variation of FTO rs9939609 T>A, TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 G>A and PPAR $\gamma$  interacting with environmental factors such as smoking, physical activity and alcohol consumption combined with clinical (BMI, waist circumference) and biochemical parameters (lipid profile, CRP etc.) may contribute to the disease process as may be

# reflected by age at diagnosis/onset of disease symptoms and progression from mild NAFLD types 1,2 to the more severe NAFLD types 3,4 (NASH). In order to investigate these aspects, potential confounding factors was taken into account for comparative analyses.

In this study a significant effect of age, gender and race was detected for BMI (p<0.009), HbA1c levels (p=0.010) and HDL-cholesterol (p=0.004) among obese and NAFLD patients subdivided into types1,2 and types 3,4 (NASH). BMI kg/m<sup>2</sup> was found to be significantly higher in both Coloured NAFLD patients and Black NAFLD patients compared to the Caucasian NAFLD patients (p=0.009), after adjusting for age, gender and race. The impact of obesity varies greatly, even among individuals with a similar BMI, it is also a rather crude method of describing the total adiposity because other factors such as genetics, gender, age, masculinity, ethnicity and body fat distribution (visceral or abdominal) that influence BMI (Stommel *et al.* 2010). Obesity in NAFLD may also vary greatly among NAFLD patients with a similar BMI (Lomonaco *et al.* 2012). Female patients and older individuals have a higher adiposity for any given BMI compared to younger male subjects, and obesity early in life significantly predisposes individuals to future metabolic related diseases such as CVD and type 2 diabetes (Cusi, 2012).

The average plasma glucose concentration over a prolonged period of time may be reflected by means of measuring HbA1c levels. In this study race was found to significantly affect HbA1c levels, with higher levels detected in Coloured NAFLD patients compared with Caucasian NAFLD patients (p=0.010). Since HDL-cholesterol is significantly affected by gender (Whakabayashi, 2012) the finding that female patients had on average a 0.22 mmol/l higher HDL-cholesterol level compared to male patients (p=0.004) could be expected.

The importance of race as a risk factor for NAFLD was demonstrated by reports that the prevalence of NAFLD, hepatic steatosis and concentrated aminotransferase levels are the highest in Hispanic individuals followed by Whites, with the lowest rate in African Americans (Kalwitz *et al.* 2008; Williams *et al.* 2011). The finding of ethnicity as an independent risk factor for advanced liver disease in NAFLD patients may explain the protective role African Americans have against advanced liver disease. The true explanation for ethnic differences in the prevalence of NAFLD in still not fully understood.

Differences in visceral adiposity and other characteristics such as adiponectin levels in African Americans may be affected by unidentified genetic and environmental factors (Wagenknecht *et al.* 2009). The heritability component of hepatic steatosis is based on large family cohort studies is 0.27 (Speliotes *et al.* 2011). However, this clustering could simply be a reflection of the heritability of other risk factors affecting NAFLD such as obesity and insulin resistance. Two studies examining ethnic differences in the prevalence of NAFLD strongly suggest that susceptibility to NAFLD rather than to its risk factors may have a genetic component (Browning *et al.* 2004; Caldwell *et al.* 2002).

The prevalence of NAFLD-related fibrosis consistently increases with age as reported in a study by Firth *et al.* (2009). The 351 histologically confirmed NAFLD patients divided into older, middle aged and younger groups showed a significant association between the prevalence of NAFLD and fibrosis with increasing age. Older patients have more NAFLD related risk factors, such as hypertension, obesity, insulin resistance and hyperlipidaemia, which could explain the association between age and the prevalence of NAFLD in elderly individuals (Vernon *et al.* 2011). Advanced age is considered an independent risk factor for hepatic steatosis (Ascha *et al.* 2010; Lee *et al.* 2007). It is important to note that younger NAFLD patients with unexplained liver enzyme elevations were associated with hepatic steatosis and higher ALT activity. Since the age range of both our control samples and patient sample groups were above 45 years (median), age as an independent risk factor is unlikely to affect the comparative analyses performed between subgroups in our study group; however, where possible we have adjusted for age.

The idea of gender influencing NAFLD susceptibility lacks empirical support. Initially NAFLD was thought to be more common in females (Fan *et al.* 2005; Singh *et al.* 2004), but a study of 26 527 Asian subjects revealed that the prevalence of NAFLD was higher in men (32%) than in women (16%) (Chen *et al.* 2008). Within our study more females was present in both the general Caucasian control group (66%) and NAFLD types 1,2, NAFLD types 3,4 and NASH patient (88%) groups compared to the males in each group. Some studies reported that male gender is associated with elevated aminotransferase levels, hepatic fibrosis, histologically confirmed NASH and overall mortality (Papatheodoridis *et al.* 2007; Kallwitz *et al.* 2008). The association between female gender and NAFLD or fibrosis has only been reported in a few studies (Hashimoto *et al.* 

2005; Ong *et al.* 2005); however one study reported that female gender is an independent risk factor for NASH especially in patients with the metabolic syndrome (Sorrentino *et al.* 2004). Female gender may be an important risk factor for earlier development of metabolic syndrome features that may cumulate in NAFLD as females had a significantly earlier age of onset of disease symptoms which correlated significantly with presence of the risk-associated A-C allelic combination of the TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 (-308 G>A) and PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) SNPs.

The test of difference between the obese, NAFLD (types 1.2) and NASH (NAFLD types 3,4) after adjustment for age gender and race did not show a difference in BMI and waist circumference between the histologically confirmed NAFLD (types 1,2) and NASH (NAFLD types 3,4) patients. However, both NAFLD patient subgroups had a lower BMI (on average 4.4 kg/m<sup>2</sup> for NASH and 4.2 kg/m<sup>2</sup> for NAFLD types 1.2) (p=0.015) and waist circumference (on average 10 cm for NASH and 12 cm for NAFLD types 1.2) (p=0.002) compared to the obese patient group. This finding is in accordance with the selection of patients with BMI above 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> for the obese patient group, in order to further investigate the role of obesity in the development/progression of NAFLD. Significantly higher levels of ALT (p=0.031) (on average 23.4 units/L higher), glucose (2.7 mmol/l higher) (p=0.005), HbA1c (1.54 % higher) (p=0.003), HOMA-IR (1.13 units higher) (p<0.001) and triglycerides (p=0.017) (1.33 mmol/l higher) were observed in the NASH patient subgroup (NAFLD types 3, 4) compared with the obese patient subgroup, after adjustment for age, gender and race. HbA1c (p=0.003), HOMA-IR (p<0.001) and triglyceride levels (p=0.017) were also significantly higher in NASH (types 3, 4) compared to NAFLD (types 1,2) patients.

NAFLD is the hepatic manifestation of the metabolic syndrome characterised by elevated triglyceride levels, for this reason we expected to find the highest triglyceride levels in the NASH types 3,4 patient group. A statistically significant difference was earlier observed in the mean serum triglyceride levels when South African patients with NAFLD (types 1,2) were compared with NASH (NAFLD types 3,4) patients, while these levels did not differ significantly between patients with no/mild fibrosis and those with advanced fibrosis (Kruger *et al.* 2010). These findings implicated dyslipidemia in the pathogenesis of NASH, while apparently unrelated to the risk of advanced fibrosis that was not investigated in the current study. Even though virtually all the South African

patients studied by Kruger *et al.* (2010) were either overweight or obese, the presence of marked obesity did not predict the presence of more advanced liver disease. These findings from the parent study suggest that in addition to obesity or insulin resistance as a consequence of high BMI, secondary hits involving gene-environment interactions may be required to develop NASH and advanced fibrosis after the first signs of fatty liver becomes evident on ultrasound. The results presented in this study provide supporting evidence for these earlier clinical findings now also at the DNA level.

After further adjustment for smoking, alcohol consumption and physical activity the significant differences in waist circumference and biochemical parameters for ALT (p=0.042), glucose (p=0.008), HOMA-IR (p<0.001) and HbA1c (p=0.007) levels detected in NASH types 3,4 patients compared to the obese and/or NAFLD (types 1, 2) patients remained significant, while the previous associations reported for BMI and triglyceride levels disappeared. This finding was mainly ascribed to reduced statistical power with inclusion of three more variables adjusted for in the statistical model and small sample size. After adjustment for all 6 variables, a statistically significant association between the risk-associated TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 A-allele and CRP levels (p=0.029) was furthermore observed due to a favourable effect of low- to moderate alcohol intake on CRP levels. This biochemical marker of inflammation increased significantly (25.7 mg/l) with each risk-associated A-allele detected among fatty liver disease patients. The favourable effect of low-moderate alcohol intake on CRP-levels in patients with fatty liver disease is an important observation. Chronic systemic low grade inflammation increases with the degree of obesity and insulin resistance, especially if coronary artery disease is also present (Wannamethee et al. 2004). Patients who reported low-moderate alcohol intake had on average 70% reduced CRP levels compared with patients who abstained from alcohol drinking (p=0.038).

The grade of hepatic necro-inflammation correlates with the categories of steatohepatitis as mild, moderate or severe. It is well known that serum TNF- $\alpha$  levels correlate with metabolic associated risk factors such as BMI and percentage body fat. Tsukui *et al.* (2000) reported that exercise and TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 independently correlates with changes in HbA1c and fasting insulin levels. The finding that CRP levels are significantly higher in NASH patients compared to the less severe obese/NAFLD (types 1,2) patient groups, while BMI and waist circumference were lower, is ascribed to the fact that the

obese group included only patients with BMI above 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> due to the selecting criteria used for this patient subgroup. Furthermore, the finding that each PPAR $\gamma$  C-allele is associated with a BMI reduction of 3.45 kg/m<sup>2</sup> on average (p=0.020), may be explained in the same manner.

The elevated C-reactive protein levels for each added TNF-α A-allele is contradictive to the reduced waist circumference finding with each additive A-allele in the selected patient group. Therefore the reduced waist circumference (6 cm less in the presence of each risk-associated A-allele) that seems to be associated with the risk-associated TNFa rs1800629 A-allele cannot be ascribed to the gene effect but rather to the how the patients were selected for this study and other confounders such as smoking shown to be associated with reduced BMI and waist circumference. Patients of the same age, gender and race who smoke furthermore had on average 20% lower glucose levels than non-smokers. This unexpected finding, as well as the observation that a kg/m<sup>2</sup> unit increase in BMI decreases ALT, AST, glucose, HbA1c, transferrin saturation, total cholesterol and triglycerides with between 1-3%, excluded obesity as an independent risk factor for progression from fatty liver disease to NASH as previously reported in a clinical assessment performed in the parent study (Kruger et al. 2010). In view of the fact that NAFLD is a syndrome overlapping with obesity related traits and insulin resistance, it nevertheless seems likely that treating or managing both these conditions would influence the genetic predisposition to fatty liver disease. In a study performed by Timpson et al. (2011) the role of FTO rs9939609 in adiposity supported the causal effect of BMI on circulating CRP levels.

The test of interaction between environmental factors (BMI and waist circumference considered a reflection of the diet, physical activity, smoking and alcohol consumption) and SNPs FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 (-308 G>A) and PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) on clinical and biochemical characteristics in the total group of 119 obese, NAFLD types 1,2 and NAFLD types 3,4 (NASH) patients, after adjusting for age, gender and race, revealed that physically active subjects were leaner compared to the inactive patients. Increased physically activity are therefore likely to reduce the influence of genetic factors to develop obesity. The complex relationship between physical activity and the degree of genetic influence on BMI and waist circumference was in accordance with the Mustelin *et al.* (2009) study. The average

waist circumference of physically inactive NAFLD patients was 12% higher compared to the active NAFLD patients (p=0.004).

Smoking had a significant effect on BMI in relation to the FTO rs9939609 and TNF- $\alpha$ rs1800629 SNPs analysed in South African NAFLD patients. For each risk-associated FTO rs9939609 A-allele and TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 A-allele detected among smokers, BMI was significantly reduced by 13% and 27%, respectively, compared with patients with two copies of the major SNP alleles (p=0.010). Obesity is related to personality addictive disorders such as alcohol dependence (Barry et al. 2009). Poor decision making is a core symptom of addictive behaviours such as smoking and alcohol abuse as addicts tend to choose the action that brings them immediate relieve of their craving even when these actions lead to deleterious outcome. This could explain why individuals who smoke have a reduced waist circumference and BMI despite the presence of a genetic predisposition for obesity. Instead of eating they smoke to bring immediate reward for their emotional state (Davies and Carter, 2009; Bechara and Martin, 2004). When the potential allelic effect of FTO rs9939609 was investigated on transferrin saturation levels, it was shown that the rate of change was not significant in smokers (lower for each risk allele) nor in non-smokers (higher), but the difference between the effects was significant. The potential implications of this finding is not clear but needs to be evaluated with caution due to small sample size.

In patients who reported low-moderate alcohol intake, each FTO A-allele increased LDLcholesterol by 54%, compared to having inherited no A-allele (p=0.002), while there was no allelic effect in those who abstain from alcohol consumption. A similar marginally significant effect was observed for reduced HDL-cholesterol (p=0.053), which together with total cholesterol (p=0.063) and triglycerides determine LDL-cholesterol levels. A study conducted by Zhou *et al.* (2012) confirmed that FTO rs9939609 positively correlates with features of the metabolic syndrome, including hypertension, higher fasting insulin, glucose, triglycerides and lower HDL-cholesterol levels. Our findings may imply that the deleterious effect of the risk-associated A-allele of the FTO rs9939609 SNP may become clinically relevant with alcohol intake.

Increased TNF- $\alpha$  levels favour the development of insulin resistance and impaired glucose tolerance (Hui *et al.* 2004). TNF- $\alpha$  is a marker of systemic inflammation during cardiovascular events and a risk factor of metabolic syndrome which forms part of a

constellation of risk factors contributing to the pathogenesis of NAFLD in South African patients (Kruger, 2008). After adjustment for age, smoking and alcohol consumption, AA homozygotes (risk-associated genotype) for the TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 polymorphism studied by Lakka et al. (2006) had higher CRP levels compared to other genotypes and these levels decreased with exercise. In this study opposite effects were detected between TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 and CRP levels when considered in relation to BMI, with decreased CRP levels in the presence of the risk-associated A-allele. This finding demonstrates that a proven or expected phenotypic effect of low-penetrance genetic risk factors such as TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 could be masked or overridden by clinical characteristics possibly due in part to other, unidentified genetic risk factors that may be more relevant in a specific clinical context. While a significant 6% increase in CRP was observed for each extra kg/m<sup>2</sup> in BMI in the absence of the risk-associated A-allele (GG genotype) as can be expected, CRP levels were however reduced by 11% (GA genotype) and 26% (AA genotype), respectively, for each extra kg/m<sup>2</sup> in BMI in patients with the risk allele, compared to patients with the GG genotype (p=0.005). For each extra cm of waist circumference, CRP levels were 10% (GA genotype) or 21% (AA genotype) reduced, compared to patients with GG, for whom waist circumference did not show a significant effect (p=0.003). These findings are clearly contradictor and highlight the complexity of utilising genetic information in risk management of complex disorders. For this reason, the PSGT approach has been developed in South Africa that takes family history, current health status and lifestyle risk factors into account for clinical decision-making (Kotze and van Rensburg, 2012).

The above-mentioned approach is also relevant to the observations made in relation to triglyceride levels and PPARy rs1801282. In patients homozygous for the PPARy rs1801282 risk-associated C allele triglycerides decreased by 3% with each added unit of BMI and increased by 6% with each added BMI unit in GG homozygote patients (p=0.013). Abstaining from alcohol was not associated with a significant allelic effect of PPARy rs1801282 on insulin, while alcohol drinkers showed an increase of 175% with each G-allele (decrease of 175% with each C-allele). Since this finding was based on data from 1 drinker (AST 67 units/L) and three non-drinkers (average AST 29 units/L) these results as well - as the above-mentioned apparent interactions - should be interpreted with caution due to relatively small patient numbers in the subgroups available for gene-environment interaction studies in relation to biochemical parameters.

Activation of PPAR<sub>Y</sub> receptors using pioglitazone and rosiglitazone (anti-diabetic drugs) reduced alcohol consumption according to Stopponi *et al.* (2011). These findings provide new information about the role of PPAR<sub>Y</sub> receptors as a potential candidate treatment for alcoholism and warrant further investigation of the above-mentioned insulin-lowering effect of alcohol in the presence of the risk-associated PPAR<sub>Y</sub> rs1801282 C-allele, even though the results were obtained in a small number of patients. Further research is warranted to determine the benefit of using PPAR<sub>Y</sub> receptors as the target sites for the treatment of alcoholism especially in alcoholic fatty liver disease patients (Purohit *et al.* 2009).

#### 4.4 Impact of risk factors incorporated into a genotype risk score on age of onset in fatty liver disease patients in relation to NAFLD disease severity.

While genetic testing could help clinicians to diagnose HH or rare liver diseases that may be caused by high penetrance mutations, multiple low penetrance genetic variations (e.g. SNPs) influencing phenotypic expression are considered important contributors to the overall risk of disease development in NAFLD patients. An individual's level of risk and age of onset of disease depends on a monogenic genetic predisposition, rare variants and/or a complex interaction between modifiable environmental factors and SNPs in modifier genes (Krawczyk *et al.* 2010).

A genotype risk score was calculated for each patient included in this study by counting the risk associated FTO rs9939609 A-allele, the TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 A-allele, and the PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 C-allele. A minimum risk score of 0 and a maximum of 6 were obtained for each individual. None of the patients in the obese, NAFLD (types 1,2) or NASH (NAFLD types 3,4) subgroups were awarded the highest risk score of 6. A similar risk score of 2-3 was observed in these patient subgroups. No significant association with an increasing risk score was detected between the obese patients, NAFLD types 1,2 and NASH types 3,4 groups after adjusting for age, gender, race, smoking, alcohol consumption and physical activity. When genotype-phenotype association studies are performed, careful consideration of possible confounding factors is required to prevent the documentation of false associations (Laurie *et al.* 2010). This possibility was considered in relation with the finding that the allelic combination T-G-G was associated with a 5.93 kg/m<sup>2</sup> increased BMI compared to the T-G-C allelic combination and a 9.09 kg/m<sup>2</sup> increased BMI compared to the risk-associated A-A-C allelic combination adjusted for age, gender, race, smoking, alcohol consumption and physical activity (p=0.027). The most likely explanation for unexpected findings like these in the present study was the selection criteria applied for the obese group based on BMI, while the NAFLD types1-4 patients were included in the study based on liver histology to make the diagnosis of NAFLD. Insulin resistance and inflammation are the key drivers in NAFLD disease severity and genetic risk factors underlying these metabolic abnormalities may mask or override the effect of the FTO rs9939609 SNP included in this study.

Histologically confirmed NAFLD patients were, on average, 6 years older at entry into the study (also documented as the age of disease diagnosis) than the obese patient group (p=0.036). Age of onset of fatty liver disease was on average 5 years younger in the presence of each risk-associated TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 A-allele (p=0.028) among the 119 patients included in this study. This age effect was not observed on further assessment of the histologically confirmed NAFLD group only, after exclusion of the obese group, probably due to reduced statistical power in the smaller sample size. Several studies have implicated TNF- $\alpha$  gene variation in the development of NASH. The levels of TNF- $\alpha$  was reported higher in steatohepatitis subjects when compared to healthy controls (Barbuio *et al.* 2007; Wang *et al.* 2011; Musso *et al.* 2012). When the effect of the TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 A-allele on age of disease onset was considered in the context of FTO rs9939609 and PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 as part of a risk score, a 3 year onset of fatty liver disease symptoms was observed with each of the three risk-associated alleles detected (p=0.008).

Differences in environmental factors and other variables among study groups necessitate the need for adjustment of these factors when performing comparative analyses. A frequency of 8.8% for the allelic combination T-A-C was detected in the Coloured population while absent in Caucasians, which confirmed the need to consider the potential effect of population substructures and ethnic differences when comparing allelic distribution of SNPs in relation to phenotypic expression. Differences in alcohol consumption and smoking between the study groups were also identified as confounders that needed to be adjusted for in comparative studies. The interaction between the PPARy variant and smoking described by Yang *et al.* (2012) indicated that the presence of both factors exhibited a synergistic effect on the development of NAFLD. In this study the PPARy rs1801282 C allele was detected at a frequency of 79% in

smokers, compared with 97% in non-smokers, while 17% of patients with the GG genotype were smokers and all the non-smokers were either heterozygous or homozygous for the risk-associated C-allele. Although the observations of these statistical analyses to identify potential confounders have no obvious clinical implications, it confirmed the need to adjust for multiple variables in our study population during genotype-phenotype correlation studies.

As mentioned previously the age of onset of fatty liver disease was on average 5 years younger in the presence of each risk-associated TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 A-allele (p=0.028) and 3 years younger when incorporated as part of the genotype risk score tested in the total group of 119 patients included in this study. Extended statistical analysis was performed to verify these age effects in relation to alcohol intake and smoking. Single effects were assessed after adjusting for multiple variables, as well as combined effects to determine the potential impact of cumulative risk. The data obtained confirmed that each extra TNF-α rs1800629 risk-associated A-allele subtracts on average 5 years from age of onset in the patient study group, after adjusting for race, gender and alcohol consumption (5.5 years, p=0.015). When these factors were combined to assess cumulative risk, the association becomes even more significant (p=0.008). For each extra risk allele incorporated in the genotype risk score (0-6) for FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 (-308 G>A) and PPARy rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) 2.6 years are subtracted, even after adjusting for race, gender and alcohol use (2.6 years, p=0.020). When these factors were combined the association was much stronger (p=0.009). Alcohol intake or smoking had no independent effect on age of onset of fatty liver disease symptoms, which demonstrated the significance of the risk-associated TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 A-allele and even more so as part of the genotype risk score.

The association between age of onset of fatty liver disease symptoms and allelic combination for FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 (-308 G>A) and PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) in NAFLD types1,2, NAFLD types 3,4 (NASH) and obese patients was also statistically significant (p=0.039). The modelled ages in relation to all the allelic combinations for FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 (-308 G>A) and PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) showed that gender had an independent significant effect in the joint model of gender and allelic combinations (p=0.023). After the adjustment for allelic combination, females were 5.2

years younger at onset compared to male patients.

While no independent significant association between age of onset of fatty liver disease and PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) (p=0.113) was detected, even when adjusted for gender, the combination of age and gender was significant (p=0.033). With each risk associated PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 C-allele age of onset was reduced by 3.7 years. An independant effect on age of onset for development of fatty liver disease symptoms was not observed for FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A), which corresponds with previous exclusion of obesity as a significant risk factor in the NAFLD disease process (Kruger *et al.* 2010). The association between FTO rs9939609 and insulin resistance reported in the literature therefore appears to be secondary to obesity as the major phenotype associated with the FTO gene effect.

To date GWAS studies demonstrated increased risk of type 2 diabetes associated with SNPs in approximately 40 genes (McCarthy, 2010). Linder et al. (2012) included nine of these SNPs selected from the TCF7L2, KCNJ11, HHEX, SLC30A8, WFS1, KCNQ1, MTNR1B, FTO and PPARG genes, to develop a weighted genotype risk score. These authors found that the diabetes risk genotype score contributed significantly to prediction of impaired glucose tolerance and impaired fasting glycemia due to increased genetic load. This effect was not present in male, lean and insulin sensitive individuals that may indicate a protective role of beneficial environmental factors on the genetic risk (Linder et al. 2012). It also seems likely that in these cases the gene effect becomes clinically relevant in the presence of a second hit exerted by gender-related risk or insulin resistance. When the genotype risk score was reduced to 7 SNPs to reflect mainly a disruption of insulin secretion, after omitting the FTO (rs9939609) and PPARG (rs1801282) risk-associated alleles, the association with prediabetes was not abolished but rather strengthened. This finding raised the possibility that the genetic risk for prediabetes is mediated mainly through the genetic variation affecting insulin secretion. In the statistical model adjusted for insulin sensitivity, BMI was negatively associated with impaired glucose tolerance as a clinical outcome parameter. The association between BMI and impaired glucose tolerance was only positive when insulin sensitivity was omitted from the covariates. This finding is very relevant to our observation that NASH (types 3,4) patients have lower BMI and waist circumference than the less severe NAFLD (types 1,2) patients. Linder et al. (2012) suggested that once controlling for insulin sensitivity, a higher BMI may become protective against impaired glucose

#### Chapter IV Discussion

tolerance and that this phenomenon can possibly be explained by a statistical dissociation of BMI into metabolically harmful and metabolically non-harmful BMI by adjustment for insulin sensitivity. Over-representation of obese individuals with normal insulin sensitivity could therefore lead to biased results during association studies. Notably, the HOMA-IR levels of the obese patients (0.3) in our study population was markedly lower than in NAFLD (types 1,2) (1.0) and NASH (types 3,4) (1.3) patients.

Since the effect of the 9-SNP score was found to be independent of well-known environmental risk factors such as age, body weight and insulin resistance, Linder et al. (2012) concluded that early transition from normal glucose tolerance to impaired glucose tolerance is significantly affected by genetically determined risk. Data reported by Meigs et al. (2008) who genotyped SNPs at 18 diabetes-associated loci in more than 2000 participants of the Framingham Offspring Study, have furthermore shown that although individual per-allele effects are small, individuals with more risk alleles are at greater risk than those with fewer alleles irrespective of how many and which genes are considered. The most important research question was whether detection of the SNPs included in the statistical model allows better prediction of risk than knowledge of common phenotypic risk factors alone. Gender-adjusted odds ratio for diabetes was found to be 1.12 per risk allele and resulted in risk reclassification of, at most, 4% of the subjects after further adjustment for age, family history, BMI, fasting glucose level, systolic blood pressure, HDL-cholesterol level and triglycerides. The marginal ability of the genotype score to discriminate risk when relevant biochemical abnormalities are already present support the use of a PSGT approach to determine gene expression, if any, and response to treatment in order to monitor the effectiveness of the intervention strategy. Notably, lifestyle intervention was found to attenuate the significantly increased risk for developing type II diabetes and lower probability to return to normal glucose regulation, found to be associated with an extended weighted genotype risk score of 34 SNPs (Hivert et al. 2011). This extended genotype risk score was evaluated in more than 2000 participants from five ethic groups who had been randomised to placebo, metformin, or a lifestyle intervention.

Extended genotype-phenotype association studies are required to identify the most important SNPs implicated in insulin resistance and inflammation known to confer increased risk for development of multi-factorial diseases such as type 2 diabetes and NAFLD. Assessment in the presence and absence of relevant environmental triggers may determine the relative contribution to biochemical abnormalities and disease severity and development of effective intervention programs targeted at the cause of the disease. Incorporation of an increasing number of clinically validated biomarkers into a genotype risk score combined with clinical indicators and lifestyle risk factors may therefore facilitate the prevention of cumulative risk underlying the development of insulin resistance, type 2 diabetes, NAFLD, CVD and liver fibrosis.

#### 4.5 Clinical application

Genomic based personalized medicine has the potential to enhance individualised treatment and disease prevention of common chronic diseases such as NAFLD and CVD. Genetic testing applications used as a diagnostic tool in clinical practice is rising rapidly (Pagon, 2006). However, only a few genome based discoveries have translated into evidence-based applications for individualized preventative medicine. According to Lenfant, (2003) most clinically derived research findings are "lost in translation". To enhance translational research, a multidisciplinary approach in basic science is needed. Due to the limitations of genetic testing recognised early on through extensive research performed in the genetically diverse South African population a new pathology supported genetic testing (PSGT) approach was developed by Kotze and van Rensburg (2012) to facilitate the prevention of cumulative risk in multi-factorial diseases.

The FTO rs9939609, TNF-α rs1800629 and PPARγ rs1801282 SNPs evaluated in this study for their clinical usefulness in patients with NAFLD are well recognised risk factors for the development and progression of type 2 diabetes and metabolic syndrome. These pathogenic factors include obesity, low-grade chronic inflammation, and insulin resistance. The metabolic risk profile of insulin resistant NAFLD patients is greater when compared to non-diabetic patients. Hyperglycaemic NAFLD patients have a higher risk of developing fibrosis and cirrhosis (Smith and Adams, 2011). Insulin resistance unifies NAFLD with metabolic syndrome through the clustering of metabolic related factors such as glucose intolerance and/or diabetes, increased triglycerides, high cholesterol and obesity. A steatotic liver contributes to the development of insulin resistance, because of impaired insulin clearance from the portal vein. The ability to predict complications associated with insulin resistance will be valuable to treat and clinically manage NAFLD patients. Identification of the underlying disease mechanism is very important as insulin

resistance can also occur in patients without overt glucose alterations, where the ability of insulin to inhibit glucose is reduced and glucose utilization is stimulated.

Chronic low-grade systemic inflammation as reflected by elevated serum markers (e.g. TNF- $\alpha$ ) are continuously present in obese individuals. NASH is the more advanced form of liver disease and a marked component of the pro-inflammatory state. Several studies have implicated variation in the TNF- $\alpha$  gene in the development of NASH (Manco *et al.* 2007; Stechove *et al.* 2012; Wang *et al.* 2011). Fatty acids and TNF- $\alpha$  molecules stimulate the inhibitory phosphorylation pathway of serine in the insulin receptor. This finding correlates with the genetic link of the TNF- $\alpha$  gene with insulin resistance and inflammation in the development of NASH. The association of TNF- $\alpha$  with hepatic insulin resistance could possibly clarify the connection between insulin resistance and the liver's role in the development of cardiovascular related diseases.

The susceptibility to develop progressive NASH is influenced by genetic variation as genes involved in inflammation, oxidative stress and fibrogenesis have been implicated with the severity of liver disease (Aller *et al.* 2010; Valentini *et al.* 2002). The heritable component of NAFLD and NASH has also been confirmed in this study, especially in relation to the TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 -308 G>A polymorphism alone or even more so as part of a 6-allele risk score. Since the clinical characteristics of NAFLD include obesity and insulin resistance it seems probable that treating NAFLD patients with anti-inflammatory agents such as pioglitazone may be an attractive treatment option. Phamacogenetic studies are warranted to compare the effectiveness of this intervention strategy between patients with and without the TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 -308 G>A SNP.

In relation to the PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) SNP, a significant association with HbA1c levels were demonstrated in diabetic patients with the minor G-allele treated with rosiglitazone, with a significant decrease in HOMA-IR levels compared to those with the risk-associated PPAR $\gamma$  C-allele (Kang *et al.* 2005). It therefore seems likely that NAFLD patients with the minor allele will benefit most from this treatment but again, pharmacogenetic studies are needed in the South African population to investigate this treatment option for a subgroup of patients with insulin resistance further. A variety of ligands can bind to PPAR $\gamma$ , including fatty acids, thiazolidinediones and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs such as ibuprofen.

#### Chapter IV

#### Discussion

PPAR $\gamma$  is a thrifty transcription factor gene co-ordinating adipogenesis and glucose homeostasis. Variation in the PPAR $\gamma$  gene is associated with insulin sensitivity, inflammation and adipogenesis. PPAR $\gamma$  represents an attractive NAFLD candidate gene, because both hepatic lipid metabolism and insulin resistance are contributors to the pathogenic phenomena of NAFLD (Gawrieh *et al.* 2012). Moreover, numerous PPAR $\gamma$ agonists have been used in therapeutic intervention trails for individuals with NASH, emphasizing the role of PPAR $\gamma$  in liver related diseases (Sanyal *et al.* 2010). When there is an imbalance between lipid influx and lipid removal, accumulation of lipids in the liver occurs. More than half of the triglycerides found in the liver of NAFLD patients originate from plasma albumin bounded-fatty acids and 15% derived directly from the diet (Tailleux *et al.* 2012). Under conditions of insulin resistance the hepatic fatty acid flux and uptake are enhanced and contributes to the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes.

Over expression of PPAR $\gamma$  is recognised as a feature of the steatotic liver and attributed to the activation of lipogenic genes involved in steatotic development (Gavrilova *et al.* 2003). Specific targeted deletion of PPAR $\gamma$  in the hepatocytes of mice protected them against diet induced hepatic steatosis, suggesting a pro-steatotic role of PPAR $\gamma$  (Morán-Salvador *et al.* 2011). In contrast, over expression of PPAR $\gamma$  improved hepatic steatosis inflammation and fibrosis in the liver (Wu *et al.* 2010). The heterogenic effects of PPAR $\gamma$  modulating NAFLD features could be due to its action on different metabolic pathways and tissues (Tailleux *et al.* 2012).

Studies performed on children with NAFLD have shown that children develop the full spectrum of NAFLD (Lavine *et al.* 2004). Obese or overweight children with NAFLD typically have elevated fasting serum triglyceride levels. Tominaga *et al.* (1995) conducted a study in Japan with 810 children aged 4-12 years and demonstrated that the presence of sonographically detectable NAFLD was 2.6% and its presence correlated with obesity.

To facilitate the prevention of cumulative risk related to low-penetrance mutations such as those studied in the FTO, PPAR $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  genes a pathway approach to validation and incorporation of an increasing number of clinically useful SNPs into a risk score is needed. Intervention strategies based on a mechanistic understanding of the disease and elimination of known modifiable risk factors may facilitate prevention of disease

progression from insulin resistance to NASH. Development of innovative approaches to risk management of complex multifactorial diseases, which could be applied in a clinical context (combining the clinical relevant information, genetic testing and biochemical profiles), is becoming increasingly important for both preventative and therapeutic interventions.

#### 4.6 Gene Based Intervention Strategy

Development of health guidelines by combining evidence-based medical and lifestyle advice with genetic information based on the functional effects and associated disease mechanisms or pathways affected by genetic variation is an important consideration for clinical application. When the knowledge gained in this study is combined with consistent information from the literature and a patient's family history, pathology and environmental risk, it may be possible to counteract the deleterious effects of FTO rs9939609 intron 1 T>A, TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 -308 G>A and PPAR $\gamma$  rs1801282 34 C>G. Potential actionable information in relation to these SNPs is provided below, for possible future application in a clinical implementation study.

#### FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A)

Since increased expression of FTO was found to be associated with an increased body mass (Li et al. 2012), it is reasonable to assume that intervention strategies that may reduce gene expression would be beneficial for NAFLD patients to reduce the risk of obesity and associated medical conditions. Recent studies have shown that FTO expression is regulated by glucose and the availability of essential amino acids (Cheung et al. 2012), which may explain why individuals with the FTO rs1558902 variant (occurring in the same gene region as FTO rs9939609)had a greater reduction in weight and improved fat distribution in response to a high-protein diet. An opposite genetic effect was observed on changes in fat distribution in response to a low-protein diet (Zhang et al. 2012). FTO A- allele carriers must also ensure that their fat intake does not exceed 30% of total energy, as the increase in BMI associated with the FTO A-allele appears to be restricted to individuals with a high fat intake (Frayling et al. 2007). A Mediterranean diet may be particularly beneficial for FTO A-allele carriers (Razquin et al. 2010). Although Kruger et al. (2008) reported that the presence of obesity did not predict the presence of more advanced liver disease in South African NAFLD patients, a healthy body weight should always be an important clinical goal and failure to detect a gene

effect relating to obesity underscores the importance of a combining evidence-based clinical health guidelines with genetic information using the PSGT approach.

Spontaneous cortical activity in lean individuals is increased through insulin, while in obese individuals this effect was found to be absent. Cerebrocortical insulin resistance prevents normal body weight regulation, because insulin is needed as an adiposity- and satiety signal (Tschritter et al. 2007; Shimaoka et al. 2010). The genotype effect on cerebrocortical insulin sensitivity is similar to the effect of increased weight; this implies that variation in the FTO gene contributes to the pathogenesis of obesity. In this study the A-allele of FTO rs9939609 increased LDL-cholesterol on average by 54%, compared to having inherited no A-allele (p=0.002). A similar effect was observed in relation to decreased for HDL-cholesterol (p=0.053), which together with total cholesterol (p=0.063) and triglycerides determine LDL-cholesterol levels. FTO rs9939609 A-allele carriers were shown to loose most weight on a low fat hypocaloric diet causing metabolic improvements through decreased total and LDL cholesterol and CRP levels observed in this genetic subgroup (de Luis et al. 2012). A study conducted by Zhou et al. (2012) confirmed that FTO rs9939609 T>A positively correlates with features of the metabolic syndrome, including hypertension, higher fasting insulin, glucose, triglycerides and lower HDL-cholesterol levels.

Intervention strategies targeted at components of metabolic syndrome is therefore advisable irrespective of mutation status, while avoidance of weight gain should be strongly advised in individuals with the FTO A-allele. It was shown that individuals meeting exercise recommendations of at least 60 minutes moderate to vigorous physical activity per day could overcome the effect of FTO rs9939609 T>A on obesity related traits (Ruiz *et al.* 2010). The importance of exercise was confirmed in this study as the average waist circumference of physically inactive NAFLD patients was 12% higher compared to the active patients (p=0.004), irrespective of mutation status. The finding that FTO has a demethylation function in mRNA expression indicated a novel, reversible epigenetic regulatory mechanism (Guifang et al. 2011).

#### TNF-α rs1800629 (-308 G>A)

In patients with the pro-inflammatory TNF- $\alpha$  SNP medical and nutritional therapy needs to be targeted at regulation of inflammation. Fat accumulation needs to be avoided as it

is accompanied by low-grade systemic inflammation which results in resistance to weight loss, which is particularly relevant to NAFLD patients. The data generated in this study demonstrated a statistically significant association between the risk-associated TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 A-allele and CRP levels (p=0.029). This biochemical marker of inflammation increased significantly (25.7 mg/l) with each risk-associated A-allele detected among fatty liver disease patients. Notably, this association was revealed only after adjusting also for alcohol intake due to the significant effect of low-moderate alcohol intake (below the level for diagnosis of NAFLD) to reduce CRP levels. Patients who reported low-moderate alcohol intake had on average 70% reduced CRP levels compared with patients who abstain from alcohol drinking (p=0.038) therefore moderate alcohol consumption may be beneficial in the context of inflammation; however it must be considered in conjunction with other medical and lifestyle factors. Chronic systemic low grade inflammation reflected by CRP increases with the degree of obesity and insulin resistance, especially if coronary artery disease is also present (Wannamethee *et al.* 2004).

Tsukui et al. (2000) reported that exercise and TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 independently correlates with changes in HbA1c and fasting insulin levels. It is therefore advisable for individuals with TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 (-304 G>A) to consume foods with a low alycemic index to reduce the risk of obesity, insulin resistance and diabetes (Willet et al. 2002) and to include omega-3 fatty acids in the diet on a regular basis, since it has antiinflammatory effects (Simopoulos, 2002). Rapidly digested and absorbed carbohydrates should also be avoided since it appears to exacerbate the pro-inflammatory process especially in overweight individuals prone to insulin resistance (Radulian et al. 2009). According to Joffe et al. (2010) the TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 (-308 G>A) SNP modifies the relationship between dietary fat intake and total cholesterol concentrations in Caucasian South African women. When intake of saturated fatty acids are increased, serum total cholesterol levels decreased in individuals with the TNF- $\alpha$  GG genotype and increased in individuals with the GA or AA TNF- $\alpha$  genotypes. This confirms a diet-genotype interaction which suggests that individuals with the risk associated TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 Aallele are more responsive to changes in dietary fat intake compared with the G-allele carriers and would benefit from a diet intervention strategy. Adequate intake of foods high in antioxidants especially vitamin E, glutamine (e.g. raw spinach, parsley), arginine (e.g. dairy products, meat, peanuts), vitamin C (60mg/day) and vitamin B supplementation (Aeberli *et al.* 2006; Majewicz *et al.* 2005) may also be beneficial for TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 G>A individuals since it enhances immune function and reduces inflammation. Several studies have reported higher TNF- $\alpha$  concentrations associated with CVD and other diseases such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in smokers compared to non-smokers (Tappia *et al.* 1995; Bennet *et al.* 2006; Jang *et al.* 2007; Gingo *et al.* 2008). A combined effect for smoking and the TNF- $\alpha$  SNP was not observed in our study population where insulin resistance was identified as the most important risk factor that may mask less prominent environmental risk factors. Smoking should always be discouraged irrespective of genetic test results and demonstration of a significant interaction with genetic risk factors would reinforce the importance of smoking cessation.

#### PPARγ rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G)

Given the potential role of PPARy as a nutrient sensor of fatty acids, dietary fat interaction with genetic variation in the gene is likely to contribute to the pathogenesis of the metabolic syndrome, insulin resistance and NAFLD. Individuals with the PPARy rs1801282 SNP are considered hyper-responders as they are more sensitive to environmental stimuli such as fat intake (Robitaille et al. 2003). Intervention strategies targeted at avoidance of weight gain by increased activity and calorie restriction, and the use of medication where indicated to lower blood fatty acids would be beneficial for individuals with the PPARy rs1801282 SNP (Bruss et al. 2010; Eakin et al. 2010; Guo et al. 2002). Replacement of saturated fat with polyunsaturated and monounsaturated fats has a beneficial effect on weight loss. When the dietary polyunsaturated fat to saturated fat ratio is low, the mean BMI in G-allele carriers is greater than in individuals with the risk-associate C-allele and when the ratio is high the opposite is true (Luan et al. 2002). A regular dietary intake of foods rich in omega-3 fatty acids should be encouraged as it improves insulin sensitivity, promotes glucose control, and reduces inflammation (Kuda et al. 2009; Simopoulos, 2002). Since PPARy rs1801282 C>G is associated with insulin resistance a diet high in plant fats and foods with a low glycemic index (GI≤55) would be beneficial to reduce insulin resistance in these individuals (Gilbertson et al. 2003; Fowler, 2007). The interaction detected between the PPARy SNP and smoking indicated that both factors exhibited a synergistic effect on the development of NAFLD (Yang et al. 2012). The interaction between these two independent risk factors supports the idea of genetic and environmental factors contributing to the development and progression of

NAFLD (Day, 2006). NAFLD patients (types 1,2) are at a high risk to progress to NASH especially in the presence of relevant genetic and environmental factors such as smoking. Simultaneous analysis of the SNPs with associated modifiable risk factors may increase the clinical usefulness for improved risk profiling of NAFLD patients.

Metabolic syndrome was found to be significantly more prevalent in patients with NASH (88%) compared to those with a fatty liver alone (53%) (Marchesini *et al.* 2003). Interindividual variability in response to dietary changes is greatly determined by genetic and environmental factors. The phenotypic response to diet is affected by genetic factors with external factors contributing to the clinical variation observed. To increase the clinical usefulness of SNPs the results should be interpreted in the context of clinical indicators and lifestyle risk factors (Ordovas and Corella, 2005). Considering all the known risk factors relevant to the disease and genes tested would contribute to improved health and disease management.

#### 4.7. Potential modifiers of NAFLD

When considering the NAFLD disease process, genetic modifiers should be considered in the context of relevant environmental factors, clinical co-factors and use of medication.

#### **Alcohol consumption**

Alcohol abuse is common in the United States where a chronic relapse prevalence of 8.5% was reported for individuals who participated in a 12 month intervention program (Grant *et al.* 2004). Predictors of future addiction include both genetic (family history of alcoholism) and environmental factors. A meta-analysis of 10 000 twin pairs revealed that the overall heritability of addictive substances was 40%-70% with alcoholism about 50% (Goldman *et al.* 2005). This accentuates that both genetic and environmental factors are equally important to fully elucidate the pathogenesis of complex polygenic diseases (McCarthy and Hirschhorn, 2008). According to Dunn *et al.* (2012) the prevalence of steatohepatitis in patients with NAFLD decreased with moderate alcohol consumption. In the United States as many as 50% of adults regularly consume a modest amount of alcohol and within our study patients who reported low-moderate alcohol intake had on average 70% reduced CRP levels compared with patients who abstain from alcohol drinking.

The proposed protective mechanism with moderate alcohol consumption is possibly through the action of insulin resistance and it has shown to improve the metabolic risk factors for NAFLD (Dixon *et al.* 2001; Davies *et al.* 2002; Howard *et al.* 2004). In heavy drinkers obesity increases the risk of steatosis by twofold (Vernon *et al.* 2011).

A meta-analysis of more than 34 prospective studies demonstrated a survival benefit with moderate alcohol consumption, especially in diabetic patients. Moderate alcohol consumption not only improves the prevalence of steatohepatitis, but also modifies cardiovascular risk (Di-Castelnuovo *et al.* 2006). Data provided by an atherosclerosis study showed that moderate alcohol consumption lowered the risk of a cardiovascular event by 38% in non-drinkers who began to consume alcohol (10g of alcohol/day) (Valmadrid *et al.* 1999). Even though moderate alcohol consumption is beneficial in some settings, even a miniscule amount of alcohol could aggravate diseases or conditions such as breast cancer or hepatitis C (Dunn *et al.* 2012). More research is needed regarding the role of moderate alcohol consumption in the prevention or treatment of NASH. We could not evaluate the effect of high alcohol consumption in this study in relation to disease severity, because patients were pre-selected on the basis of alcohol consumption for the non-alcoholic form of fatty liver disease (NAFLD). However low to moderate alcohol consumption was higher in the Caucasian NAFLD patients (32%) compared to the Coloured NAFLD patients (2%).

#### Iron metabolism

Liver disease progression is influenced by both alcohol consumption and impaired iron homeostasis. Hyperferritinemia is frequently observed in both the metabolic syndrome and NAFLD patients (Wrede *et al.* 2006; Zelber-Sagi *et al.* 2007). The hepatic iron overload syndrome characterised by hyperferritinemia unrelated to hemochromatosis is frequently associated with various components of the metabolic syndrome and insulin resistant pathways (Mendler *et al.* 1999) Hence the term *insulin-resistance associated hepatic iron overload syndrome*. Mild hepatic iron accumulation in NAFLD involves both the hepatocytes and sinusoidal Kupffer cells.

Low-penetrance HFE gene mutations H63D and C282Y are responsible for the majority of hereditary hemochromatosis (HH) cases in the Caucasian population. Since NAFLD and HFE mutations are relatively common many studies focused on the association between these two conditions. Iron overload and the presence of HFE mutations with the more severe forms of liver disease (NASH) has been established (Fisher, 2011). The features of hereditary iron overload include cardiomyopathy, cirrhosis of the liver, diabetes and skin pigmentation. The heart may be especially sensitive to the toxic effects of iron overload (Sullivan, 1990). Hemochromatosis can easily be treated by phlebotomy once diagnosed; therefore this condition is considered a preventable form of heart disease amongst other equally important health risks. The risk of cardiovascular death in postmenopausal women with at least one copy of the C282Y mutation is stronger in women who are hypertensive or current smokers, with a nearly 20-fold increased risk when both risk factors are present, compared with non-smokers, non-hypertensives, and non mutation carriers (Roest *et al.* 1999). This finding again emphasised the importance of multiple risk factor assessment when low-expression mutations such as those implicated in multifactorial diseases such as NAFLD are analysed.

A marked increase of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$  has been observed in NAFLD and obese patients. TNF- $\alpha$  is an important regulator of iron homeostasis through its stimulatory effects on ferritin formation (Aigner *et al.* 2008). Iron overload contribute to the progression of NAFLD through oxidative stress and fibrogenesis within the liver (Tsuchiya *et al.* 2009).

The mechanisms involved in hepatic iron accumulation in NAFLD patients have not yet been fully elucidated and may include many genetic factors (including HFE mutations), iron regulatory pathways (Kupffer cells) and metabolic factors (insulin resistance) (Sumida *et al.* 2009).

The appropriateness of applying the information generated from this and other studies is determined by the individuals risk profile, family history, age of onset of disease and the mutations correlated with the disease. Kotze *et al.* (2009) established the PSGT approach for incorporation of low-penetrance functional SNPs that are not sufficient to explain the phenotype into an intervention plan for complex diseases such as HH and CVD. This approach may in future also be used in patients with NAFLD to identify molecular targets for risk reduction within the context of the medical history and relevant lifestyle factors.

#### Insulin-sensitizers

Thiazolidinedione (TZD) therapy was evaluated and post treatment histologically showed improved steatosis, hepatocellular ballooning, and inflammation with TZD treatment. The risk of fibrosis progression was significantly reduced with TZDs treatment (Musso et al. 2012). Insulin sensitizing agents such as the thiazolidinedione's, a agonist for the PPAR receptors, improved ovarian androgen biosynthesis and ovulatory function (Orio et al. 2003). Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAID) have the ability to activate PPARy receptors. Epidemiological studies have shown that NSAID could reduce the risk of Alzheimer's disease by as much as 80%; these effects are attributed to the ability of these drugs to stimulate PPARy activity and inhibit inflammatory processes in the brain (Heneka et al. 2011). Metformin has anorexigenic and weight loss properties which increases insulin sensitivity. This is an important consideration for diabetic NAFLD individuals with the FTO rs9939609 T>A mutation, since the FTO A-allele is significantly associated with higher BMI, higher body fat percentage, and higher waist circumference (Dina et al. 2007; Zhou et al. 2012b). It also positively correlated with other symptoms of the metabolic syndrome, including hypertension, higher fasting insulin, glucose, triglycerides and lower HDL-cholesterol levels. Metformin significantly reduces body weight, waist circumference and HOMA-IR (Sofer et al. 2011).

#### Lipid-lowering drugs

Statins has been shown to improve ALT and radiological steatosis in hyperlipidaemic NAFLD patients and have a cardiovascular benefit (Musso *et al.* 2012). Ezetimibe reduces histological ballooning and fibrosis by connecting non-estrified cholesterol accumulation to hepatocyte apoptosis, liver injury and NASH development (Nelson *et al.* 2009). The modulation of insulin sensitivity, systemic inflammation, hepatic lipogenesis and fibrogenesis could be achieved using angiotensin blockers. Hypertensive NASH, telimisartin an angiotensin receptor blocker with PPARγ regulating activity improved steatosis, necroinflammation, fibrosis and HOMA-IR (Fabbrini *et al.* 2010). Combining a diet intervention program with lipid-lowering drugs (gene based medical intervention) may improve the health outcomes of NAFLD and NASH individuals in some genetically predisposed patients.

#### Anti-inflammatories

The anti-TNF- $\alpha$  agent pentoxifylline improved histological steatosis and lobular inflammation in NAFLD individuals (Musso *et al.* 2012).TNF- $\alpha$  antibody administration is beneficial in metabolic inflammation and has been demonstrated to improve steatosis (Barbuio *et al.* 2007). TNF- $\alpha$  expression in NASH/NAFLD patients significantly correlates with the degree of fibrosis (Manco *et al.* 2007; Wong *et al.* 2006). Ligands of the peroxisome proliferator receptor gamma (PPAR $\gamma$ ), pioglitazone, are able to suppress TNF- $\alpha$  function which positively affected fatty liver disease (Musso *et al.* 2012).

For individuals not responding to lifestyle intervention strategies such as the more severe form of NAFLD types 3,4 (NASH), pharmacological treatment may be considered in conjunction with a lifestyle intervention strategy. Currently no specific pharmacological treatments are available. However among the available agents TZDs, statins and metformin have consistently been used, but their impact on liver histology is still unknown.

# Chapter V

## Conclusion

### and

# **Future Prospects**
#### Chapter V

## **Conclusion and Future Prospects**

As a result of this study high throughput genetic assays for the FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A), TNF-α rs1800629 (-308 G>A) and PPARγ rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) SNPs implicated in obesity, inflammation and insulin resistance was successfully optimised. The clinical significance of the rare risk-associated A-allele of TNF-α rs1800629 (-308 G>A) and common risk-associated C-allele of PPARy rs1801282 (Pro12Ala, 34 C>G) has furthermore been firmly established in South African patients with the hepatic manifestation of the metabolic syndrome. The TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 and PPARy rs1801282 A-C allelic combination underlying inflammation and insulin resistance was the most important determinant for earlier development of NAFLD in patients with features of the metabolic syndrome. The well-established risk of obesity associated with the A-allele of FTO rs9939609 (inton 1 T>A), either independently or as part of the inferred allelic combination A-A-C for the FTO (rs9939609, intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$  (rs1800629, -308) G>A) and PPARy (rs1801282, Pro12Ala C>G) SNPs, did not significantly contribute to development of NAFLD or progression to NASH in the South African cohort studied. This finding provided genetic confirmation of earlier findings by Kruger et al. (2010), which excluded obesity as an independent risk factor for progression from NAFLD (types 1,2) to NASH (NAFLD types 3,4), prior to genotyping of South African patients that was performed for the first time in this study. Although FTO rs9939609 (intron 1 T>A) has previously been associated with insulin resistance and type II diabetes, this effect can be entirely explained by its impact on BMI and no fatness-independent allelic effects on a wide range of inflammatory markers could also be observed in healthy individuals (Zimmermann et al. 2011).

The significant correlation observed between the number of TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 A-alleles and increasing CRP levels (p=0.029) and the favourable effect of low- to moderate alcohol intake on CRP levels in our study population are important observations. This information combined with the finding that the average waist circumference of physically active NAFLD patients was 12% lower than in physically inactive patients (p=0.004) may be incorporated in future preventative strategies based partly on genetic knowledge. This study provided evidence at the DNA level that the TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 A-allele increases the risk of disease progression from NAFLD (types 1,2) to NASH (types 3,4); age of onset of fatty liver disease was on average 5 years younger in the presence of each risk-associated TNF- $\alpha$  rs1800629 A-allele (p=0.028). Our findings are in agreement with earlier RNA expression studies in the parent study, demonstrating differential gene expression between South African NAFLD (types 1,2) and NASH (types 3,4) patients (Kruger, 2008).

# 5.1. Ethical Considerations

The information obtained from genetic testing may not only relate to the tested individual, but also his/her close family members. Therefore information should be kept strictly confidential and all patients referred for genetic testing should preferably receive both both pre- and post-test counselling by registered genetic counsellors. However, this is most relevant to genetic testing of high-penetrance mutations to advise on family screening for (presymptomatic) disease diagnosis aimed at disease prevention and targeted treatment of high-risk individuals.

Due to the increasing use of genetic testing to direct treatment, it is now accepted internationally that because of the small number of registered genetic counsellors and the diversity of the types of genetic tests that are available, clinicians will increasingly request genetic tests for their patients to guide treatment. Genetic testing of low-penetrance mutations is best performed in the context of the family history and/or testing of high penetrance mutations where indicated due to biochemical abnormalities or early disease onset, to prevent misinterpretation of complex genetic information. The following should therefore be explained where relevant to each individual before specimens are collected for laboratory testing, possibly as an extension of the CVD multigene test (Kotze *et al.* 2003, Kotze and Thiart 2003), as summarised in the ethically approved study protocol:

- The genetic test will only screen for specific genetic alterations expected to provide useful information in relation to treatment/diet intervention.
- Detection of genetic alterations (positive test) implies that other family members may also have the genetic change(s).
- Failure to detect a specific genetic alteration (negative test result) does not exclude undefined gene mutations or other risk factors not tested for.
- Early detection or pre-clinical diagnosis of treatable or preventable genetic diseases is beneficial.

- Genetic testing may result in better motivation for lifestyle changes or targeted treatment, or possibly anxiety when genetic risk factors are identified in an individual without clinical symptoms of a disease.
- The genetic material is stored for reference purposes or to perform follow-up testing and may be stored and included in a genetic database for research related to the test requested, unless declined.
- The genetic material may be tested at different laboratories or using different mutation detection methods as part of a quality control process.
- Identification of genetic alterations in individuals with a family history or clinical features of the associated disease will not impact further on insurance, while exclusion of a genetic defect in a family member could be beneficial for insurance purposes in some instances.
- A positive genetic test does not mean that the person has a genetic disease or will develop the condition, but it can increase the risk of disease in the absence of appropriate risk reduction intervention.
- In the event that genetic testing is performed in families, non-paternity may be revealed and it is therefore important that adoption be reported at the time that specimens are obtained for genetic testing.

# 5.2. Study Limitations

The control population consisted only of Caucasian samples; no Coloured control samples were available in this study for comparative analysis. Blood biochemistry was also not done for all the Caucasian control samples. For the general Caucasian control population individuals who reported a diagnosis of NAFLD, insulin resistance or diabetes were excluded, but the population was not sonorgraphically or histologically confirmed to be NAFLD free. Some of the fatty liver patients (obese group with BMI >30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) identified on ultrasound alone did not fulfil the criteria for a liver biopsy and there are some uncertainty regarding their disease diagnosis.

Not all genetic variations that potentially could contribute to the pathogenesis of NAFLD were analysed. Three SNPs were selected for this study to determine the appropriateness of the study population for extended SNP analysis to construct an more comprehensive genotype score. DNA availability from samples of the parent study was insufficient or of poor quality which reduced the sample size for statistical analysis.

# 5.3. Future prospects

Determination of the genetic basis of differences in response to environmental exposures such as alcohol consumption, smoking, physical inactivity, diet and certain drugs could provide a valuable adjunct to current clinical practice. Linking genes to disease in the context of known environmental triggering or protective factors is fundamental for implementation of preventive strategies. Genetic variation in low penetrance genes such as FTO (rs9939609 intron 1 T>A), TNF- $\alpha$  (rs1800629 -308 G>A) and PPAR $\gamma$  (rs1801282 Pro12Ala C>G) should always be correlated with the appropriate clinical and biochemical parameters to assess gene expression and response to treatment, while also taking family history and the presence and absence of known environmental risk factors affecting the genes into account. Improvement of biochemical abnormalities after elimination of modifiable risk factors could provide a measure of the effectiveness of the intervention program.

It is important to identify both genetic and environmental components contributing to multi-factorial diseases such as NAFLD, as a single SNP is not sufficient to cause disease. Further study is required to further clarify the role of FTO in the relationship between obesity and insulin resistance in NAFLD patients. This should include analysis of additional SNPs in the FTO gene as well as the transcription-factor-7-like-2 (TCF7L2) gene (also known as TCF4), described as a transcription factor influencing the transcription of FTO and several other genes. TCF7L2 binds to the FTO promoter region causing the overexpression of FTO (Zhou *et al.* 2012). TCF7L2 have consistently been associated with type 2 diabetes, irrespective of ethnic descent, making it one of the most important loci known today to predispose individuals to type 2 diabetes.

TCF7L2 SNP rs7903146 increases type 2 diabetes susceptibility in the general population through  $\beta$ -cell dysfunction and impaired incretin action (Musso *et al.* 2009). This functional SNP modulates postprandial hepatocyte apoptosis, combined with the unfavourable adipokine and lipoprotein profile induced by fat ingestion in NASH individuals. Although the severity of steatosis and fibrosis seems to be directly associated with the TCF7I2 polymorphism, its association with necro-inflammation

appears to be mediated by adiponectin and oxidized-LDL. In this context, it is noteworthy that PPAR $\gamma$  agonists, currently proposed for the treatment of NAFLD, promote adipocyte differentiation by reducing  $\beta$ -cantenin levels and inhibiting TCF activation (Gustafson *et al.* 2006). TCF7L2 predisposes individuals to NAFLD and to metabolic related disorders involving  $\beta$ -cell function, hepatic insulin sensitivity, glucose and lipoprotein homeostasis (Musso *et al.* 2009). Prospectively, interventions toward restoring hepatic insulin sensitivity and  $\beta$ -cell function may potentially direct more tailored intervention strategies.

Other genetic determinants for further study in the context of dyslipidaemia contributing to NAFLD are the apolipoprotein E (ApoE2 or ApoE4), apolipoprotein C3 (ApoC3) and patatin-like phospholipase domain-containing 3 (PNPLA3) genes (He *et al.* 2010). Studies have reported smaller LDL particle size in ApoE2 allele carriers compared to larger LDL particle size in ApoE4 individuals (Moreno *et al.* 2004). Furthermore a strong correlation between presence of the I148M SNP in the PNPLA3 gene and elevated serum ALT and AST levels with liver inflammation were found. Genetic variation in the ApoC3 gene alone, the PNPLA3 gene alone, and the combined risk-associated genotypes, accounted for 11.0%, 6.5% and 13.1% of the variance in the risk of NAFLD, respectively (Petersen *et al.* 2010).

In the last decade several biomarkers have been investigated to noninvasively distinguish between NAFLD and its subgroup NASH (Lockman *et al.* 2010). Recent studies have shown that biomarkers associated with NAFLD and liver disease present from a young age and may help to discriminate between NAFLD patients at increased risk of coronary artery disease as opposed to the development of advanced liver disease (NASH) (Valentini *et al.* 2010). The metabolic syndrome is an independent cardiovascular risk marker for diabetes and coronary artery disease (Lee *et al.* 2007). This was substantiated in a study that reported a high prevalence of coronary artery disease in South African Africans with the metabolic syndrome and insulin resistance (Ntyintyane *et al.* 2006). According to Shimada *et al.* (2007), 90% of early stage NASH can be predicted by combining HOMA-IR with other biochemical markers such as adiponectin and HbA1c. Since NASH may progress to cirrhosis, clinicians assessing obese patients must be able to differentiate NASH from simple steatosis. Sorrentino *et al.* (2010) suggested that a higher HOMA-IR level is independently associated with a more progressive stage of fibrosis and also an independent predictive factor for fibrosis

worsening. HbA1c could possibly be used as a predictive factor or marker for postprandial glucose metabolism in NAFLD patients with normal fasting glucose levels

In addition to standard metabolic indicators, LDL particle size and the aspartate aminotransferase to platelet ratio index (APRI) can be valuable biomarkers to distinguish between NAFLD patients at increased risk of coronary artery disease or advanced liver disease, respectively. APRI was found to be significantly higher in South African NAFLD patients with advanced fibrosis compared with patients with no or mild fibrosis (p<0.01) (Kruger *et al.* 2011).

The development of a more comprehensive risk score that combines both lifestyle (diet, exercise score) and genetic (PNPLA3, TCF7L2, APOC3 HFE etc.) factors may be beneficial in risk management of patients with NAFLD. However the aforementioned genes in conjunction with other biochemical factors needs to be considered in a holistic approach do determine the clinical relevance of the risk score in future treatment of multi-factorial diseases. The information gathered from the current study may be considered for implemented as part of a comprehensive genetic screen for disease subtyping, which includes the analysis of gene mutations associated with dyslipidemia, iron overload, oxidative stress and inflammation in conjunction with a gene based nutritional and pharmacological intervention program. This approach may in future prove to improve the sensitivity and specificity of biomarkers such as APRI. To fully integrate all the information a systematic approach is needed. The Gkwnomix<sup>™</sup> platform aims to combine all the relevant information to facilitate the prevention of cumulative risk based on disease subtyping to identify pathways for targeted treatment. The clinical, lifestyle and biochemical information could be captured in a database that could be used for future studies.

Even though these findings are very promising, its potential application for disease prevention and improved clinical management of NAFLD remains to be investigated in the diverse South African population. More research is needed in African Black populations to develop an appropriate intervention strategy, since ethnicity influence the prevalence of NAFLD the disease outcome may differ within this ethnic group. As obesity and diabetes mellitus type 2 is becoming more prevalent in South African children, it is important to extend this study to children with or at risk of NAFLD as well.

While the potential impact of an increasing genotype risk score and allelic combinations were assessed on disease progression from obese, NAFLD (types 1, 2) and NASH (types 3,4) after adjustment for several variables, development of a model that evaluates the cumulative effect of allelic variation in the presence and absence of known environmental risk factors such as smoking, alcohol consumption and physical activity resided outside the scope of this study. Further studies are therefore warranted to include an increasing number of clinically useful SNPs for evaluation as well as modifiable environmental risk factors to develop a genotype "activity" score or weighted score for more accurate prediction of phenotypic expression. Use of a pathway-based approach to analyse the influence of modifiable environmental risk factors in the presence of low-penetrance genetic risk factors implicated in insulin resistance as a central feature of NAFLD, may eventually enable the development of a risk assessment model incorporating multiple variables that collectively are sufficient to cause biochemical and metabolic abnormalities underlying disease progression from NAFLD (types 1, 2) to NASH.

## REFERENCES

Abraham JE, Maranian MJ, Spiteri I, Russell R, Ingle S, Luccarini C, Earl HM, Pharoah PD, Dunning AM, Caldas C. Saliva samples are viable alternative to blood samples as a source of DNA for high throughput genotyping. BMC Med Genomics 2012; 30: 5: 19.

Aeberli I, Molinari L, Spinas G, Lehmann R, Allemand D, Zimmermann MB. Dietary intakes of fat and antioxidant vitamins are predictors of subclinical inflammation in overweight Swiss children. Am J Clin Nutr 2006; 84: 748-755.

Aller R, de Luis DA, Izaola O. G308A polymorphism of TNF- $\alpha$  gene is associated with insulin resistance and histological changes in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease patients. Ann Hepatol 2010; 9: 439–444.

Altshuler D. The common PPARgamma Pro12Ala polymorphism is associated with decreased risk of type 2 diabetes. Nat Genet 2000; 26: 76-80.

Amos AF, McCarthy DJ, Zimmet P. The rising global burden of diabetes and its complications: estimates and projections to the year 2010. Diabet Med 1997; 14 suppl 5: S7-S84.

Anderson PJ, Critchley JAJH, Chan JCN. Factor analysis of the metabolic syndrome: obesity vs. insulin resistance as the central abnormality. International Journal of Obesity 2001; 25:1782-1790.

Andreasen CH, Stender-Petersen KL, Mongensen MS. Low physical activity accentuates the effect of the FTO rs9939609 polymorphism on body fat accumulation. Diabetes 2008; 57: 95-101.

Angelico F, Del Ben M, Conti R, Francioso S, Feole K, Fiorello S, Cavallo MG, Zalunardo B, Lirussi F, Alessandri C, Violi F. Insulin resistance, the metabolic syndrome, and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2005; 90: 1578-1582.

Anstee QM, Daly AK. Day CP. Genetics of alcoholic and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Semin Liver Dis 2011; 31: 128-146.

Antonicelli R, Olivieri F, Cavallone L, Spazzafumo L, Bonafè M, Marchegiani F, Cardelli M, Galeazzi R, Giovagnetti S, Perna GP, Franceschi C.Tumor necrosis factor-alpha

gene -308G>A polymorphism is associated with ST-elevation myocardial infarction and with high plasma levels of biochemical ischemia markers. Coron Artery Dis 2005; 16: 489-493.

Aoki T, Hirota T, Tamari M, Ichikawa K, Takeda K, Arinami T, Shibasaki M, Noguchi E. An association between asthma and TNF-308G/A polymorphism: meta-analysis. J Hum Genet 2006; 51: 677-685.

Aoyagi Y, Nagata S, Kudo T, Fujii T, Wada M, et al. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor c 2 mutation may cause a subset of ulcerative colitis. Pediatr Int 2010; 52: 729–734.

Argo CK, Harmon RC, Tiniakos DG. Inflammation in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Gastroenter Hepatol 2011; 5: 189-208.

Ascha MS, Hanouneh LA, Lopez R, Tamimi TA, Feldstein AF, Zein NN. The incidence and risk factors of hepatocellular hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Hepatology 2010; 51: 1972–1978.

Aubé C, Moal F, Oberti F, Roux J, Croquet V, Gallois Y, Argaud C, Caron C, Calès P. Diagnosis and measurement of liver fibrosis by MRI in bile duct ligated rats. Dig Dis Sci 2007; 52 : 2601-2609.

Bacon BR, Farahvash MJ, Janney CG, Neuschwander-Tetri BA. Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: an expanded clinical entity. Gastroenterology 1994; 107: 1103-1105.

Badaoui A., De Saeger C., Duchemin J., Gihousse D., de Timary P., Starkel P. Alcohol dependence is associated with reduced plasma and fundic ghrelin levels. Eur J Clin Invest 2008; 38: 397–403.

Bae JC, Cho YK, Lee WY, Seo HI, Rhee EJ, Park SE, Park CY, Oh KW, Sing KC. Impact of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease on insulin reisitance in relation to HbA1c levels in non-diabetic subjects. Am J Gastroenterol 2010; 105: 2389-2395.

Balkau B, Charles MA, Drivsholm T, et al. Frequency of the WHO metabolic syndrome in European cohorts, an alternative definition of an insulin resistance syndrome. Diabetes Metab 2002; 28: 364–376.

# Barbuio R, Milanski M, Bertolo MB, Saad MJ, Velloso LA. Infliximab reverses steatosis and improves insulin signal transduction in liver of rats fed a high-fat diet. J Endocrinol 2007; 194: 539–550.

Barry D, Clarke M, Petry NM. Obesity and its relationship to addictions: is overeating a form of addictive behaviour. Am J Addict 2009; 18: 439–451.

Bechara A, & Martin EM. Impaired decision making related to working memory deficits in individuals with substance abuse. Neuropsychology 2004; 18:152–162.

Bedogni G, Miglioli L, Masutti F, Tiribelli C, Marchesini G, Bellentani S. Prevalence of and risk factors for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: the Dionysos nutrition and liver study Hepatology 2005; 42: 44–52.

Bel Hadj Jrad B, Chatti A, Laatiri A, Ahmed SB, Romdhane A, Ajimi S, Chouchane L. Tumor necrosis factor promoter gene polymorphism associated with increased susceptibility to non-Hodgkin's lymphomas. Eur J Haematol 2007; 78: 117-122.

Benedict C, Jacobsson JA, Rönnemaa E, Sällman-Almén M, Brooks S, Schultes B, Fredriksson R, Lannfelt L, Kilander L, Schiöth HB. The fat mass and obesity gene is linked to reduced verbal fluency in overweight and obese elderly men. Neurobiol Aging 2011; 32: 1159–1164.

Bennet AM, van Maarle MC, Hallqvist J, Morgenstern R, Frostegård J, Wiman B, Prince JA, de Faire U: Association of TNF -alpha serum levels and TNF A promoter polymorphisms with risk of myocardial infarction. Atherosclerosis 2006; 187: 408-414.

Black RA, Rauch CT, Kozlosky CJ, Peschon JJ, Slack JL, Wolfson MF, Castner BJ, Stocking KL, Reddy P, Srinivasan S, Nelson N, Boiani N, Schooley KA, Gerhart M, Davis R, Fitzner JN, Johnson RS, Paxton RJ, March CJ, Cerretti DP. A metalloproteinase disintegrin that releases tumour-necrosis factor-alpha from cells. Nature 1997; 38: 729–733.

Boissel S, Reish O, Proul K, Kawagoe-Takaki H, Sedgwick B, Yeo GSH, Meyre D, Golzio C, Molinari F, Kadhom N, Etchevers HC, Saude, V, Farooqi I. S, Froguel P, Lindahl T, O'Rahilly, S, Munnich , Colleaux L. Loss-of-function mutation in the

dioxygenase-encoding FTO gene causes severe growth retardation and multiple malformations. Am J Hum Genet 2009; 85: 106-111.

Bonora E, Kiechl S, Willeit J. Prevalence of insulin resistance in metabolic disorders: the Bruneck Study. Diabetes 1998; 47: 1643-1649.

Bravard A, Lefai E, Meugnier E. FTO is increased in muscle during type 2 diabetes, and its overexpression in myotubes alters insulin signalling, enhances lipogenesis and ROS production, and induces mitochondrial dysfunction. Diabetes 2011; 60: 258-268.

Brown TA. 2007. Genomes 3. New York: Garland Science Publishing.

Browning JD, Szczepaniak LS, Dobbins R. Prevalence of hepatic steatosis in an urban population in the United States: impact of ethnicity. Hepatology 2004; 40: 1387–1395.

Bruss MD, Khambatta CF, Ruby MA, Aqqarwal I. Calorie restriction increases fatty acid synthesis and whole body fat oxidation rates. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2010; 298: 108-116.

Bugianesi E, Gastaldelli A, Vanni E, Gambino R, Cassader M, Baldi S. Insulin resistance in non-diabetic patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: sites and mechanisms. Diabetologia 2005; 48: 634–642.

Byrne CD. Fatty liver: role of inflammation and fatty acid nutrition. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 2010; 82: 265–271.

Caldwell SH, Harris DM, Patrie JT. Is NASH underdiagnosed among African Americans? Am J Gastro 2002; 97:1496-1500

Carr DB, Utzschneider KM, Hull RL. Intra-abdominal fat is a major determinant of the National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel III criteria for the metabolic syndrome. Diabetes 2004; 53: 2087-2094.

Carulli L, Canedi I, Rondinella S, Lombardini S, Ganazzi D, Fargion S, De Palma M, Lonardo A, Ricchi M, Bertolotti M, Carulli N, Loria P. Genetic polymorphisms in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: interleukin-6-174G/C polymorphism is associated with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Dig Liver Dis 2009; 41: 823-833. Cerri AP, Arosio B, Viazzoli C, Confaloniere R, Vergani C, Annoni G. The -308 (G/A) single nucleotide polymorphism in the TNF- $\alpha$  gene and the risk of major depression in the elderly. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2010; 25: 219-223.

Chen CH, Huang MH, Yang JC. Prevalence and risk factors of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in an adult population of Taiwan: metabolic significance of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in nonobese adults. J Clin Gastroenterol 2006; 40: 745–52.

Chen ZW, Chen LY, Dai HL, Chen JH, Fang LZ. Relationship between alanine aminotransferase levels and metabolic syndrome in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. J Zhejiang Univ Sci B 2008; 9: 616–622.

Cheung MK, Gulati P, O'Rahilly S, Yeo GS. FTO expression is regulated by availability of essential amino acids. Int J Obes 2012 May 22. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2012.77. [Epub ahead of print]

Cheung O, Sanyal AJ. Recent advances in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 2009; 25: 230–237.

Chitturi S, Farrell GC. Etiopathogenesis of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Semin Liver Dis 2001; 21: 27-41.

Chitturi S, Abeygunasekera S, Farrell GC, Holmes-Walker J, Hui JM, Fung C, Karim R, Lin R, Samarasinghe D, Liddle C, Wetman M, George J. NASH and Insulin Hypersecretion and specific Association with Insulin resistance Syndrome. Hepatology 2002; 35: 373-379.

Christopoulos P, Mastorakos G, Gazouli M, Deligeoroglou, Katsikis I, Diamanti-Kandarakis E, Pandis D, Creatsas G. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- $\gamma$  and  $\delta$ polymorphisms in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Ann NY Acad Sci 2010; 1205: 185-191.

Clark JM, Diehl AM. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: an under recognized cause of cryptogenic cirrhosis. Am Med Assoc 2003a; 289: 3000-3004.

Clark JM, Brancati FL, Diehl AM. The prevalence and etiology of elevated aminotransferase levels in the United States. Gastroenterol 2003b; 98: 960-967.

# Clarke SD. Nonalcoholic steatosis and steatohepatitis. Molecular mechanism for polyunsaturated fatty acid regulation of gene transcription. Am J Physiol Gastroenterol Liver Physiol 2001; 281: G865.

Cotrim HP, Freitas LA, Alves E, Almeida A, May DS, Caldwell S. Effects of light-tomoderate alcohol consumption on steatosis and steatohepatitis in severely obese patients. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009; 21: 969-972.

Crespo J, Cayon A, Fernandez-Gil P. Gene expression of tumor necrosis factor alpha and TNF-receptors, p55 and p75, in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis patients. Hepatology 2001; 34:1158–1163.

Cressman DE, Greenbaum LE, DeAngelis RA. Liver failure and defective hepatocyte regeneration in interleukin-6-deficient mice. Science 1996; 274: 1379–1383.

Cusi K. Reviews in basic and clinical gastroenterology and hepatology: Role of obesity and lipotoxicity in the development of non-alcoholic steatohepatitis; Pathophysiology and clinical implications. Gastroenterology 2012; 142: 711-725.

Das K, Das K, Mukherjee PS. Nonobese population in a developing country has a high prevalence of nonalcoholic fatty liver and significant liver disease. Hepatology 2010; 51: 1593–602.

Dassanayake AS, Kasturiratne A, Rajindrajith S. Prevalence and risk factors for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease among adults in an urban Sri Lankan population. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009; 24: 1284–1288.

Davies C, Carter JC. Compulsive overeating as an iddiction disorder. A review of theory and evidence. Appetite 2009; 53: 1-9.

Davies MJ, Baer DJ, Judd JT, Brown ED, Campbell WS, Taylor PR. Effects of moderate alcohol intake on fasting insulin and glucose concentrations and insulin sensitivity in postmenopausal women: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2002; 287: 2559–2562.

Day CP. Genes or environment to determine alcoholic liver disease and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Liver Int 2006; 26: 1021–1028.

de Luis DA, Aller R, Izaola O, de la Fuente B, Conde R, Sagrado MG, Primo D. Evaluation of weight loss and adipocytokines levels after two hypocaloric diets with different macronutrient distribution in obese subjects with RS9939609 gene variant. Diabetes Metab Res Rev 2012; Aug 3. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.2323. [Epub ahead of print]

Di-Castelnuovo A, Costanzo S, Bagnardi V, Donati MB, Iacoviello L, de 620 Gaetano G. Alcohol dosing and total mortality in men and women: an 621 updated meta-analysis of 34 prospective studies. Arch Intern Med 622 2006; 166: 2437–2445.

Dina C, Meyer D, Gallina S, Durand E, Korner E, Jacobsen P, Carlson L, Kiess W, Vatin V. Variation in FTO contributes to childhood obesity and severe adult obesity. Nature Genetics 2007; 39: 724-726.

Dixon JB, Bhathal PS, O'Brien PE. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: predictors 586 of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis and liver fibrosis in the severely obese. Gastroenterology 2001; 121: 91–100.

Do R, Bailey SD, Desbiens K. Genetic variation of FTO influence adiposity, insulin sensitivity, leptin levels and resting metabolic rate in the Quebec Family study. Diabetes 2008; 57: 1147-1150.

Donnely KL, Smith CI, Schwarzenberg SJ, Jessurun J, Boldt MD, Parks EJ. Sources of fatty acids stored in liver and secreted via lipoproteins in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. J Clin Invest 2005; 115: 1343-1351.

Dunn W, Sanyal A, Brunt E, Unalp-Arida A, Donohue M, McCullough A, Schwimmer J. Modest alcohol consumption is associated with decreased prevalence of steatohepatitis in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). Journal of Hepatology 2012; 57: 384-391.

Dunstan DW, Zimmet PZ, Welborn TA. The rising prevalence of diabetes and impaired glucose tolerance. The Australian Diabetes, Obesity and Lifestyle Study. Diabetes Care 2002; 25: 829-834.

Eakin EG, Reeves MM, Marschall, Dunstan DW, Graves N, Healy GN, Bleier J. Living well with diabetes: a randomized controlled trial of a telephone-delivered intervention for

## References

maintanence of weight loss, physical activity and glycemic control in adluts with type 2 diabetes. BMC Public Health 2010; 10: 452-467.

Fabbrini E, Mohammed BS, Korenbladt KM. Effect of fenofibrate and niacin on intrahepatic triglyceride content, very low density lipoprotein kinetics, ans insulin action in obese subjects with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2010; 95: 2727-2735.

Facchini FS, Hua NW, Stoohs RA. Effect of Iron Depletion in Carbohydrate-intolerant Patients with Clinical evidence of Non-alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. Gastroenterology 2002; 122: 931-939.

Fajas L, Auboeuf D, Raspe E, Schoonjans K, Lefebvre AM, Saladin R, Najib J, Laville M, Fruchart JC, Deeb S, Vidal-Puig A, Flier J, Briggs MR, Staels B, Vidal H, Auwerx J. The organization, promoter analysis, and expression of the human PPAR-gamma gene. J Biol. Chem 1997; 272: 18779-18789.

Fan JG, Zhu J, Li XJ. Prevalence of and risk factors for fatty liver in a general population of Shanghai, China. J Hepatol 2005; 43: 508–514.

Fargion S, Mattioli M, Fracanzani AL, Sampietro M, Tavazzi D, Fociani P, Taioli E, Valenti L, Fiorelli G. Hyperferritinemia, iron overload, and multiple metabolic alterations identify patients at risk for nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Am J Gastroenterol 2001a; 96: 2448-2455.

Fargion S, Valenti L, Dongiovanni P, Scaccabarozzi A, Fracanzani AL, Taioli E, Mattioli M, Sampietro M, Fiorelli G. Tumor necrosis factor alpha promoter polymorphisms influence the phenotypic expression of hereditary hemochromatosis. Blood 2001b; 97: 3707-3712.

Feng R, Zhao C, Sun C, Li Y. Meta-Analysis of TNF 308 G/A polymorphism and type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. PLOS one 2011; 6: e18480.

Ferreira AC, Almeida S, Tavares M, Canedo P, Pereira F, Regalo G, Figueiredo C, Trindade E, Seruca R, Carneiro F, Amil J, Machado JC, Tavarela-Veloso F. NOD2/CARD15 and TNFA, but not IL1B and IL1RN, are associated with Crohn's disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2005; 11: 331-339.

# Fisher L. 2011. Evaluation of high through-put methodology for multi-gene screening in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) [dissertation]. [Stellenbosch (Western Cape)]: Stellenbosch University.

Fowler MJ. Diabetes treatment, Part 1: Diet and exercise. Clinical Diabetes 2007; 25: 105-109.

Forbes JM, Coughlan MT, Cooper ME. Oxidative stress as a major culprit in kidney disease in diabetes. Diabetes 2008; 57: 1446-1454.

Frayling T, Timpson N J, Weedon M, Zeggini E, Freathy RM, Lindgren CM, Perry JRB, Elliott, KS, Lango H, Rayner NW, Shields B, Harries LW. A common variant in the FTO gene is associated with body mass index and predisposes to childhood and adult obesity. Science 2007; 316: 889-894.

Friedrich-Rust M, Müller C, Winckler A, Kriener S, Herrmann E, Holtmeier J, Poynard T, Vogl TJ, Zeuzem S, Hammerstingl R, Sarrazin C. Assessment of liver fibrosis and steatosis in PBC with FibroScan, MRI, MR-spectroscopy, and serum markers. J Clin Gastroenterol 2010; 44: 58-65.

Frith J, Day CP, Henderson E, Burt AD, Newton JL. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in older people. Gerontology 2009; 55: 607–613.

Gastaldelli A, Harrison SA, Belfort-Aguilar R, Hardies LJ, Balas B, Schenker S, Cusi K. Importance of changes in adipose tissue insulin resistance to histological response during thiazolidinedione treatment of patients with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Hepatology 2009; 50: 1084-1087.

Gastaldelli A, Cusi K, Pettiti M, Hardies J, Miyazaki Y, Berria R, Buzzigoli E, Sironi AM, Cersosimo E, Ferrannini E, Defronzo RA. Relationship between hepatic/visceral fat and hepatic insulin resistance in nondiabetic and type 2 diabetic subjects. Gastroenterology 2007; 133: 492-496.

Gavrilova O, Haluzik M, Matsusue K, Cutson JJ, Johnson L, Dietz KR, Nicol CJ, Vinson C, Gonzalez FJ. Liver peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma contributes to hepatic steatosis, triglyceride clearance, and regulation of body fat mass. J Biol Chem 2003; 278: 34268–34276.

Gawrieh S, Marion MC, Komorowski R, Wallace J, Charlton M, Kissebah A, Langefeld CD, Olivier M. Genetic variation in the Peroxisome Proliferator Activated Receptor-Gamma Gene Is associated with histologically advanced NAFLD. Dig Dis Sci 2012; 57: 952-957.

Gerken T, Girard C A, Tung YCL, Webby CJ, Saudek V, Hewitson KS, Yeo GS H, McDonough MA, Cunliffe S, McNeill LA, Galvanovskis J, Rorsman P. The obesityassociated FTO gene encodes a 2-oxoglutarate-dependent nucleic acid demethylase. Science 2007; 318: 1469-1472.

Gilbertson HR, Thorburn AW, Brand-Miller C, Chondros P, Werther GA. Effect of lowglycemic index dietary advice on dietary quality and food choice in children with type 1 diabetes. Am J Clin Nutr 2003; 77: 83-90.

Gingo MR, Silveira LJ, Miller YE, Friedlander AL, Cosgrove GP, Chan ED, Maier LA, Bowler RP: Tumour necrosis factor gene polymorphisms are associated with COPD. Eur Respir J 2008; 31: 1005-1012.

Goldman D, Oroszi G, Ducci F. The genetics of addictions: uncovering the genes. Nat Rev Genet 2005; 6: 521–532.

Gonzalez F, Minimum J, Rote NS, Kirwan JP. Altered tumor necrosis factor alpha release from mononuclear cells of obese reproductive aged women during hyperglycemia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2005; 90: 5336-5342.

Govan VA, Constant D, Hoffman M, Williamson A. The allelic distribution of -308 Tumor necrosis factor alpha gene polymorphism in South African women with cervical cancer and control women. BMC Cancer 2006; 6: 1-6.

Gouda HN, Sagoo GS, Harding A, Yates J, Sandhu MS, Higgins JPT. The association between peroxisome proliferator activated receptor-γ2 (PPARG2) Pro12Ala variant and type 2 diabetes mellitus: A huge review and meta- analysis. Am J Epidemol 2010; 171: 645-655.

Grant BF, Dawson DA, Stinson FS, Chou SP, Dufour MC, Pickering RP. The 12-month prevalence and trends in DSM-IV alcohol abuse and dependence: United States, 1991–1992 and 2001–2002. Drug Alcohol Depend 2004; 74: 223–234.

Greene ME, Blumberg B, McBride OW, Yi HF, Kronquist K, Kwan K, Hsieh L, Greene G, Nimer SD. Isolation of the human peroxisome proliferator activated receptor gamma cDNA: expression in hematopoietic cells and chromosomal mapping. Gene Expr 1995; 4: 281-299.

Guifang Jia, Ye Fu, Xu Zhao, Qing Dai, Guanqun Zheng, Ying Yang, Chengqi Yi, Tomas Lindahl, Tao Pan, Yun-Gui Yang, and Chuan He.  $N^6$ -Methyladenosine in nuclear RNA is a major substrate of the obesity-associated FTO. Nat Chem Biol 2011; 7: 885–887. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.687

Guis S, Balandraud N, Bouvenot J. Influence of -308 A/G polymorphism in the tumor necrosis factor alpha gene on etanercept treatment in rheumathoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2007; 57: 1426-1430.

Grundy SM, Cleeman JI, Daniels SR, Donato KA, Eckel RH, Franklin BA, Gordon DJ, Krauss RM, Savage PJ, Smith SC, Spertus JA, Costa F. Diagnosis and management of the metabolic syndrome: an American Heart Association/National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Scientific Statement. Circulation 2005; 112: 2735-2752.

Guo Z, Mitchell-Raymundo F, Yang H, Ikeno Y, Nelson J, Diaz V, Richardson A, Reddick R. Dietary restriction reduces atherosclerosis and oxidative stress in the aorta of apolipoprotein E deficient mice. Mech Ageing Dev 2002; 123: 1121-1131.

Gupta V, Gupta A, Jafar T, Gupta V, Agrawal S, Srivastava N, Kumar S, Singh A. Association of TNF- $\alpha$  promoter gene G-308A polymorphism with metabolic syndrome, insulin resistance, serum TNF- $\alpha$  and leptin levels in Indian adult women. Cytokine 2012; 57: 32-36.

Gurnell M, Savage DB, Chatterjee VK, O'Rahilly S. The metabolic syndrome: peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma and its therapeutic modulation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2003; 88: 2412-21.

Gustafson B, Smith U. Cytokines promote Wnt signalling and inflammation and impair the normal differentiation and lipid accumulation in 3T3–L1 preadipocytes. J Biol Chem 2006; 281: 9507-9516.

Haddy N, sass C, Maumus S, Marie B, Droesch S, Siest G, Lambert D. Visvikis S. Biologival variation, genetic polymorphism and familial resemblance of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 concentrations: STANISLAS cohort. European Journal of Human Genetics 2005; 13: 109-117.

Hamaguchi M, Kojima T, Takeda N, Nakagawa T, Taniguchi H, Fujii K, Omatsu T, Nakajima T, Sarui H, Shimazaki M, Kato T, Okuda J, Ida K. The metabolic syndrome as a predictor of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Ann Intern Med 2005; 143: 722-728.

Han Z, Li C, Han S, Han Y, Qiu J, Shi Y, Wang J, Sun A, Ding J, Wu K, Fan D. Metaanalysis: polymorphisms in the TNF- $\alpha$  gene promoter and Crohn's disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2010; 32: 159-170.

Hanley AJ, Karter AJ, Williams K, Festa A, D'Agostino RB Jr, Wagenknecht LE, Haffner SM. Prediction of type 2 diabetes mellitus with alternative definitions of the metabolic syndrome: the Insulin Resistance Atherosclerosis Study. Circulation 2005a; 112: 3713–3721.

Hanley AJ, Willams K, Festa A, Wagenknecht LE, D'Agostino RB, Haffner SM. Liver markers and development of the metabolic syndrome. The insulin resistance atherosclerosis study. Diabetes 2005b; 54: 3140-3147.

Hara M, Alcoser SY, Qaadir A. Insulin resistance is attenuated in women with polycystic ovary syndrome with the Pro(12)Ala polymorphism in the PPARgamma gene. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2002; 87: 772–775.

Hardy R, Wills AK, Wong A. Life course variation s in the associations between FTO and MC4R gene variants and body size. Human Mol Genet 2009; 19: 545-552.

Hartman TJ, Albert PS, Zhang Z, Bagshaw D, Kris-etherton PM, Ulbrecht J, Miller CK, Bobe G, Colburn NH. Consumption of a legume enriched, low glycemic index diet associated with biomarkers of insulin resistance and inflammation among men at risk for colorectal cancer. J Nutr 2010; 140: 60-70.

Hashimoto E, Yatsuji S, Kaneda H. The characteristics and natural history of Japanese patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Hepatol Res 2005; 33: 72–76.

Hasstedt SJ, Ren Q, Teng K, Elbein SC. Effect of peroxisome proliferator activated receptor gamma pro12ala variant on obesity, glucose homeostasis and blood pressure in member of familial type 2 diabetic kindreds. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism 2001; 86: 536-541.

He S, McPhaul C, Li JZ. A sequence variation (I148M) in PNPIA3 associated with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease disrupts triglyceride hydrolysis. J Biol Chem J Biol Chem 2010; 285: 6706–6715.

Heilbronn LK, Campbell LV. Adipose tissue macrophages, low grade inflammation and insulin resistance in human obesity. Curr Pharm Des 2008; 14: 1225-1230.

Helwig U, Rubin D, kiosz J, Schreiber S, Folsch U, Nothnagel M, Doring F. The minor allele of the PPARγ Pro12Ala polymorphism is associated with lower postprandial Tag and insulin levels in non-obese healthy men. British Journal of Nutrition 2007; 97: 847-854.

Hertel JK, Johansson S, Sonestedt E. FTO, Type 2 diabetes, and weight gain throughout adult life: meta-analysis of 41 504 subjects from the Scandinavian HUNT, MDC, and MPP studies. Diabetes 2011; 60: 1637-1644.

Hivert MF, Jablonski KA, Perreault L, Saxena R, McAteer JB, Franks PW, Hamman RF, Kahn SE, Haffner S; DIAGRAM Consortium, Meigs JB, Altshuler D, Knowler WC, Florez JC; Diabetes Prevention Program Research Group. Updated genetic score based on 34 confirmed type 2 diabetes Loci is associated with diabetes incidence and regression to normoglycemia in the diabetes prevention program. Diabetes 2011; 60: 1340-1348.

Ho AJ, Stein JL, Hua X, Lee S, Hibar DP, Leow AD, Dinov ID, Toga AW, Saykin AJ, Shen L, Foroud T, Pankratz N, Huentelman MJ, Craig DW, Gerber JD, Allen AN, Corneveaux JJ, Stephan DA, DeCarli CS, DeChairo BM, Potkin SG, Jack CR, Weiner MW, Raji CA, Lopez OL, Becker JT, Carmichael OT, Thompson PM. A commonly carried allele of the obesity-related FTO gene is associated with reduced brain volume in the healthy elderly. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2010; 107: 8404–8409.

Howard AA, Arnsten JH, Gourevitch MN. Effect of alcohol consumption on 566 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review. Ann Intern Med 2004; 140: 211–219.

# Huang J, Johnson AD, O'Donnell CJ. A method for characterization and evaluation of pleiotropic regions from multiple genome-wide association studies. Bioinformatics 2011; 27: 1201-1206.

Huguenin GVB, Rosa G. The Ala allele in the PPARγ gene is associated with reduced risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus in Caucasians and improved insulin sensitivity in overweight subjects. British Journal of Nutrition 2010; 104: 488-497.

Hui JM, Hodge A, Farrell GC, et al. Beyond insulin resistance in NASH: TNF- or adiponectin? Hepatology 2004; 40:46-54.

Jang Y, Koh SJ, Kim OY, Kim BK, Choi D, Hyun YJ, Kim HJ, Chae JS, Lee JH: Effect of the 252A>G polymorphism of the lymphotoxin- alpha gene on inflammatory markers of response to cigarette smoking in Korean healthy men. Clin Chim Acta 2007; 377: 221-227.

Jeng JE, Tsai JF, Chuang LY, Ho MS, Lin ZY, Hsieh MY, Chen SC, Chuang WL, Wang LY, Yu ML, Dai CY, Chang JG. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha 308.2 polymorphism is associated with advanced hepatic fibrosis and higher risk for hepatocellular carcinoma. Neoplasia. 2007; 9: 987-992.

Jimba S, Nakagami T, Takahashi M. Prevalence of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and its association with impaired glucose metabolism in Japanese adults. Diabet Med 2005; 22: 1141–1150.

Joffe YT, van der Merwe L, Carstens M, Collins M, Jennings C, Levitt NS, Lambert EV, Goedecke JH. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha gene -308 G/A polymorphism modulates the relationship between dietary fat intake, serum lipids, and obesity risk in black South African women. J Nutr 2010; 140: 901-907.

Joffe YT, van der Merwe L, Collins M, Carstens M, Evans J, Lambert EV, Goedecke JH. The -308 G/A polymorphism of the tumour necrosis factor- $\alpha$  gene modifies the association between saturated fat intake and serum total cholesterol levels in white South African women. Genes Nutr 2011; 6: 353-539. Jun DW, Kim HJ, Bae JH, Lee OY. The clinical significance of HbA1c as a predictive factor for abnormal postprandial glucose meatabolism in NAFLD patients with an elevated liver chemistry. Hepatogasteroenterology 2011; 58: 1274-1279.

Kaklamani V, Yi N, Sadim M, Siziopikou K, Zhang K, Xu Y, Tofilan S. The role of the Fatt mass and Obesity associated gene (FTO) in breast cancer risk. BMC Medical Genetics 2011; 12: 52-58.

Kalk WJ, Joffe BI. The metabolic syndrome, insulin resistance and its surrogates in African and white subjects with type 2 diabetes in South Africa. Metabolic syndrome and related disorders 2008; 6: 247-255.

Kallwitz ER, Kumar M, Aggarwal R. Ethnicity and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in an obesity clinic: the impact of triglycerides. Dig Dis Sci 2008; 53: 1358–1363.

Kang ES, Park YS, Kim HJ, Kim CS, Ahn CW, Cha BS. Effects of Pro12Ala polymorphism of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma gene on rosiglitazone response in type 2 diabetes. Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics 2005; 78: 202-208.

Karnikowski M, Co´rdova C, Oliveira RJ, Karnikowski MG, No´brega Ode T. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and metabolic syndrome in Brazilian middle-aged and older adults. Sao Paulo Med J 2007; 125: 333–337.

Keller L, Xu W, Wang HX, Winblad B, Fratiglioni L, Graff C. The obesity related gene, FTO, interacts with APOE, and is associated with Alzheimer's disease risk: a prospective cohort study. J Alzheimers Dis 2011; 23: 461–469.

Kelley DE, McKolanis TM, Hegazi RA, Kuller LH, Kalhan SC. Fatty liver in type 2 diabetes mellitus: relation to regional adiposity, fatty acids, and insulin resistance. Am J Physiol 2003; 285: 906–916.

Kelly KR, Haus JM, Solomon TPJ, Patrick-Melin AJ, Cook M, Rocco M, Barkoukis H, Kirwan JP. A low-Glycemix index diet and exercise intervention reduces TNF-α in isolated mononuclear cells of older obese adults. American Society for Nutrition 2011; 141: 1089-1094.

Kim HJ, Kim HJ, Lee KE, Kim DJ, Kim SK, Ahn CW, Lim SK, Kim KR, Lee HC, Huh KB, Cha BSSO. Metabolic significance of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in non-obese, nondiabetic adults Arch Intern Med 2004; 164: 2169-2178.

Kirkpatrick CL, Marchetti P, Purello F. Type 2 diabetes susceptibility gene expression in normal or diabetic stored human alpha and beta cells: correlations with age or BMI of islets donors. PLoS One 2010; 5: 11053.

Kleiner DE, Conjeevaram HS, Everhart JE, Hoofnagle JH, Zacks S, Afdhal NH, Wahed AS. Race, insulin resistance and hepatic steatosis in chronic hepatitis C. Hepatology 2007; 45: 80-87.

Kotze MJ, de Villiers JNP, Bouwens CSH, Warnich L, Zaahl MG, van der Merwe S, Oberkanins C. Molecular diagnosis of hereditary hemochromatosis: application of a newly developed reverse-hybridization assay in the South African population. Clin Genet 2004; 565: 317-321.

Kotze MJ, Kriegshäuser G, Thiart R, de Villiers JNP, Scholtz CL, Kury F, Moritz A, Oberkanins C. Simultaneous detection of multiple familial hypercholesterolaemia mutations facilitates an improved diagnostic service in South African patients at high risk of cardiovascular disease. Mol Diagn 2003; 7: 169-174.

Kotze MJ, Thiart R. Genetics of dyslipidaemia. CME Journal 2003; 21: 399-402. Available from: <u>http://www.cmej.org.za/index.php/cmej/article/view/1276/1015</u>

Kotze MJ, van Velden DP, van Rensburg SJ, Erasmus R. Pathogenic mechanisms underlying iron deficiency and iron overload: New insights for clinical application. eJIFCC. 2009; 20(2). [online article]:

http://www.ifcc.org/PDF/publications/eJIFCC/vol20/02/eJIFCC-02-01.pdf.

Kotze MJ, van Rensburg SJ. Pathology supported genetic testing and treatment of cardiovascular disease in middle age for prevention of Alzheimer's disease. Metab Brain Dis 2012; 27: 255-266.

Kotze MJ, van Velden DP, van Rensburg SJ, Erasmus R. Pathogenic mechanisms underlying iron deficiency and iron overload: New insights for clinical application. eJIFCC

## 2009; 20(2). Available from:

# http://www.ifcc.org/PDF/publications/eJIFCC/vol20/02/eJIFCC-02-01.pdf

Kowdley KV, Belt P, Wilson LA, Yeh MM, Neuschwander-Tetri BA, Chalasani N, Sanyal AJ, Nelson JE. Serum ferritin is an independent predictor of histologic severity and advanced fibrosis in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. NASH Clinical Research Network Hepatology 2012; 55: 77-83.

Krawczyk M, Mullenbach R, weber SN, Zimmer V, Lammert F. Genome wide association studies and genetic risk assessment of liver diseases. Gastroenterol Hepatol 2010; 7: 669-681.

Krayenbuehl PA, Maly FE, Hersberger M, Wiesli P, Himmelmann A, Eid K, Greminger P, Vetter W, Schulthess G. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha -308G>A allelic variant modulates iron accumulation in patients with hereditary hemochromatosis. Clin Chem 2006; 52: 1552-1558.

Kruger FC. 2008. Analysis of candidate genes implicated in insulin resistance and fatty acid oxidation in South African patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) [Stellenbosch (Western Cape)]: Stellenbosch University.

Kruger FC, Daniels C, Kidd M, Swart G, Brundyn K, van Rensburg C, Kotze MJ. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) in the Western Cape: A descriptive analysis. S Afr Med J 2010; 100: 168-171.

Kruger FC, Daniels CR, Kidd M, Swart G, Brundyn K, van Rensburg C, Kotze M. APRI: a simple bedside marker for advanced fibrosis that can avoid liver biopsy in patients with NAFLD/NASH. S Afr Med J 2011; 10: 477-480.

Kurl S, Laukkanen JA, Niskanen L, Laaksonen D, Sivenius J, Nyyssonen K, Salonen JT. Metabolic syndrome and the risk of stroke in middle-aged men. Stroke 2006; 37: 806– 811.

Kuda O, Jelenik T, Jilkova Z, Flachs P, Rossmeisl M, Hensler M, Kazdova I et al. n-3 fatty acids and rosiglitazone improve insulin sensitivity through additive stimulatory effects on muscle glycogen synthesis in mice fed a high-fat diet. Diabetologia 2009; 52: 1455-1465.

Lakka HM, Lakka T, Rankinen T, Rice T rao DC, Leon AS. The TNFa G-308A polymorphism is associated with C-reactive protein levels: The HERITAGE family study. Vascular Pharmacology 2006; 44: 377-383.

Lavine JE, Schwimmer JB. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in the pediatric population. In Sanyal AJ. Clinical liver disease Philadelphia 2004; 8: 549-558.

Laurie CC, Dohneny KF, Mirel DB, Pugh E, Bierut L, Bhangale T, Boehm F et al. Quality control and quality assurance in genotypic data for genome-wide associations studies. Genetic Epidemiology 2010; 34: 591-602.

Lee JY, Kim KM, Lee SG. Prevalence and risk factors of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in potential living liver donors in Korea: a review of 589 consecutive liver biopsies in a single center. J Hepatol 2007; 47: 239–244.

Leite NC, Salles GF, Araujo AL, Villela- Nogueira CA, Cardoso CR. Prevalence and associated factors of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in patients with type- 2 diabetes mellitus. Liver Int 2009; 29: 113-119.

Lenfant C. Shattuch lecture: clinical research to clinical practice-lost in translation. N Eng J Med 2003; 349: 868-874.

Lewis GF, Carpentier A, Adeli K, Giacca A. Disordered fat storage and mobilization in the pathogenesis of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. Endocr Rev 2002; 23: 201-229.

Lewis SJ, Mudrad A, Chen L, Smith D, Palmer DJ. Association between an obesity related genetic variant (FTO rs9939609) and prostate cancer risk. PLoS One 2010; 5: e13485.

Li C, Wang G, Gao Y, Liu L, Gao T. TNF-α gene promoter -238G>A and -308G>A polymorphisms alter risk of Psoriasis Vulgaris: A meta-analysis. J of Investigative Dermatology 2007; 127: 1886-1892.

Li, H., Groop, L., Nilsson, A., Weng, J., Tuomi, T. A combination of human leukocyte antigen DQB1\*02 and the tumor necrosis factor alpha promoter G308A polymorphism predisposes to an insulin-deficient phenotype in patients with type 2 diabetes. J Clin Endocr Metab 2003; 88: 2767-2774.

Li H, Kilpelainen TO, Liu C, Lui Y, Hu C, Yang Z, Zhang W, Bao W, Cha S, Wu Y. Association of genetic variation in FTO with risk of obesity and type 2 diabetes with data from 96 551 East and South Asians. Diabetologia 2012; 55: 981-995.

Li H, Wang YJ, Tan K. Prevalenceand risk factors of fatty liver disease in Chengdu, Southwest China. Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int 2009; 8: 377–382.

Li N, Zhou Z, Liu X, Liu Y, Zhang J, Du L, Wei M, Chen X. Association of tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF-alpha) polymorphisms with Graves' disease: A metaanalysis. Clin Biochem 2008; 41: 881-886.

Linder K, Wagner R, Hatziagelaki E, Ketterer C, Heni M, Machicao F, Stefan N, Staiger H, Häring HU, Fritsche A. Allele summation of diabetes risk genes predicts impaired glucose tolerance in female and obese individuals. PLoS One 2012; 7: e38224.

Liu L, Zheng T, Wang F, Wang N, Song Y, Li M, Li L, Jiang J, Weijing Z. Pro12Ala polymorphism in the PPARγ gene contributes to the development of diabetic nephropathy in Chinese type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetes Care 2010; 33: 144-149.

Lindi V, Schwab U, Louheranta A, Laakso M, Vessby B, Hermansen K. Impact of the Pro12Ala polymorphism of the PPAR-g2 gene on serum triacylglycerol response to n-3 fatty acid supplementation. Mol Genet Metab 2003; 79: 52–60.

Lee JY, Kim KM, Lee SG. Prevalence and risk factors of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in potential living liver donors in Korea: a review of 589 consecutive liver biopsies in a single center. J Hepatol 2007; 47: 239–244.

Lockman KA, Nyirenda MJ. Interrelationships between hepatic fat and insulin resistance in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease.Curr Diabetes Rev 2010; 6: 341-347.

Lombard Z, Crowther NJ, van der Merwe L, Pitamber P, Norris SA, Ramsay M. Appetite regulation genes are associated with body mass index in black South African adolescents: a genetic association study. BMJ Open 2012; pii: e000873. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2012-000873.

Lomonaco R, Ortiz-Lopez C, Orsak B, et al. Effect of adipose tissue insulin resistance on metabolic parameters and liver histologically in obese patients with NAFLD. Hepatology 2012; 55: 1389-1397.

Lonardo A. Lombardini S, Ricchi M, Scaglioni F. Review article: hepatic steatosis ans insulin reisitance. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2005; 22: 64-70.

Luan J, Browne PO, Harding AH, Halsall DJ, O'Rahilly S, Chatterjee VK, Wareham NJ. Evidence for gene-nutrient interaction at the PPAR gamma locus. Diabetes 2001; 50: 686–689.

Ludovico O, Pellegrini F, Di Paola R. Heterogeneous effect of peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor c2 Ala12 variant on type 2 diabetes risk. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2007; 15: 1076–1081.

Lurie G, Gaudet MM, Spurdle AB, Carney ME, Wilkens LR, Yang HP, Weiss N, Webb PM, Thompson PJ. The obesity-associated polymorphism FTO rs9939609 and MC4R rs17782313 and endometrial cancer risk in non-Hispanic white women. PLoS ONE 2011; 6: e16756.

Majewicz J, Rimbach G, Proteggente A, Lodge J, Kraemer K, Minihane A. Dietary vitamin C down-regulates inflammatory gene expression in ApoE4 smokers. Biochem Biophys 2005; 338: 951-955.

Manco M, Marcellini M, Giannone G, Nobili V. Correlation of serum TNF-α levels and histologic liver injury scores in pediatric nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Am J Clin Pathol 2007; 127: 954–960.

Marchesini G, Brizi M, Morselli-Labate AM, Bianchi G, Bugianesi E, McCullough AJ, Forlani G, Melchionda N. Association of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease with insulin resistance. Am J Med. 1999; 107: 450-460.

Marchesini G, Brizi M, Bianchi G, Tomassetti S, Zoli M, Melchionda NSO. Metformin in non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. Lancet. 2001; 35: 893-900.

Marchesini G, Bugianesi E, Forlani G, Cerrelli F, Lenzi M, Manini R, Natale S, Vanni E, Villanova N, Melchionda N, Rizzetto M. Nonalcoholic fatty liver, steatohepatitis, and the metabolic syndrome. Hepatology 2003; 37: 917-922.

Marcos A, Fisher RA, Ham JM. Selection and outcome of living donors for adult to adult right lobe transplantation. Transplantation 2000; 69: 2410-2415.

Marti A, Moreno-Aliaga MJ, Hebebrand J, Martinez JA: Genes lifestyles and obesity. Int Obes Relat Metab Disord 2004; 28: 29-36.

Maxam AM and Gilbert W. A new method for sequencing DNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1977; 74: 560–564.

McCarthy MI. Genomics, Type 2 Diabetes, and Obesity. N Engl J Med 2010; 363: 2339–2350.

McCarthy MI, Hirschhorn JN. Genome-wide association studies: potential next steps on a genetic journey. Hum Mol Genet 2008; 17: 156–165.

Meigs JB, Shrader P, Sullivan LM, McAteer JB, Fox CS, Dupuis J, Manning AK, Florez JC, Wilson PW, D'Agostino RB Sr, Cupples LA. Genotype score in addition to common risk factors for prediction of type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med 2008; 359: 2208-2219.

Mendler MH, Turlin B, Moirand R, et al. Insulin resistance-associated hepatic iron overload. Gastroenterology 1999; 117: 1155–1163.

Meyre D. Is FTO a type 2 diabetes susceptibility gene? Diabetologia 2012; 55: 873-876.

Mofrad P, Contos MJ, Haque M, Sargeant C, Fisher RA, Luketic VA, Sterling RK, Shiffman ML, Stravitz RT, Sanyal AJ. Clinical and histologic spectrum of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease associated with normal ALT values. Hepatology 2003; 37: 1286-1292.

Monto A, Alonzo J, Watson JJ. Steatosis in chronic hepatitis C: relative contributions of obesity, diabetes mellitus, and alcohol. Hepatology 2002; 36: 729 –736.

Mook-Kanamori DO, Steegers EAP, Uitterlinden AG, Moll HA, van Duijn CM, Hofman A, Jaddoe VWV. Breast-feeding modifies the association of PPARγ polymorphism Pro12Ala with growth in early life. Diabetes 2009; 58: 992-998.

Morán-Salvador M, López-Parra V, García-Alonso E, Martínez-Clemente A, González-Périz C, López-Vicario Y, Barak V, Arroyo J. Role for PPARγ inobesity-induced hepatic steatosis as determined by hepatocyte- and macrophage specific conditional knockouts. FASEB J 2011; 25: 2538–2550.

Moreno JA, Pérez-Jiménez F, Marin C. The effect of dietary fat on LDL size is influenced by apolipoprotein E genotype in healthy subjects. J Nutr 2004; 134: 2517-2522.

### References

Moschen AR, Molnar C, Geiger S. Anti-inflammatory effects of excessive weight loss: potent suppression of adipose interleukin-6 and tumour necrosis factor-a expression. Gut 2010; 59, 1259–1264.

Mulcahy, N. Type 2 diabetes, high ALT levels boost risk of NASH. Internal Medicine 2003; 8: 33-36.

Mulhall BP, Ong JP, Younossi ZM. Non-alcoholoc fatty liver disease; an overview. Gastroenterol Hepatol 2002; 17: 1136-1143.

Musso G, Gambino R, Pacini G, Pagano G, Durazzo M, Cassader M. Transcription factor 7-like 2 polymorphism modulates glucose and lipid homeostasis, adipokine profile and hepatocyte apoptosis in NASH. Hepatology 2009; 49: 426-435.

Mustelin L, Silventoinen K, Pietilainen K, Rissanen A, Kaprio J. Physical activity reduces the influence of genetic effects on BMI and waist circumference: a study in young adult twins. International Journal of Obesity 2009; 33: 29-36.

Nakamura T, Tokunga K, Shimomura I. Contribution of visceral fat accumulation to the development of coronary artery disease in non-obese men. Atherosclerosis 1994; 107: 239-246.

Nakanishi N, Suzuki K, Tatara K. Serum γ-glutamyltransferase and risk of the metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes in middle-aged Japanese men. Diabetes Care 2004; 27: 1427-1432.

Namvaran F, Rahimi-Moghaddam, Azarpira. Genotyping of peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma (PPAR-γ) polymorphisim (Pro12Ala) in Iranian population. J Res Med Sci 2011; 16: 291-296.

Napolioni V, Carpi F, Gianni P, Sacco R, Blasio L, Mignini F. Age and gender specific epistasis between ADA and TNF-α influences human life expectancy. Cytokine 2011; 56: 481-488.

Nelson A, Torres DM, Morgan AE, Fincke C, Harrison SA. A pilot study using simvastatin in the treatment of non-alcoholic steatohepatitis: a randomized placebo controlled trial. J Clin Gastroenterol 2009; 43: 990-994. Neuschwander-Tetri BA, Caldwell SH. Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis: summary of an AASLD Single Topic Conference Hepatology 2003; 37: 1202-1219.

Ntyintyane LM, Panz VR, Raal FJ, Gill GV. Metabolic syndrome undiagnosed diabetes mellitus and insulin resistance are highly prevalent in urbanised South African blacks with coronary artery disease. Cardivasc J S Afric 2006; 17: 50-55.

Oh EY, Min KM, Chung JH, Min Y, Lee M, Kim K, Lee M, Significance of Pro12Ala mutations in peroxisome proliferator activated receptor gamma in Korean diabetic and obsese subjects. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism 2000; 85: 1801-1804.

O'Keefe JH, Bybee KA, Lavie CJ. Alcohol and cardiovascular health: the razor-sharp double-edged sword. J AmColl Cardiol 2007; 50: 1009–1014.

O'Leary VB, Marchetti CM, Krishnan RK, Stetzer BP, Gonzalez F. Exercise indiced reversal of insulin resistance in obese elderly is associated with reduced visceral fat. J Appl Physiol 2006; 100: 1584-1589.

Ong JP, Elariny H, Collantes R, Younoszai A, Chandhoke V, Reines HD, Goodman Z, Younossi ZM. Predictors of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis and advanced fibrosis in morbidly obese patients. Obese Surg 2005; 15: 310-315.

Ordovas JM, Corella D. Genetic Variation and Lipid Metabolism: Modulation by dietary factors. Annu Rev Nutr 2005; 7: 480-486.

Orio F, Matarese S, Di Biase. Exon 6 and 2 peroxisome proliferators-activated receptor γ polymorphisms in polycystic ovary syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2003; 88: 5887–5892.

Pagon RA. Gene Tests: an online genetic information resource for health care providers. J Med Libr Assoc 2006; 94: 343-348.

Papatheodoridis GV, Goulis J, Christodoulou D. High prevalence of elevated liver enzymes in blood donors: associations with male gender and central adiposity. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2007; 19: 281–287.

### References

Paracchini V, Pedotti P, Taioli E. Genetics of leptin and obesity: a HuGE review. Am J Epidemiol. 2005; 162: 101–114.

Park SH, Jeon WK, Kim SH. Prevalence and risk factors of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease among Korean adults. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2006; 21: 138–143.

Paskulin DD, Fallavena PR, Paludo FJ, Borges TJ, Picanco JB, Dias FS, Alho CS. TNF - 308G>A A promoter polymorphism (rs1800629) and outcome for critical illness. Infect Dis 2011; 15: 231-238.

Passaro A, Nora ED. Marchello C, Di-vece F, Morieri ML, Bosi C. PPARγ Pro12Ala and ACE ID polymorphisms are associated with BMI and fat distribution, but not metabolic syndrome. Cardiovascular Diabetology 2011; 10: 112-120.

Pawlik A, Domanski L, Rozanski J, Florczak M, Dabrowska-Zamojcin E, Dutkiewicz G, Gawronska-Szklarz B. IL-2 and TNF-alpha promoter polymorphisms in patients with acute kidney graft rejection. Transplant Proc 2005; 37: 2041-2043.

Peng S, Zhu Y, Xu F, Ren X, Li X, Lai M. FTO gene polymorphisms and obesity risk: a meta-analysis. BMC Medicine 2011; 9: 71-86.

Pennica D, Nedwin GE, Hayflick JS, Seeburg PH, Derynck R, Palladino MA, Kohr WJ, Aggarwal BB, Goeddel DV. Human tumour necrosis factor: precursor structure, expression and homology to lymphotoxin. Nature 1984; 312: 724-729.

Petta S, Muratore C, Craxi A. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease pathogenesis: The present and Future. Digest and liver disease 2009; 41: 615-625.

Peters T, Ausmeier K, Ruther U. Cloning of Fatso (Fto), a novel gene deleted by the Fused toes (Ft) mouse mutation. Mammalian Genome 1999; 10: 983-986.

Petersen KF, Dufour S, Hariri A, Nelson-Williams C, Foo JN, Zhang XM, Dziura J, Lifton RP, Apolipoprotein C3 gene variants in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease Shulman GI. Engl J Med. 2010; 362: 1082-1090.

Pfaffi M. A new mathematical model for relative quantification in real time PCR. Nucleic acid Research 2001; 29: 900-906.

Pighin D, Karabatas L, Rossi A, Chicco A, Basabe JC, Lombardo YB. Fish oil affects pancreatic fat storage, pyruvate dehydrogenase complex activity and insulin secretion in rats fed a sucroserich diet. J Nutr 2003; 133: 4095–4101.

Pinto HC, Baptista A, Camilo ME, Valente A, Saragoça A, de Moura MC. Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Clinicopathological comparison with alcoholic hepatitis in ambulatory and hospitalized patients. Dig Dis Sci 1996; 41: 172-180.

Powell EE, Cooksley WG, Hanson R, Searle J, Halliday JW, Powell LW. The natural history of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: a follow-up study of forty-two patients for up to 21 years. Hepatology 1990; 11: 74-79.

Prakash J, Srivastava N, Awasthi S, Agarwal C, Natu S, Raipal N, Mittal B. Association of PPAR-γ gene polymorphisms with obesity and obesity-associated phenotypes in North Indian population. Am J Hum Biol 2012; 24: 454-459.

Purohit V, Gao B, Song BJ. Molecular mechanisms of alcoholic fatty liver. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2009; 33: 191–205.

Radulian G, Rusu E, Dragomir A, Posea M. Metabolic effects of low glycemic index diets. Nutrition Journal 2009; 8: 5-9.

Ratziu V, Bellentani S, Cortez-Pinto H, Day C, Marchesini G. A position statement on NAFLD/NASH based on the EASL 2009 special conference. J Hepatol 2010; 53: 372-384.

Rayen MW, Harrison SA, Neuschwander-Tetri BA. Serum amyloid A and C-reactive protein diminish after treatment of NASH with rosiglitazone. Gastroenterology 2003; 124A.

Razquin C, Martinez JA, Martinez-Gonzalez MA, Bes-Rastrollo M, Fernandez-Crehuet J, Marti A. A 3-year intervention with a Mediterranean diet modified the association between the rs9939609 gene variant in FTO and body weight changes. International Journal of Obesity 2010; 34: 266-272.

Redlich CA, Cullen MR. Non-alcoholic Steatohepatitis. Annals of Internal Medicine 1997; 127: 410-412.

Robitaille J, Despres JP, Perusse L, Vohl MC. The PPAR-gamma P12A polymorphism modulates the relationship between dietary fat intake and components of the metabolic syndrome: results from the Quebec Family Study. Clin Genet 2003; 63: 109-116.

Roest M, van der Schouw YT, de Valk B, et al. Heterozygosity for a hereditary hemochromatosis gene is associated with cardiovascular death in women. Circulation 1999; 100: 1268-1273.

Ruiz J. Physical activity may cancel out the effects of the obesity gene in adolescents, as it has been shown to do in adults. Arch Pediatr Adolesc 2010; 164: 328-333.

Saiki, R., Scharf, S., Faloona, F., Mullis, K., Horn, G., and Erlich, H. Enzymatic amplification of beta-globin genomic sequences and restriction site analysis for diagnosis of sickle cell anaemia. Science 1985; 230: 1350-54.

Sangher DK, Demirici FY, Been L, Ortega L, Ralhan S, Wander G, Mehra N, Singh J, Aston C. PPARG and ADIPOQ gene polymorphisms increase type 2 diabetes risk in Asian Indian Sikhs: Pro12Ala still remains the strongest predictor. Metabolism 2010; 59: 492-501.

Sanyal AJ, Campbell-Sargent C, Mirshahi F, Rizzo WB, Contos MJ, Sterling RK, Luketic VA, Shiffman ML, Clore JN. Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: association of insulin resistance and mitochondrial abnormalities. Gastroenterology 2001; 120:1183-1185.

Sanyal AJ, Chalasani N, Kowdley KV. Pioglitazone, vitamin E, or placebo for nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. N Engl J Med 2010; 362: 1675–1685.

Santis G, Angell R, Nickless G, Quinn A, Herbert A, Cane P, Spicer J, Breen R, Mclean E. Tobal K. Screening for EGFR and KRAS mutations in endobronchial ultrasound derived trans bronchial needle aspirates in non-small cell lung cancer using COLD-PCR. PLos ONE 2011; 6: e25191.

Sattar N, Gaw A, Scherbakova O, Ford I, O'Reilly DS, Haffner SM, Isles C, Macfarlane PW, Packard CJ, Cobbe SM, Shepherd J. Metabolic syndrome with and without C-reactive protein as a predictor of coronary heart disease and diabetes in the West of Scotland Coronary Prevention Study. Circulation 2003; 108: 414–419.

Sattar N, Scherbakova O, Ford I, O'Reily DS. Stanley A, Forrest E, Macfarlane PW, Packard CJ, Cobbe SM, Sheperd J. Elevated alanine aminotransferases predicts new onset type 2 diabetes independently of classical risk factors, metabolic syndrome, and c-reactive protein in the west of Scotland Coronary Prevention Study. Diabetes 2004; 53: 2855-2860.

Schwimmer JB,David K, Kowdley KV, Unalp A, Kanwal F, Brunt EM. Quality of life in adults with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: baseline data from the nonalcoholic steatohepatitis clinical research network. Hepatology 2009; 49: 1904–1912.

Scott LJ, Mohlke KL, Bonnycastle LL, Willer CJ, Li Y, Duren WL, Erdos MR, Stringham HM, Chines PS, Jackson AU, Prokunina-Olsson L, Ding CJ. A genome-wide association study of type 2 diabetes in Finns detects multiple susceptibility variants. Science 2007; 316: 1341-1345.

Scuteri A, Sanna S, Chen W, Uda M, Albai G, Strait J, Samer N. Genome-Wide association scan shows genetic variants in the FTO gene are associated with obesity related traits. PLoS Genet 2007; 3: e115.

Seppala-Lindroos A, Vehkavaara S, Hakkinen AM, Goto T, Westerbacka J, Sovijarvi A. Fat accumulation in the liver is associated with defects in insulin suppression of glucose production and serum free fatty acids independent of obesity in normal men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2002; 87: 3023–3028.

Serio RN. Infliximab treatment of sarcoidosis. Ann Pharmacother 2003; 37: 577-580.

Shai I, Schwarzfuchs D, Henkin Y, Shahar DR, Witkow S, Greenberg I. Weight loss with a low-carbohydrate, Mediterranean, or low-fat diet. N Engl J Med 2008; 359: 229–241.

Shimaoka I, Kamide K, Ohishi M. Association of gene polymorphism of the fat mass and obesity associated gene with insulin resistance in Japanese. Hypertense Res 2010; 33: 214-218.

Shirai T, Yamaguchi H, Ito H, Todd CW, Wallace RB. Cloning and expression in Escherichia coli of the gene for human tumour necrosis factor. Nature 1985; 313: 803-806.

Shomada M, Kawahara H, Ozaki K, Fukura M, Yano H, Tsuchisima M. Usefulness of a combined evaluation of the serum adiponectin level, HOMA-IR, and serum type IV collagen 7S level to predict the early stage of non-alcoholic steatohepatitits. Am J gastroenterol 2007; 102: 1931-1938.

Singh SP, Nayak S, Swain M. Prevalence of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in coastal eastern India: a preliminary ultrasonographic survey. Trop Gastroenterol 2004; 25: 76–79.

Simopoulos AP. The importance of the ratio of omega-6/omega-3 essential fatty acids. Biomed Pharmacother 2002; 56: 365-379.

Simopoulus AP. The importance of the omega-6/omega-3 fatty acid ratio in cardiovascular disease and other chronic diseases. Experimental Biology and Medicine 2008; 233: 674-688.

Smith BW, Adams LA. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and diabetes mellitus: pathogenesis and treatment. Nat Rev Endocrinol 2011; 7: 456-465.

Sobati RC, Kler R, Sharma YP, Talwar KK, Singh N. Risk of obesity and type 2 diabetes with tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  308G/A gene polymorphism in metabolic syndrome and coronary artery disease subjects. Mol Cell Biochem 2012; 360: 1-7.

Sobczyk-Kopciol A, Broda G, Wojnar M, Kurjata P, Jakubczyk A, Klimkiewicz A, Ploski R. Inverse association of the obesity predisposing FTO rs9939609 genotype with alcohol consumption and risk for alcohol dependence. Addiction 2010; 106: 739-748.

Sofer E, Boaz M, Matas Z, Mashivi M, Shargorodsky M. Treatment with insulin sensitizer metformin improves arterial properties, metabolic parameters, and liver function in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: a randomized placebo controlled trial. Metabolism 2011; 60: 1278-1284.

Sookoian SC, Gonzalez C, Pirola CJ. Meta-analysis on the G-308A tumor necrosis factor alpha gene variant and phenotypes associated with the metabolic syndrome. Obese Res 2005; 13: 2122–2131.

Sookoian S, Rosselli MS, Gemma C, Burgueño AL, Fernández Gianotti T, Castaño GO, Pirola CJ. Epigenetic regulation of insulin resistance in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease:

#### References

impact of liver methylation of the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptorγcoactivator 1αpromoter. Hepatology 2010; 52: 1992-1998.

Sorrentino P, Terracciano L, Salvatore AD, Ferbo U, Bracigliano A, Vecchione RA. Predicting fibrosis worsening in obese patients with NASH through parenchymal fibronectin, HOMA-IR and hypertension. Am J Gastroenterol 2010; 105: 336-344.

Sorrentino P, Tarantino G, Conca P. Silent non-alcoholic fatty liver disease- a clinicalhistological study. J Hepatol 2004; 41: 751–757.

Speakman JR, Rance KA, Johnstone AM. Polymorphisms of the FTO gene are associated with variation in energy intake, but not energy expenditure. Obesity Silver Spring 2008; 16: 1961–1965.

Speliotes EK, Willer CJ, Berndt SI. Association analyses of 249 796 individuals reveal 18 new loci associated with body mass index. Nat Genet 2010; 42: 937-948.

Speliotes EK, Yerges-Armstrong LM, Wu J. Genome-wide association analysis identifies variants associated with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease that have distinct effects on metabolic traits. PLoS Genet 2011; 7: e1001324.

Stanczuk GA, Sibanda EN, Tswana SA, Bergstrom S: Polymorphism at the -308promoter position of the tumor necrosis factoralpha (TNF-alpha) gene and cervical cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2003; 13: 148-53.

Stechova K, Halbhuber Z, Hubackova M, Kayserova J, Petruzelkova L, Vcelakova J, Kolouskova S, Ulmannova T, Faresjo M, Neuwirth A, Spisek R, Sediva A, Filipp D, Sumnik Z Case report: type 1 diabetes in monozygotic quadruplets. Europ J Hum Genet 2012; 20: 457-462.

Stommel M, Schoenborn C. Variations in BMI and prevalence of health risks in diverse racial and ethnic populations. Obesity 2010; 18: 1821–1826.

Stopponi S, Somaini L, Cippitelli A, Canella Z, Braconi S, Kalulupi M, Ruggeri B, Heilig M. Activation of nuclear receptor PPAR<sub>γ</sub> by the anti-diabetic agent pioglitazone suppresses alcohol drinking and relapse to alcohol seeking. Biol Psyciatry 2011; 69: 642-649.
Struben VM, Hespenheide EE, Caldwell SH. Nonalcoholic steatohepatits and cryptogenic cirrhosis within kindreds. Am J Med 2000; 108: 9-13

Sullivan JL. Heterozygous haemochromatosis as a risk factor for premature myocardial infarction. Medical Hypotheses 1990; 31: 1-5.

Sumida Y, Yoshikawa T, Okanoue T. Role of hepatic iron in non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. Hepatology Research 2009; 39: 213-222.

Surender AK, McFarlane IS. The case for low carbohydrate diets in diabetes management. Nutrition and Metabolism 2005; 2: 1-9.

Suzuki A, Angulo P, Lymp J. Chronological development of elevated aminotransferases in a nonalcoholic population. Hepatology 2005; 41: 64–71.

Tailleux A, Wouters K, Staels B. Roles of PPARs in NAFLD: Potential therapeutic targets. Biochimica Biophysica Acta 2012; 1821: 809-818.

Takenaka H, Shimizu I, Huang H, et al. Impact of estradiol on the sex-associated difference of fatty liver. Gastroenterology 2007; 132: A-819.

Tang P, Hung M-C, Klostergaard J .Human pro-tumor necrosis factor is a homotrimer. Biochemistry 1996; 35: 8216–8225.

Tappia PS, Troughton KL, Langley-Evans SC, Grimble RF: Cigarette smoking influences cytokine production and antioxidant defences. Clin Sci (Lond) 1995; 88: 485-489.

Targher G, Bertolini L, Padovani R, Rodella S, Tessari R, Zenari L, Day C, Arcaro G. Prevalence of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and its association with cardiovascular disease among type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetes Care 2007; 30: 1212-1218.

Thomas ED, Elliott EJ. The use of low-glycaemic index diets in diabetes control. Br J Nutr 2010; 104: 798-802.

Tilg H, Moschen AR. Evolution of inflammation in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: the multiple parallel hits hypothesis. Hepatology 2010; 52: 1836–1846.

Tilg H, Moschen AR. Relevance of TNF- $\alpha$  gene polymorphisms in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Gastroenterol Hepatol 2011; 5: 155-158.

Timpson NJ, Nordestgaard, Harbord RM, Zacho J, Frayling TM, Tybjaerg-Hansen A, Smith GD. C-Reactice protein levels and body mass index: elucidating direction of causation through reciprocal Mendelian randomization. International Journal of Obesity 2011; 35: 300-308.

Tominaga K, Kurata JH, Chen YK, et al. Prevelance of fatty liver in Japanese children and relationship to obesity. An epidemiological ultrasonograpgich survey. Dig Dis Sci 1995; 40: 2002-2009.

Tschritter O, Preissl H, Yokoyama Y, Machicao F, Haring Hu, Fritsche A. Variation in the FTO gene locus is associated with cerebrocortical insulin resistance in humans. Diabetologia 2007; 50: 2602-2603.

Tsuchiya H, Akechi Y, Ikeda R, Nishio R, Sakabe T, Terabayashi K. Suppressive Effects of Retinoids on Iron-Induced Oxidative Stress in the Liver. Gastroenterology 2009; 136: 341–350.

Tsukui S, Kanda T, Nara M, Nishino M, Kondo T, Kobayashi I. Moderate intensity exercise decreases serum tumor necrosis factor alpha and HbA1c levels in healthy women. International Journal of Obesity 2000; 24: 1207-1211.

Utz JP, Limper AH, Kalra S, Specks U, Scott JP, Vuk-Pavlovic Z, Schroeder DR. Etanercept for the treatment of stage II and III progressive pulmonary sarcoidosis. Chest 2003; 124: 177-182.

Vardarli I. Is the Pro12Ala polymorphism of the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma gene associated with type 2 diabetes? A meta-analysis [abstract]. Diabetologia 2007; 50: S538.

Valmadrid CT, Klein R, Moss SE, Klein BE, Cruickshanks KJ. Alcohol intake 624 and the risk of coronary heart disease mortality in persons with older-onset 625 diabetes mellitus. JAMA 1999; 282: 239–246.

Varghese V, Wang E, Babrzadeh F, Bachmann MH, Shabriar R, Liu T, Mappala SJM, Gharizadeh B, Fessel WJ, Katzenstein D, Kassaye S, Shafer RW. Nucleic acid template and the risk of a PCR-induced HIV-1 drug resistance mutation. PLos ONE 2010; 5: e10992.

Vejbaesya S, Mahaisavariya P, Luangtrakool P, Sermduangprateep C. TNF alpha and NRAMP1 polymorphisms in leprosy. J Med Assoc Thai 2007; 90: 1188-1192.

Vernon G, Baranova A, Younossi MZ. Systematic review: the epidemiology and natural history of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and non-alcoholic steatohepatitis in adults. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2011; 34: 274–285.

Wakabayashi I. Influence of age and gender on triglycerides-to-HDL-cholesterol ratio (TG/HDL ratio) and its association with adiposity index. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 2012; 55: 729-734.

Wagenknecht LE, Scherzinger AL, Stamm ER. Correlates and heritability of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in a minority cohort. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2009; 17: 1240–1246.

Wannamethee SG, Lowe CDO, Sharper AG, Rumley A, Lennon L. Insulin resistance, haemostatic and inflammatory markers and coronary heart disease risk factors in type 2 diabetic men with and without coronary artery disease. Diabetologia 2004; 47: 1557-1565.

Wang J, Feng Z, chun L, Li Q, Tao X. Association of tumor necrosis factor-a gene promoter polymorphism at sites -308 and -238 with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: A meta-analysis. Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology 2012; 27: 670–676.

Wanless IR, Lentz JS. Fatty liver hepatitis (steatohepatitis) and obesity: an autopsy study with analysis of risk factors. Hepatology 1990; 12: 1106–1110.

Wild S, Roglic G, Green A. Global prevalence of diabetes. Estimates for the year 2000 and projections for 2030. Diabetes Care 2004; 27: 1047-1053.

Willet W, Manson J, Liu S. Glycemic index, glycemic load, and risk of type 2 diabetes. Am J Clin Nutr 2002; 76: 2745-2805.

Williams CD, Stengel J, Asike MI. Prevalence of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and nonalcoholic steatohepatitis among a largely middle-aged population utilizing ultrasound and liver biopsy: a prospective study. Gastroenterology 2011; 140: 124–131.

Williamson RM, Price JF, Glancy S, Perry E, Nee LD, Hayes PC, Frier BM, Van Look LAF, Johnston GI, Reynolds RM, Strachan MJ. Prevalence of and risk factors for

Hepatic Steatosis and Non-alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease in people with type 2 diabetes: the Edinburgh Type 2 diabetes study. Diabetes Care 2011; 34: 1139-1144.

Willner IR, Waters B, Patil RS, Reuben A, Morelli J, Riely C. Ninety Patients with Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis: Insulin Resistance, Familial Tendency, and Severity of Disease. American Journal of Gastroentrerology 2001; 96: 2958-2961.

Wilson K and Walker J. 2005. Principles and techniques of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Wong VW, Hui AY, Tsang S. Metabolic and adipokine profile of Chinese patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2006; 4: 1154–1161.

Wood PA. Genetically modified mouse models for disorders of fatty acid metabolism: pursuing the nutrigenomics of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. Nutrition 2004; 20: 121-126.

Wood MJ, Powell LW, Dixon JL, Ramm GA. Clinical cofactors and hepatic fibrosis in hereditary hemochromatosis: The role of diabetes mellitus. Hepatology 2012; Mar 15. doi: 10.1002/hep.25720. [Epub ahead of print].

Wrede CE, Buettner R, Bollheimer LC. Association between serum ferritin and the insulin resistance syndrome in a representative population. Eur J Endocrinol 2006; 154: 333–340.

Wu CW, Chu ES, Lam CN, Cheng AS, Lee CW, Wong VW, Sung JJ. PPARgamma is essential for protection against nonalcoholic steatohepatitis, Gene Ther 2010; 17: 790–798.

Wu Q, Saunders RA, Szkudlarek-mikho M, Serna-Ide L, Chin KV. The obesity associated FTO gene is a transcriptional co-activator. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2010; 401: 390-395.

Yang Z, Wen J, Li Q, Tao X, Ye Z, He M, Zhang W, Huang Y, Chen L, Ling C, Qu S, Hu R. PPARγ gene Pro12Ala variant contributes to the development of non-alcoholic fatty liver in middle-aged and older Chinese population. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology 2012; 348: 255-259.

Yionen SK, Salminen I, Lyssenko V, Virtanen SM, Groop L, Aro A, Saloranta C. The Pro12Ala polymorphism of the PPARγ-2 gene affects associations of fish intake and marine n-3 fatty acids with glucose metabolism. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition 2008; 62: 1432-1439.

Yen C J, Beamer BA, Negri C, Silver K, Brown KA, Yarnall DP, Burns DK, Roth J. Molecular scanning of the human peroxisome proliferator activated receptor gamma (hPPAR gamma) gene in diabetic Caucasians: identification of a Pro12Ala PPAR gamma 2 missense mutation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1997; 241: 270-274.

Zeggini E, Weedon MN, Lindgren CM, Frayling TM, Elliott KS, Lango H, Timpson NJ, Perry JRB, Rayner NW, Freathy RM, Barrett JC, Shields B.Replication of genome-wide association signals in UK samples reveals risk loci for type 2 diabetes. Science 2007; 316: 1336-1341.

Zelber-Sagi S, Nitzan-Kaluski D, Halpern Z, Oren R. Prevalence of primary non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in a population-based study and its association with biochemical and anthropometric measures. Liver Int 2006; 26: 856–863.

Zelber-Sagi S, Nitzan-Kaluski D, Halpern Z. NAFLD and hyperinsulinemia are major determinants of serum ferritin levels. J Hepatol 2007; 46: 700 –707.

Zhang G. Tumor necrosis factor family ligand-receptor binding. Curr Opin Struct Biol 2004; 14: 154-157.

Zhang S, Wang C, Xi B, Li X. Association between the tumour necrosis factor-α-308G/A polymorphism and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: an update. Respirology 2011; 16: 107-115.

Zhang Wei, Kudo H, Kawai K, Fujisaka S, Usui I, Sugiyama T, Tsukada K, Chen N, Takahara T. Tumor necrosis factor-α accelerates apoptosis of steatotic hepatocytes from a murine model of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 2010; 391: 1731-1736.

Zhang X, Qi Q, Zhang C, Hu FB, Sacks FM, Qi L. FTO Genotype and 2-Year Change in Body Composition and Fat Distribution in Response to Weight-Loss Diets: The POUNDS LOST Trial. Diabetes 2012 Aug 13. [Epub ahead of print].

## References

Zhang Z, Yang N, Zhao G, Zhu L, Wang L. Association between the Pro12Ala polymorphism of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma 2 and inflammatory bowel disease: A meta-analysis. PLoS ONE 2012; 7: 30551.

Zhou D, Liu H, Zhou M, Wang S, Zhang J, Liao L, he F. Common variant (rs9939609) in the FTO gene is associated with metabolic syndrome. Mol Biol Rep 2012a; 36: 6555-6561.

Zhou Y, Zhang E. Berggreen C. Survival of pancreatic beta cells is partially controlled by a TCF7L2-p53 dependent pathway. Hum Mol Genet 2012b; 21: 196-207.

Zhu X, Yang Z. TNF(alpha) gene variant and Ankylosing Spondylitis. Annals of the rheumatic disease 2008; 67: 434-437.

Zimmermann E, Skogstrand K, Hougaard DM, Astrup A, Hansen T, Pedersen O, Sorensen TI, Jess T. Influences of the common FTO rs9939609 variant on inflammatory markers throughout a broad range of body mass index. PLoS One 2011;6:e15958.

Zinman B, Hanley AJG, Harris SB, Kwan J, Fantus IG. Circulating tumor necrosis factoralpha concentrations in a Native Canadian population with high rates of type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Clin Endocr Metab 1999; 84: 272-278.

Zois CD, Baltayiannis GH, Bekiari A. Steatosis and steatohepatitis in post-mortem material from North-western Greece. World J Gastroenterol 2010; 16: 3944–3949.

Zubakov D, Boersma AWM, Choi Y, van Kuijk PF, Wiemer EAC, Kayser M. MicroRNA markers for forensic body fluid indetification obtained from microarray screening and quantitative RT-PCR conformation. Int J Legal med 2010; 124: 217-226.